

Title	Redox biology in retinal degeneration
Authors	Ruiz López, Ana M.
Publication date	2019
Original Citation	Ruiz López, A. M. 2019. Redox biology in retinal degeneration. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2019, Ana M. Ruiz López http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
Download date	2025-06-07 06:09:46
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/7774



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh

Redox biology in retinal degeneration



A thesis submitted to the National University of Ireland, Cork, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Ana M. Ruiz López, BSc.

School of Biochemistry and Cell Biology

University College Cork, Ireland

March, 2019

Supervisor: Professor Thomas G. Cotter

Head of Department: Professor Rosemary O'Connor

Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
Declaration	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
List of figures	ix
List of tables	Х
Abbreviations	xi
Publications and presentations	XV
Publications	XV
Presentations	xvi

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. The retina in health and disease	
1.1.1. Visual processing	2
1.1.2. Retinitis pigmentosa	6
1.1.3. Genetic mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa	9
1.2. Progesterone-induced neuroprotection	11
1.2.1. Norgestrel	13
1.2.2. Progesterone and Norgestrel: mechanism of action	15
1.3. Reactive oxygen species	
1.3.1. Intracellular sources of ROS: NOX proteins	20
1.3.2. Intracellular sources of ROS: Mitochondria	25
1.3.3. Regulation of ROS: antioxidants	28
1.3.4. Antioxidants as therapeutic molecules	31
1.4. Objectives	33

Chapter 2: Material and Methods

2.1. Cell culture and treatments	36
2.2. Reagents, inhibitors and chemicals	37
2.3. Primers	37
2.4. Antibodies	38
2.5. Flow cytometry	39

2.6. MTS assay for cell viability	39
2.7. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) silencing	
2.8. Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR- associated proteins (Cas) system	41
2.9. Mice	42
2.9.1. Retinal explant culture	42
2.9.2. Norgestrel-supplemented diet	44
2.9.3. FACS analysis in retinal explants	45
2.9.4. Terminal dUTP nick-end Labelling (TUNEL) of fragmented DNA	45
2.9.5. Quantification from immunohistochemical sections	46
2.10. RNA isolation, cDNA synthesis and quantitative real time PCR (RT-qPCR)	47
2.11. Western blot analysis	47
2.12. Immunofluorescence	48
2.13. Statistical analysis	49

Chapter 3: Pro-survival redox signalling in progesterone-mediated retinal neuroprotection

3.1. Abstract	51
3.2. Introduction	52
3.3. Results	54
3.3.1. Serum deprivation induces a pro-survival production of ROS in 661W cells	54
3.3.2. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in serum-deprived 661W cells	58
3.3.3. Norgestrel accelerates the early survival response in stressed 661W cells	60
3.3.4. Norgestrel signals through PGRMC1 to mediate redox signalling	62
3.3.5. Inhibition of bFGF abrogates the Norgestrel-induced increase in ROS in serum- starved 661W cells	- 63
3.3.6. Norgestrel induces an increase in ROS production in photoreceptors ex vivo	65
3.4. Discussion	69

Chapter 4: Progesterone analogue 'Norgestrel' stimulates NOX4 to induce ROSmediated protection in stressed photoreceptor cells

4.1. Abstract	76
4.2. Introduction	77
4.3. Results	79

4.3.1. Inhibition of NOX abrogates the Norgestrel-induced increase in ROS in st 661W cells	ressed 79
4.3.2. NOX4 is up-regulated by Norgestrel in serum-deprived 661W cells	82
4.3.3. Mitochondrial ROS production is induced by the mitochondrial inhibitor Rotenone in 661W cells	89
4.3.4. Mitochondria do not participate in the pro-survival production of ROS in cells	661W 91
4.3.5. COX proteins are not involved in the response induced by Norgestrel in st 661W cells	ressed 94
4.4. Discussion	96

Chapter 5: The synthetic progesterone 'Norgestrel' mediates an antioxidant response to long term stress in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa

	5.1. Abstract	102
	5.2. Introduction	103
	5.3. Results	105
	5.3.1. Exogenous H_2O_2 addition does not affect serum-starved 661W cells	105
	5.3.2. Norgestrel decreases ROS in order to enhance cell survival in long term str 661W cells	essed 109
	5.3.3. Norgestrel does not modulate NOX-mediated ROS production in long term stressed 661W cells	، 112
	5.3.4. Norgestrel increases the expression of pNrf2 and SOD2, but not SOD1, in term serum-starved 661W cells	long 113
	5.3.5. Norgestrel decreases ROS in order to enhance cell survival in long term str photoreceptors <i>ex vivo</i>	essed 115
	5.3.6. Norgestrel decreases ROS levels by increasing the antioxidants SOD2 and <i>ex vivo</i>	pNrf2 116
	5.3.7. Norgestrel decreases ROS levels by increasing the antioxidants SOD2 and <i>in vivo</i>	pNrf2 118
	5.4. Discussion	121
C	Chapter 6: General Discussion	126

Chapter 7: Bibliography

135

Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) involves a group of hereditary diseases that cause progressive and severe visual impairment, with a prevalence of about 1 in 4,000 individuals worldwide. Unfortunately, there is currently no cure for RP and most patients become legally blind by age 40 due to the loss of retinal photoreceptors. The difficulty in finding a treatment relies on the complexity of its genetics. Although more than 3,000 mutations have been described to cause it, about 40-50% of RP cases still correspond to unknown patterns. In most cases, mutations affecting rods, which degenerate first, subsequently produce the death of the remaining photoreceptor cells, the cones.

Several therapeutic approaches have been studied during the last decades. In 2011, our group discovered the neuroprotective properties of 'Norgestrel', a synthetic progestin used in the female oral contraceptive pill, in the retina. Norgestrel was shown to protect against retinal cell death in three different models: *in vitro*, *in vivo* and *ex vivo*, using retinal explants. In fact, two mouse models were used in order to demonstrate such protection, the balb/c induced light damage model and the genetic rd10 (*Pde6b rd10⁻/rd10⁻*) model of RP. Since then, some components of its mechanism of action have been elucidated, as is the case of the receptor through which it works, the progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (PGRMC1); the neurotrophic factor basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and its ability to reduce inflammation and gliosis in the diseased retina.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS), have been traditionally associated with cellular damage, and have been discovered to participate in signalling responses, including cellular responses that are protetective. The number of studies about their protective properties of ROS have increased in the last decades. Nevertheless, the accumulation of ROS and/or their persistance

during time within cells have detrimental consequences. Antioxidant machinery is the defense mechanism that cells possess against harmful ROS. However, this system is not infallible. Worsening of several diseases including RP is known to be produced by the disregulation of intracellular ROS levels, which is known as 'oxidative stress'. In 2016, we demonstrated that Norgestrel effectively reduces the damaging ROS levels in the balb/c light damage mouse model.

In the current study, using the 661W cone photoreceptor-like cell line and retinal explants from rd10 mice, we demonstrated that ROS are used by Norgestrel to enhance cell survival. We found that such stimulation of pro-survival ROS levels occurs very rapidly, and is both PGRMC1 and bFGF-dependent (Chapter 3). Interestingly, we demonstrated that treatment with some antioxidants that prevent the up-regulation of ROS molecules, abrogates the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection and therefore, indicates that ROS are a crucial part of this survival response. However, little was known about the subsequent downstream mechanism in the Norgestrel-mediated signalling response that prevents cell death and thus, this study aimed to elucidate other processes that could be implicated in such a response (Chapter 4). Using the genetic rd10 mouse model of RP we additionally demonstrated that Norgestrel was able to reduce the levels of damaging ROS due to its antioxidant properties *via* stimulating the transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor-2 (Nrf2) and its effector protein, superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) (Chapter 5).

Taken together, this study highlights a dual nature of reactive oxygen species and we have demonstrated for the first time the implication of redox biology in the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection against retinal degeneration.

Declaration

This thesis has not been submitted in whole or in part to this or any other university for any degree and is, unless otherwise stated, the original work of the author.

Signed: ____

Ana M. Ruiz López

I have to confess that this has been the most challenging and difficult period of my life so far. Nevertheless, it has been great to put everything together and prove myself that I have been able to write a book in a language different to mine after all. However, without all the people I have had on my side during these four years, I wouldn't have got it. So thank you all.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Tom Cotter for having given me such a great opportunity that I didn't have in my country, for the support and guidance over the past four years. I have been so lucky to have been part of your team.

I would like to thank all members of my lab, past and present: Kate, Will, Joanna, Eileen, Alice, Ash, Jenny and Sarah. Thank you so much for your help since the beginning when I wasn't even able to understand you (thanks for being so patient with me!). I would especially like to thank Alice, Sarah and Jenny for the best nights out in Cork that I actually can't remember! Alice: I wish I had your passion in science. Thank you for encouraging me during my second year to continue your nice story with your 'baby', bFGF. You saved my thesis! Sarah: the most amazing scientist I have ever met. I definitely owe you my PhD! I am sure I couldn't have done it without you helping me with good advice, very professional revisions and great explants! I have no doubt you will become a great supervisor in no time. And Jenny: thank you for being a friend. I am so grateful to you for these years of smiles, presents, tears, drinks, FACS, PCR, western blotting troubleshotting, adventures around the world and good chats about either work or life in general (gracias, amiga).

I am so thankful to all the good friends I have met in Cork, especially Yara and Bea (you will be doing this soon! Mucha suerte, querida amiga). Your friendship is undoubtedly one of the best things Ireland has given to me.

I also want to thank the dear friends who have come along to visit me, for their motivating support during this adventure (Laura, Esther, Pili, Nerea and Raquel). To Yolanda, what a great coincidence being in Cork together many years later! I cannot forget to thank Laura Frago and Eva Baquedano for teaching me everything I knew about a laboratory before starting this, because I would not have been able to come here without both of you.

A mi hermano, Jose, que sabe muy bien lo difícil que puede llegar a ser vivir en otro país; a mis queridas abuelas, Consuelo y Cristina; y a mis padres, Rosi y Virgilio. Especialmente a mi madre, por haberme enseñado a mirar siempre hacia delante y a no tener miedo para conseguir todo lo que me proponga, sea donde sea. Esta tesis la dedico especialmente a la memoria de mi abuelo Benito. Ojalá hubieras sido capaz de ver lo que he conseguido durante estos 10 años.

Last but not least, I have to thank Alfonso for the great and needed support during these four years, for appearing in the least opportune moment of my life! Thanks for making me believe that I could do a PhD, cope with this 'wonderful' Irish weather (please note the irony), maintain a distance relationship and learn valencià, all together, and not dying trying! Gràcies de veritat, perquè sense tu i el teu somriure en els pitjors moments no ho hauria aconseguit.

List of figures

Figure 1.1.1. Schematic representation of the mouse retina	2
Figure 1.1.2. Nuclear layers within a wild-type C57 mouse retina	3
Figure 1.1.3. Representation of the phototransduction cascade	5
Figure 1.1.4. Progression of visual field loss in retinitis pigmentosa	7
Figure 1.1.5. Genes and their relative contribution to retinitis pigmentosa	8
Figure 1.2.1. Chemical structures of progesterone and Norgestrel	14
Figure 1.3.1. Schematic representation of reduction-oxidation (redox) reactions	17
Figure 1.3.2. Dual effect produced by ROS in cells	19
Figure 1.3.3. Intracellular sources of ROS	21
Figure 1.3.4. ROS production by NOX isoforms	22
Figure 1.3.5. Mitochondrial ROS production	26
Figure 1.3.6. Schematic representation of redox homeostasis within cells	29
Figure 2.1.1. Validation of 661W cells as a cone photoreceptor-like cell line	36
Figure 2.7.1. bFGF expression was not affected by transfection process itself	40
Figure 2.8.1. Double Nickase Plasmid from Santa Cruz	41
Figure 2.9.1. Schematic representation of retinal explant culture	44
Figure 3.3.1. DCFDA was used to detect intracellular ROS levels	54
Figure 3.3.2. Untreated 661W cells (UT) were used to gate the population analysed in all	
subsequent experiments	55
Figure 3.3.3. Serum starvation increases ROS levels in 661W cells	55
Figure 3.3.4. Tiron and NAC decrease ROS formation in 661W cells	56
Figure 3.3.5. Serum deprivation induces a pro-survival production of ROS in 661W cells	57
Figure 3.3.6. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in serum-deprived 661W	
cells	59
Figure 3.3.7. Norgestrel accelerates the early survival response in stressed 661W cells	61
Figure 3.3.8. Norgestrel signals through progesterone receptor membrane component 1	
(PGRMC1) to mediate redox signalling	62
Figure 3.3.9. Norgestrel up-regulates bFGF expression in serum-starved 661W cells	63
Figure 3.3.10. Successful siRNA knock down of bFGF	64
Figure 3.3.11. Inhibition of bFGF abrogates Norgestrel-induced increases in ROS in serum-	
starved 661W cells	64
Figure 3.3.12. Gated population used in the experiments performed by FACS	65
Figure 3.3.13. Norgestrel increases ROS production in photoreceptors <i>ex vivo</i>	66
Figure 3.3.14. Norgestrel reduces photoreceptor cell death in retinal explants	67
Figure 3.3.15. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in photoreceptors <i>ex viva</i>).68 7.4
Figure 3.4.1. Schematic representation of Norgestrel-mediated pro-survival redox signalling.	74
Figure 4.3.1. NOX inhibition produced by DPI and VAS2870 in 661W cells	80
Figure 4.3.2. Pro-survival ROS-induced increase in stressed 661W cells by Norgestrel is	0.1
NOX-dependent $11 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1$	81
Figure 4.5.5. DPI and VAS28/U decrease cell viability after 24 h treatment in 661W cells	82
Figure 4.5.4. INOrgestrel increases NOA2 and NOA4 expression in stressed bol W cells	83
Figure 4.3.3. INOrgestrel increases NOA2 and NOA4 protein levels in stressed 661W cells	83
Figure 4.5.0. Inorgentier increases inOA4 and $p22^{rmm}$ subunit levels in 001 w cells following 30 min serum starvation	Q1
Figure 4.3.7 CRISPR/Cas0-mediated game additing technologies	04 Q1
i igure 7.3.7. CINDI IV Casz-inculateu gene culting technologies	04

Figure 4.3.8. NOX4 is essential for cellular survival and proliferation in 661W cells	85
Figure 4.3.9. NOX4 KO produces cell death in 661W cells	86
Figure 4.3.10. Puromycin treatment optimisation in 661W cells	86
Figure 4.3.11. NOX4 KO colonies analysis after puromycin treatment in 661W cells	87
Figure 4.3.12. Rotenone treatment only decreases intracellular ROS levels at 20 µM	88
Figure 4.3.13. MitoSOX was used to detect mitochondrial superoxide levels	90
Figure 4.3.14. Mitochondrial inhibition by Rotenone increases the production of	
mitochondrial ROS in 661W cells	89
Figure 4.3.15. MitoTEMPO reduces ROS levels in 661W cells	92
Figure 4.3.16. Mitochondria are not involved in the Norgestrel-mediated production of ROS	
in serum-starved 661W cells	92
Figure 4.3.17. Mitochondrial superoxide levels are not affected by Norgestrel in stressed	
661W cells	92
Figure 4.3.18. COX inhibition produced by Diclofenac in 661W cells	95
Figure 4.3.19. Norgestrel-mediated response is not COX-dependent in stressed 661W cells	95
Figure 4.4.1. Proposed pathway of Norgestrel-mediated response	99
Figure 5.3.1. Norgestrel enhances cell survival at a sublethal dose of H ₂ O ₂ in serum-starved	
661W cells	.106
Figure 5.3.2. H ₂ O ₂ addition has the same effect on cell viability than SS in 661W cells	.107
Figure 5.3.3. SS and H ₂ O ₂ present similar effects in Norgestrel-mediated protection on 661W	V
cells	.107
Figure 5.3.4. SS and H ₂ O ₂ present similar effects on 661W cells morphology	.108
Figure 5.3.5. Norgestrel decreases damaging ROS levels in stressed 661W cells	.110
Figure 5.3.6. Norgestrel cannot longer protect 661W cells following 48 h following SS	.111
Figure 5.3.7. Norgestrel does not decrease ROS production at 24 h in serum-starved 661W	
cells	.113
Figure 5.3.8. Norgestrel utilizes antioxidants to reduce ROS levels in stressed 661W cells	.114
Figure 5.3.9. Norgestrel decreases damaging ROS levels in diseased photoreceptors ex vivo.	.116
Figure 5.3.10. Norgestrel does not decrease ROS production at 24 h in rd10 retinal explants	.117
Figure 5.3.11. Norgestrel reduces damaging ROS by increasing antioxidants in rd10 retinal	
explants	.118
Figure 5.3.12. Norgestrel increases antioxidants SOD2 in the diseased retina in vivo	.118
Figure 5.3.13. Norgestrel increases antioxidants SOD2 in the diseased retina in vivo	.119
Figure 5.3.14. Norgestrel delays photoreceptor degeneration in rd10 mice	.119
Figure 5.4.1. Proposed pathway of Norgestrel-mediated response in diseased photoreceptors	125

List of tables

Table 2.2.1. List of inhibitors and modulators used throughout the course of this thesis	37
Table 2.3.1. List of primers used throughout the course of this thesis	37
Table 2.4.1. List of antibodies used throughout the course of this thesis.	38
Table 2.9.1. Supplements for R16 medium.	43
Table 2.9.2. Composition of R16 dry powder medium (basal)	43

Abbreviations

661W:	Cone photoreceptor-like cell line
adRP:	Autosomal-dominant retinitis pigmentosa
AG-205:	Ethanone, 2-((1-(4-chlorophenyl)-1H-tetrazol-5-yl)thio)-1-(1,2,3,4,4a,9b-hexahydro-2,8-dimethyl-5H-pyrido(4,3-b)indol-5-yl)
Akt:	Protein kinase B
AMD:	Age-related macular degeneration
ANOVA:	Analysis of variance
arRP:	Autosomal-recessive retinitis pigmentosa
ATP:	Adenosine triphosphate
BDNF:	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
bFGF:	Basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2)
BSU:	Biological services unit
C57:	C57BL/6 Mice
Cas9:	CRISPR-associated protein 9
Ca ²⁺ :	Calcium
cGMP:	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CNS:	Central nervous system
CNTF:	Ciliary neurotrophic factor
CoQ/Q:	Coenzime Q
COX:	Cyclooxygenase
CRISPR:	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
Cu ²⁺ :	Cooper
DCFDA:	2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate
DHE:	Dihydroethidium
DMEM:	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPI:	Diphenyleneiodonium
DUOX:	Dual oxidase
EDTA:	Ethylene diaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA:	Ethylene glycoltetraacetic acid
ER:	Endoplasmic reticulum
ETC:	Electron transport chain
FACS:	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FBS:	Foetal bovine serum

FDA:	Food and Drug Administration (Federal Agency)
FGF2:	Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)
GAPDH:	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GC:	Guanylyl cyclase
GCL:	Ganglion cell layer
GDP:	Guanosine diphosphate
GFP:	Green fluorescent protein
GFP+:	Green fluorescent protein positive
gp91 ^{phox} :	Glycoprotein 91 phagocyte oxidase
GPX:	Glutathione peroxidase
gRNA:	Guide RNA
GSH:	Glutathione
GTP:	Guanosine triphosphate
H ₂ O:	Water
H ₂ O ₂ :	Hydrogen peroxide
HPRT:	Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase
hv:	Photon of light
INL:	Inner nuclear layer
KO:	Knockout
LIF:	Leukemia inhibitory factor
MitoSOX:	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MitoTEMPO:	(2-(2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-1-oxyl-4- ylamino)20x0ethyl)triphenylphosphoniumchloride monohydrate
Mn ²⁺ :	Manganese
mPRa:	Membrane progesterone receptor α (PAQR7)
mPRβ:	Membrane progesterone receptor β (PAQR8)
mPRγ:	Membrane progesterone receptor γ (PAQR5)
mRNA:	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MTS:	(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium)
<i>n=</i> :	Number of biological replicates
Na ⁺ :	Sodium
NAC:	N-acetyl-L-cysteine
NAD ⁺ :	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH:	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADP ⁺ :	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NADPH:	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-ĸB:	Nuclear factor-ĸB

NF-E2:	Nuclear factor erythroid 2
NGF:	Nerve growth factor
NORG:	Norgestrel
NOX:	NADPH oxidase
NOXA1:	NOX activator 1
NOXO1:	NOX organizer 1
Nrf2:	NF-E2-related factor-2
NT-3:	Neurotrophin-3
O ₂ :	Molecular oxygen
O ₂ ⁻ :	Superoxide anion
OH•:	Hydroxil radical
ONL:	Outer nuclear layer
Opn1sw:	Short-wave-sensitive opsin-1
p:	Phosphorylation
P:	Post-natal day
PPAR:	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PAQR:	Progestin and adipoQ receptor family
PBS:	Phosphate-buffered saline
PDE:	Phosphodiesterase
PDE6B:	Phosphodiesterase-6B
PDGF:	Platelet-derived growth factor
PEDF:	Pigment epithelium-derived factor
PFA:	Paraformaldehyde
PGRMC1:	Progesterone receptor membrane component 1
PGRMC2:	Progesterone receptor membrane component 2
phox:	Phagocyte oxidase
PR A/B:	Progesterone receptor A/B
ProTECT:	Progesterone for Traumatic Brain Injury Experimental Clinical Treatment
PRX:	Peroxiredoxin
R*:	Metarhodopsin II
Rd1:	rd1/rd1 Mice (<i>Pde6b rd1⁻/rd1⁻</i>)
Rd10:	rd10/rd10 Mice (<i>Pde6b rd10⁻/rd10⁻</i>)
Redox:	Reduction-oxidation
RGC:	Retinal ganglion cell
RHO:	Rhodopsin
RIPA:	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
ROS:	Reactive oxygen species

RP:	Retinitis pigmentosa
RPE:	Retinal pigment epithelium
RPGR:	Retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator
RT:	Room temperature
RT-qPCR:	Real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SDS-PAGE:	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM:	Mean \pm standard error
siRNA:	Small interfering ribonucleic acid
SNP:	Sodium nitroprusside
SOD:	Superoxide dismutase
SOD1:	CuZn-SOD (cytoplasmic)
SOD2:	Mn-SOD (mitochondrial)
SS:	Serum starvation
TBI:	Traumatic brain injury
TBS-T:	Tris-buffered saline/0.1% Tween-20
TCA:	Tricarboxylic acid
Tiron:	4,5-dihydroxybenzene-1,3-disulfonate
TGF-β1:	Transforming growth factor β1
TRX:	Thioredoxin
TUNEL:	Terminal dUTP nick-end labellin
TUNEL+:	Terminal dUTP nick-end labelled positive
USH2A:	Usher's syndrome type IIA
UT:	Untreated
VAS2870:	3-benzyl-7-(2-benzoxazolyl)thio-1,2,3-tria-zolo[4,5-d]pyrimidine
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
Zn ²⁺ :	Zinc

Publications

Ruiz-Lopez, A.M. (2017) The Young Researchers View (website) http://www.vision-research.eu/index.php?id=1132

Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017) Pro-survival redox signalling in progesterone-mediated retinal neuroprotection. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **1**, 1–10.

Roche, S.L., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M**. & Cotter, T.G. (2017) Cell death analysis in retinal cultures (Book chapter). *Retinal Degeneration: Methods and Protocols*. In press.

Roche, S.L., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017) Microglial-induced Müller cell gliosis is attenuated by progesterone in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Glia*, **66**, 295–310.

Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017) Fractalkine-CX3CR1 signaling is critical for progesterone-mediated neuroprotection in the retina. *Sci. Rep.*, **7**, 1–15.

Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Gómez-Vicente, V., Lax, P., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Byrne, A.M., Cuenca, N., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Progesterone Attenuates Microglial-Driven Retinal Degeneration and Stimulates Protective Fractalkine-CX3CR1 Signaling. *PLoS One*, **11**, 1–27.

Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Roche, S.L., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Progesterone analogue protects stressed photoreceptors via bFGFmediated calcium influx. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **44**, 3067–3079.

Byrne, A.M., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Roche, S.L., Moloney, J.N., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) The synthetic progestin norgestrel modulates Nrf2 signaling and acts as an antioxidant in a model of retinal degeneration. *Redox Biol.*, **10**, 128–139.

Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Byrne, A.M., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Alterations to retinal architecture prior to photoreceptor loss in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.*, **60**, 127–139.

Byrne, A.M., Roche, S.L., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, Wyse-Jackson, A.C., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) The synthetic progestin norgestrel acts to increase LIF levels in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Mol. Vis.*, **22**, 264–274.

Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Roche, S.L., Byrne, A.M., **Ruiz-Lopez, A.M.**, & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Progesterone receptor signalling in retinal photoreceptor neuroprotection. *J. Neurochem.*, **136**, 63–77.

Presentations

Nov 2014:	Retina Conference, Dublin, Ireland. Poster Presentation.
Nov 2015:	Retina Conference, Dublin, Ireland. Poster Presentation.
June 2016:	International Cell Death Society Conference, Cork, Ireland. Poster
Presentation.	
1 1 2017	

July 2017: Young Researcher Vision Camp, Castle Wildenstein, Germany. *Poster Presentation.* 1st place prize.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. The retina in health and disease

1.1.1. Visual processing

Vision is considered the most important function for quality of life in humans, and the eye is responsible for this function (Huberman & Niell, 2011; Hirneiss, 2014; Qiu *et al.*, 2014; Latham *et al.*, 2015). The human eye is a slightly asymmetrical sphere composed of various tissues. The retina, a complex and light-sensitive structure, is one of them and consists of multiple layers of interconnected neurons (Cuenca *et al.*, 2014; Ray *et al.*, 2016). The identification of different types of retinal neurons began with Santiago Ramón y Cajal in 1900, whose drawings are an incredible representation of such an organised structure (Masland, 2001; Llinás, 2003). This tissue contains both sensory neurons, the photoreceptors, that respond to light; and other neurons that form an intricate circuit for processing the signals that are sent to the brain through the optic nerve where the image is formed (Figure 1.1.1 and Figure 1.1.2) (Kolb, 2003; Roche *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1.1.1. Schematic representation of the mouse retina. This schematic illustrates the variety of cell types and connections within the retina. Taken from Roche *et al.*, 2016.



Figure 1.1.2. Nuclear layers within a wild-type C57 mouse retina. Fluorescent microscopic image of a C57BL/6 retinal section stained with Hoechst (blue) that reveals the cell layers present in the retina. ONL: outer nuclear layer, INL: inner nuclear layer, RGC: retinal ganglion cells. Scale bar 50 μ m.

Visual processing takes place in a complex but organised system, starting with light that penetrates through several cell layers to reach the photoreceptors, where light and visual information is transformed into electrical signals (Marshel et al., 2011; Ray et al., 2016). Thus, neural signals are sent to the brain *via* different types of neurons (bipolar cells, retinal ganglion cells (RGC), horizontal cells and amacrine cells) through the optic nerve to neurons in the lateral geniculate nucleus, situated in the posterior thalamus (Marshel et al., 2011). Subsequently, this output is transmitted predominately to the layer 4 of the primary visual cortex (Horton, 2006; Marshel et al., 2011; Ray et al., 2016). In addition, there are two types of photoreceptors in the retina: cones and rods, responsible for two different kinds of vision. Both types contain a photopigment in the outer segment which absorbs the light, leading to changes in the membrane potential that cause synaptic transmission within cells mentioned above (Curcio et al., 1990; Lamb, 2013). Rod cells contain long cylindrical outer segments, have many disks and contain a high concentration of pigment (rhodopsin), responsible for dim-light vision. Such features enable rods to be extremely light sensitive, whilst cones require significantly brighter light in order to produce a signal and are primarily responsible for spatial acuity and colour vision (Warrant, 2009).

Interestingly, the human retina presents some differences when compared with the mouse retina as shown in figure 1.1.3. The most obvious difference is the size of the lens, which is substantially larger in the mouse retina. A key difference between the human and mouse retina is the presence of the macula in the human retina. The fovea is a cone-only region within the macula (Veleri *et al.*, 2015) and the human retina contains about 120 million rod cells and 6 million cone cells concentrated mainly in the fovea. Thus this region contains a higher density of cones compared with the peripheral retina. In contrast, cones are equally distributed along the mouse retina. This difference between the human and mouse retina leads to peripheral to central degeneration in human retinitis pigmentosa (RP) and central to peripheral degeneration in the mouse RP, even though the disease in both species can be caused by identical genetic mutations.



Figure 1.1.3. Difference between human and mouse retina. Modified from Veleri et al., 2015.

The way in which visual inputs are converted in electrical signals is known as 'phototransduction' and consists of five steps represented in figure 1.1.4. The process takes place within the disk membrane of the photoreceptor outer segment and it starts when a light photon is absorbed by a rhodopsin molecule, transforming it into its enzymatically active conformation, metarhodopsin II (R*). Once activated, the signal is amplified through repeated contacts with the G-proteins, transducins, to further activate cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDE), which results in the hydrolysis of multiple diffusible second messengers: the cyclic guanosine monophosphates (cGMP). Such hydrolysis closes cGMP-

gated channels due to the diminished cGMP concentration available for binding to the channels throughout the surface of the outer segment, decreasing the influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions and leading to hyperpolarisation of the cell and subsequent signalling (Pugh, 1999; Leskov *et al.*, 2000; Lamb & Pugh, 2006; Warrant, 2009).



Figure 1.1.4. Representation of the phototransduction cascade. Shown is the outer membrane disk found in a rod cell. **Step 1, activation of rhodopsin:** Capture of a photon (hv) activates rhodopsin *via* a conformational change to R*. **Step 2, activation of the G-protein:** R* contacts with G-protein transducin (G) molecules that consist of three subunits: α , β and γ , with guanosine diphosphate (GDP) bound to the α subunit. This contact activates the molecule to G*, catalysing its activation by the release of bound GDP in exchange for cytoplasmic guanosine triphosphate (GTP). **Step 3, activation of the PDE:** This release expels the G-protein β and γ subunits leaving the α subunit. **Step 4, hydrolysis of cGMP:** G* α subunit binds inhibitory γ subunits of phosphodiesterase (PDE) activating its α and β subunits. Activated PDE hydrolyses cyclic guanosine monophosphates (cGMP). **Step 5, closure of ion channels:** Guanylyl cyclase (GC) synthesises cGMP. Reduced levels of cytosolic cGMP trigger cyclic nucleotide gated channels to close preventing further influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺. Modified from Pugh, 1999.

As a result of this mechanism, one molecule of R* induces hydrolysis of more than a few hundred thousand of cGMP molecules during the time period when it is active (Kawamura & Tachibanaki, 2008). At the cessation of light, R* is inactivated by phosphorylation of a rhodopsin kinase (Chen *et al.*, 1999; Kawamura & Tachibanaki, 2008). This process appears to be reasonably similar in mammalian cones and rods, only differing with respect to the photo-pigments used (Masland, 2001), which therefore, changes the rate of activation of both types of cells (Kawamura & Tachibanaki, 2008; Tachibanaki *et al.*, 2012; Lamb, 2013).

Phototransduction Activation

1.1.2. Retinitis pigmentosa

Due to its high structural and functional complexity, the retina is vulnerable to alterations from any sort of pathological injury. Inherited retinal diseases are a family of hereditary diseases where mutations affecting mainly photoreceptors lead to degeneration. Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is included in these diseases (Fan *et al.*, 2006).

The term 'retinitis pigmentosa' was first used by the German physician Franciscus Donders in 1857 (Donders, 1857) and it includes a group of retinopathies characterised by an accumulation of retinal pigment deposits due to the loss of photoreceptors (rods and cones) and the adjacent retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) which leads to progressive blindness (Allard, 1983; Berson, 1993; Fan et al., 2006; Hamel, 2006; Dias et al., 2017). In most cases, the loss of rods causes the first symptom of RP: night blindness (nyctalopia). However, cones secondarily degenerate in the periphery of the retina causing a reduction of peripheral vision known as 'tunnel vision' (Hartong et al., 2006; Cuenca et al., 2014; Dias et al., 2017; Athanasiou et al., 2018), as shown in figure 1.1.5. By midlife, patients become legally blind when the defective regions gradually enlarge, affecting the central field as well (Allard, 1983; Pagon, 1988; Herse, 2005; Kennan et al., 2005; Hamel, 2006). Furthermore, survival of cones appears to depend on rods and preservation of cones prevents patients becoming blind (Komeima et al., 2006, 2007; Tao et al., 2016). Nevertheless, there is currently no cure for RP. The prevalence of these disorders is 1:4000 individuals worldwide, being the most common cause of inherited blindness (Boughman et al., 1980; Berson, 1993; Haim, 2002; Hartong et al., 2006; Dias et al., 2017).



Figure 1.1.5. Progression of visual field loss in retinitis pigmentosa. (A) Normal vision. (B) Vision of a patient with RP: loss of peripheral vision (tunnel vision).

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) disorders are another type of inherited retinal diseases which are characterized by progressive destruction of the macula, produced by abnormalities in the RPE (Fan *et al.*, 2006; Winkler *et al.*, 2007). Thus, AMD is related to loss of central vision rather than loss of peripheral which occurs in RP.

RP has been reported to be inherited in all the three Mendelian modes: autosomal-dominant (adRP, about 15-25% of the cases), autosomal-recessive (arRP, 5-20%) and X-linked (5-15%) (Bunker *et al.*, 1984; Wang *et al.*, 2005; Hartong *et al.*, 2006; Athanasiou *et al.*, 2018), although about 40-50% of cases correspond to unknown patterns as represented in figure 1.1.6 (Dias *et al.*, 2017). The genetics of this disease is highly complex due to the fact that about 70 genes are involved and more than 3,000 mutations are known to cause it (Guadagni *et al.*, 2015; Cheng *et al.*, 2016; Dias *et al.*, 2017). Due to such broad genetic complexity of RP, gene-specific therapies are challenging (Cuenca *et al.*, 2014). The major causative genes (Figure 1.1.6) are the rhodopsin (*RHO*) gene that leads to about 25% of adRP; the Usher's syndrome type IIA (*USH2A*) gene, which might cover about 15% of recessive disease; and the retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator (*RPGR*) gene that causes about 70% of X-linked cases (Wang *et al.*, 2005; Hartong *et al.*, 2006; Diager *et al.*, 2013). These three genes are found in about 30% of all cases of RP (Hartong *et al.*, 2006; Dias *et al.*, 2017).

Among the mutated genes that cause arRP, we find the gene that encodes the rod cGMPphosphodiesterase-6B subunit β (*Pde6b*) which is an essential component in the phototransduction cascade (Cote, 2004; Kennan *et al.*, 2005). In fact, a correct function of this subunit is crucial for the whole protein function (Ullah *et al.*, 2016; Gopalakrishna *et al.*, 2017). The rod *Pde6b* gene is located in the chromosome 5 and it has 22 exons. *Pde6b* mutations represent about 5% of arRP cases (Figure 1.1.6).



Figure 1.1.6. Genes and their relative contribution to retinitis pigmentosa. The inheritance of RP consists of autosomal-dominant (adRP), autosomal-recessive (arRP), X-linked and unknown patterns. The main causative genes for them are rhodoposin (*RHO*), Usher's syndrome type IIA (*USH2A*) and retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator (*RPGR*). Phosphodiesterase-6B (*Pde6b*) is also of interest throughout this thesis.

1.1.3. Genetic mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa

Despite our understanding of the genetic abnormalities leading to RP, the mechanism by which many mutations, including the ones previously described, lead to cell death has yet to be fully elucidated. Unfortunately, the direct study of human RP is limited given the difficulty in obtaining relevant human tissue samples. As a result, animal models that present the same mutations found in humans and therefore are a good representation of the human disease both genetically and phenotypically have become as an invaluable tool for studies of RP.

Perhaps the best characterised mouse model of retinal degeneration is the naturally occurring rd1 mouse (*Pde6b rd1-/rd1-*) since Keeler described it in 1924 (Keeler, 1924). However, in 1990 it was determined that degeneration in the rd1 mouse model is caused by a point mutation in exon 7 of the β subunit of the *Pde6b* gene (Bowes *et al.*, 1990; Pittler & Baehr, 1991). Such mutation leads to a rapid loss of rod photoreceptors starting at postnatal day (P)9 which ends at P18. A subsequent cone cell death is detected at P20 (Portera-cailliau *et al.*, 1994; Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Greferath *et al.*, 2009). At P30, the majority of cones have also degenerated and thereafter, the degeneration becomes slower. Carter-Dawson *et al.* showed that as a consequence of a slower degeneration, 1.5% cones remain at P600 (18 months of age) (Carter-Dawson *et al.*, 1979). Although this model has been widely used (Doonan *et al.*, 2003; Hart *et al.*, 2005; Komeima *et al.*, 2006; Usui *et al.*, 2009), it presents some limitations in the study of RP due to the rapid loss of photoreceptors which coincides with retinal development (Sanyal & Bal, 1973; Carter-Dawson *et al.*, 1979).

9

Alternately, another mouse model, the rd10 strain (*Pde6b rd10-/rd10*⁻), with a missense mutation in exon 13 of the same gene (*Pde6b*) was described (Chang *et al.*, 2002, 2007; Han *et al.*, 2013). The mutation is naturally produced by the exchange of an arginine by a cysteine at position 560 (Arg560Cys) of the protein (Chang *et al.*, 2007). This mutation results in a slower retinal degeneration, starting with the death of rods around P18, peaking at P25 and finishing at P50 with the subsequent death of cones (Chang *et al.*, 2002; Gargini *et al.*, 2007; Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Samardzija *et al.*, 2012; Roche *et al.*, 2016). This reason and the fact that this mutation also causes RP in humans (McLaughlin *et al.*, 1993), make the rd10 mouse a suitable model for studying retinal degeneration and developing therapeutic approaches for patients affected by hereditary retinal dystrophies. In this model, degeneration of photoreceptors follows a clear gradient from the central to the peripheral regions of the retina (Gargini *et al.*, 2007; Roche *et al.*, 2016) and it also occurs more rapidly in the central retina in comparison to the periphery (Barhoum *et al.*, 2008). As seen in human RP, rods are lost first with cones persisting into adulthood (Gargini *et al.*, 2007; Barhoum *et al.*, 2016).

In addition, not only photoreceptors are affected in the rd10 model, but also other retinal cells such as amacrine cells and bipolar cells, as well as photoreceptor synapses (Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Puthussery *et al.*, 2009; Roche *et al.*, 2016). According to this, glial cells, which can be divided into two types: microglia and macroglia (Müller glia and astrocytes), have been shown to respond dramatically during this period in the rd10 retina (Roche *et al.*, 2016, 2017a, 2017b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016).

1.2. Progesterone-induced neuroprotection

Functions of female steroid hormones in the central nervous system (CNS) were classically associated with reproductive processes and sexual behaviour. In 1968 it was recognised that these molecules can reach the brain (McEwen *et al.*, 1968). However, it has become clear in the last decades that they play alternative roles that have nothing to do with endocrine functions. For example, they can affect electrical activity in the brain and contribute to neuroprotection in the CNS (De Nicola, 1993; Joëls, 1997; Azcoitia *et al.*, 1999; McEwen, 1999; Schumacher *et al.*, 2000). Studies *in vitro*, *in vivo* and in patients affected by diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, have demonstrated their important neuroprotective effects (Henderson, 1997; McEwen, 1999; Vongher & Frye, 1999; Brinton, 2001).

Among the hundred different types of steroids found in nature, the majority of them in the human body are derived from the membrane lipid cholesterol (Conn *et al.*, 1950; Sanderson, 2006; De Nicola *et al.*, 2017). Steroid hormones can be divided into three groups depending on the place where are synthesised: corticosteroids (made in the adrenal cortex), sex steroids (made in the gonads or placenta), and neurosteroids, when they are made by neurons and other cells pertaining to the CNS (Joëls, 1997; Sanderson, 2006; De Nicola *et al.*, 2017). These three groups have been related with neuroprotection during years (De Nicola, 1993; Cox, 1995; Joëls, 1997; Mannella *et al.*, 2009; Guennoun *et al.*, 2015). In this context, many of them have been proved to protect in some retinal diseases. Glucocorticoids, a group of corticosteroids, have been shown to induce photoreceptor survival (Fu *et al.*, 1992; Wenzel *et al.*, 2001, 2003; Bhisitkul *et al.*, 2008; Glybina *et al.*, 2009). Several human clinical trials of varying degrees of success have been also performed and all looked at the potential for glucocorticoids to act as anti-inflammatories in the eye as reviewed by Cebeci & Kir (Cebeci & Kir, 2015). In all of the aforementioned trials, visual acuity was improved through

corticosteroid administration. However, the mechanism of action by which this occurs, be it directly or indirectly on the photoreceptors, has not yet been elucidated.

Progesterone, the progestin on which we are going to focus in this study, is included in the second and third group, sex steroids and neurosteroids (Baulieu *et al.*, 2001; Guennoun *et al.*, 2015; Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.*, 2015). Progesterone is a gonadal hormone synthesised primarily by the ovary in females, and the testes and adrenal cortex in the male (Singh & Su, 2013; Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.*, 2015). Although progesterone levels are normally higher in females, males also present substantial levels of this hormone (Oettel & Mukhopadhyay, 2004; Singh & Su, 2013) and thus, may be equally important in both. This hormone has been found to have multiple functions in the CNS including the modulation of neuroprotection, neuroplasticity, neurogenesis and neuroinflammation (Petersen *et al.*, 2013). Treatment with progesterone produces regenerative effects in brain injury models (Schumacher *et al.*, 2000), such as the traumatic brain injury (TBI). In fact, studies with progesterone have achieved promising results for the treatment of TBI in phases II and III of clinical trials (Wright *et al.*, 2007; Xiao *et al.*, 2008).

Given the high complexity of RP genetics, a mutation-independent treatment strategy is highly desirable in the fight against degenerative blindness. As such, the concept of 'neuroprotection' is one therapy currently under investigation for the treatment of retinal diseases (Doonan & Cotter, 2012; Trifunovic *et al.*, 2012). Protective and regenerative effects of progesterone make it a promising solution to many of them.

1.2.1. Norgestrel

Preclinical studies have raised great hope for the use of progesterone as a potential therapeutic agent due to its effectiveness on different diseases including spinal cord injury, brain ischemia, stroke, Alzheimer's disease, multiple scleroris and TBI (Gonzalez Deniselle *et al.*, 2003; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005; Compagnone, 2008; Espinosa-García *et al.*, 2014; Yousuf *et al.*, 2014; Qin *et al.*, 2015; De Nicola *et al.*, 2017). The Progesterone for Traumatic Brain Injury Experimental Clinical Treatment (ProTECT) study was carried out in order to establish drug safety (Wright *et al.*, 2007). Following that, more clinical trials have been performed to demonstrate progesterone treatment reduces mortality in patients with TBI (Stein, 2011, 2013; Schumacher *et al.*, 2016). As a result of such neuroprotection, progesterone effects were also studied in eye diseases, such as diabetic and ischemic retinopathies (Lu *et al.*, 2008; Neumann *et al.*, 2015). Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.* showed that oral administration of this hormone during several days, delays cell death happening in the rd1 mouse model (Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.*, 2015).

Furthermore, the role that progesterone plays in neuroprotection has become clear given that its synthesis is up-regulated in response to the injury produced by these diseases (Schumacher *et al.*, 2016). Taken together, experimental observations strongly suggest that an increase in progesterone production by gonads and by neural cells might be part of a physiological process of neuroprotective responses. For this reason, progesterone and its synthetic analogues offer considerable promises as neuroprotectant agents.

One of these synthetic analogues is levonorgestrel, commonly referred to as 'Norgestrel', which presents a similar structure as progesterone. Norgestrel, and the rest of steroids, contains a four cycloalkane ring core (Figure 1.2.1). This compound is Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved and is found at concentrations of 0.075-0.35 mg (daily dosage) in versions of the progesterone-only mini pill (Doonan & Cotter, 2012). Norgestrel, like other synthetic progestins, has been widely used in the reproductive medicine given that it is rapidly absorbed and has a longer half-life compared with progesterone, which allows the maintenance of stable levels in the blood.



Figure 1.2.1. Chemical structures of progesterone and Norgestrel.

Our group has demonstrated Norgestrel's ability to protect damaged photoreceptors in three different models: *in vitro*, *in vivo* and *ex vivo*, using retinal explants (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Doonan & Cotter, 2012; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Doonan *et al.* firstly showed that intraperitoneal administration of Norgestrel preserved photoreceptor cells in both a light-induced damage model and rd10 mice (Doonan *et al.*, 2011). Since then, our knowledge about this compound has increased and our interest has foccused on elucidating its mechanism of action.

1.2.2. Progesterone and Norgestrel: mechanism of action

As with most neurosteroids, progesterone acts through specific binding to cellular receptors (Friberg *et al.*, 2009). Progesterone receptors A and B (PR A/B) have been classically thought to be responsible for progesterone signalling in CNS. These receptors are widely expressed and can modulate a variety of different physiological functions (Wen *et al.*, 1994; Lange, 2008). However, progesterone, as a complex hormone, can also act through a variety of non-classical receptors (Moussatche & Lyons, 2012; Petersen *et al.*, 2013; Qin *et al.*, 2015). These are: the progesterone receptor membrane component (PGRMC) family, featuring PGRMC1 and PGRMC2 (Cahill, 2007, 2017; Lösel *et al.*, 2007; Peluso *et al.*, 2014) and the progestin and adipoQ receptor (PAQR) family (Zhu *et al.*, 2003; Petersen *et al.*, 2013), featuring membrane progesterone receptors α , β and γ (mPR α , mPR β and mPR γ).

Given both classical and non-classical receptors are important in the progesterone-mediated signalling, they are widely distributed in many tissues (Graham & Clarke, 2002; Han *et al.*, 2006), including the brain (Kato *et al.*, 1994; Petersen *et al.*, 2013; Singh & Su, 2013). This ubiquitous expression highlights their importance throughout the body. Progesterone binding to the receptor produces its dimerization and the subsequent interaction with several co-regulatory proteins (Singh & Su, 2013; Grimm *et al.*, 2016). This results in a response that can be generated by causing changes in gene transcription through transcription factors (Li *et al.*, 1997; Faivre *et al.*, 2008) or *via* non-genomic mechanisms by the interaction with signal transduction kinases and the use of second messengers (Boonyaratanakornkit *et al.*, 2001; Jacobsen & Horwitz, 2012; Singh & Su, 2013).

Studies about the different PRs present in the retina and their mechanism of action are very limited (Swiatek-De Lange *et al.*, 2007). Nevertheless, in 2016 our group discovered that the

receptor target by which Norgestrel exerts its action is the PGRMC1 receptor in the 661W cone photoreceptor-like cell line and in both C57 and rd10 mouse retina (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a). Interestingly, PGRMC1 expression was equal in male and female mice, demonstrating progesterone signalling plays and important role in both. PGRMC1 localises in the plasma membrane but following ligand binding, it is activated and translocated to the nucleus (Peluso *et al.*, 2012; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a). Nuclear PGRMC1 might be associated with regulation of transcriptional activity (Peluso *et al.*, 2012). However, its function inside the nucleus following Norgestrel treatment is still unknown.

One of the main effects discovered of Norgestrel-mediated response was the up-regulation of neurotrophic factors (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Doonan & Cotter, 2012; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Cytokines and neurotrophic factors are regarded as a possible therapeutic modality due to their effects in increasing proliferation and survival in different cell types and tissues (Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014). This is of interest given that such effects are also important in the treatment of retinal diseases (Désiré *et al.*, 2000; Yip & So, 2000; Arroba *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Bürgi *et al.*, 2009; Zheng *et al.*, 2009; He *et al.*, 2014; Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014; Arroba & Valverde, 2015). There is much evidence in the literature about how progesterone-mediated stimulation of these trophic factors induces neuroprotection (Schumacher *et al.*, 2000; Gonzalez Deniselle *et al.*, 2003; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005; Deutsch *et al.*, 2013; Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014; Melcangi *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, the fact that the basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) are part of the Norgestrel-mediated survival response is not surprising (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017).

1.3. Reactive oxygen species

The term 'reactive oxygen species' (ROS) describes a group of molecules and free radicals (chemical species with one unpaired electron) that are generally metabolic by-products constantly formed as a consequence of endogenous physiological processes that involve oxygen consumption (Gilbert, 1994; Andreyev *et al.*, 2005; Winterbourn, 2008). Since molecular oxygen (O₂) possesses two unpaired electrons with the same spin in the outer shell, known as triplet state, is a not reactive molecule. However, when one of the two unpaired electrons is excited, its spin changes and the resulting species becomes a powerful oxidant that reacts with other pairs of electrons (Turrens, 2003). These reactions in which an exchange of electrons is produced are commonly known as 'reduction-oxidation' (redox) reactions as represented in figure 1.3.1.



Figure 1.3.1. Schematic representation of reduction-oxidation (redox) reactions. Oxidation is the loss of electrons by a molecule, atom or ion with the subsequent reduction or gain of electrons by other.

ROS molecules are the product of the partial reduction of oxygen. Superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) results from the one-electron O_2 reduction and it is the precursor of most of the other ROS types (Knowles *et al.*, 1969; Turrens, 2003). Spontaneous or non-spontaneous superoxide dismutation produces uncharged hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) which can be partially reduced to hydroxyl radical (OH•) or fully reduced to form water (Davies, 1995; Keyer & Imlay, 1996; Turrens, 2003; Winterbourn, 2008).

ROS have long been associated with activation of death pathways and cellular damage (Chance, 1979; Gorman *et al.*, 1997; Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Rhee, 2006; Battistelli *et al.*, 2016). In fact, both O_2^- and OH• are unstable radicals that are responsible of such detrimental effects, especially OH•, which is considered one of the strongest oxidants in nature. ROS implication has also been documented in neurodegenerative diseases leading to mitochondrial dysfunction (England *et al.*, 2006; Gandhi & Abramov, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2015; Di Meo *et al.*, 2016), and more specifically, in the worsening of retinal diseases including RP (Carmody *et al.*, 1999; Cingolani *et al.*, 2005; Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Winkler *et al.*, 2007; Usui *et al.*, 2009; Lange & Bainbridge, 2012; Eshaq *et al.*, 2014; Campochiaro *et al.*, 2015; Tao *et al.*, 2016). The retina is a tissue highly affected by ROS given its elevated oxygen consumption rate (Eshaq *et al.*, 2014) in order to convert light into electrical inputs as described before. Furthermore, some studies have also linked the photoreceptor cell death produced by the exposure to bright light with an increase in ROS production as reviewed by Winkler *et al.* (Winkler *et al.*, 2007). It was then assumed that the faster the elimination of these toxic molecules, the better for the cell.

Over the last few years, however, our understanding about these molecules has dramatically changed. It is true that ROS are related with a great variety of diseases, but that is just an oversimplification of their importance within the cell (Figure 1.3.2). Contrary to what was thought, ROS were discovered to be a double-edged sword, playing a crucial role in cells by working as second messengers in signal transduction (Burdon, 1995; Rhee, 2006; D'Autréaux & Toledano, 2007; Groeger *et al.*, 2009b; Benitez-Alfonso *et al.*, 2011; Finkel, 2011; Gough & Cotter, 2011). This change in the perception of these molecules is the reason why our interest about such unexpected function has considerably increased in the last decades.

18


Figure 1.3.2. Dual effect produced by ROS in cells. Low or moderate ROS levels are able to act as second messenger in cellular signalling to mediate pro-survival response. However, they become toxic when their levels are excessive, leading to cell death.

Low or moderate levels of ROS can participate in pro-survival signalling pathways, but it is the increase in their production, their persistence during the time or their presence in a wrong time or place, which turns them into potent pro-death molecules (Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Nathan & Cunningham-Bussel, 2013). Thus, cells use small amount of ROS to amplify the signal and make it more effective.

Nevertheless, only hydrogen peroxide is suggested to accomplish such function given its stable non-radical condition which means that it reacts poorly or not at all with most biological molecules (Winterbourn, 2013). H_2O_2 is a freely diffusible molecule which allows

it to modulate physiological responses such as cell proliferation, differentiation, and migration across membranes (Rhee, 2006; Finkel, 2011; Reczek & Chandel, 2015). It is important to understand H₂O₂-mediated signalling is produced by its interaction with downstream target molecules, especially by the oxidation of critical residues on proteins or by activating protein kinases (Rhee, 2006). For example, the tyrosine kinase Scr becomes active when H₂O₂ oxidises two of its cysteine residues (Giannoni *et al.*, 2005). Proteins, therefore, are believed to be the main target of ROS (Davies, 2005).

1.3.1. Intracellular sources of ROS: NOX proteins

Living organisms produce ROS from different systems localised in several parts of the cell: the cytosol, the plasma membrane, mitochondria, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and peroxisomes (Figure 1.3.3). Cytosolic ROS are mainly formed by enzymes such as xanthine oxidases or soluble components including catecholamines and flavins. Peroxisomes and ER are known to produce ROS as part of their metabolic functions (Finkel, 2011; Di Meo *et al.*, 2016). Peroxisomes are known to perform fatty acid α - and β -oxidation and the synthesis of lipid compounds. Such reactions induce the formation of ROS as by-products (Antonenkov *et al.*, 2010). In the same way, among the multiple functions of the ER, the introduction of double bonds in fatty acids or the formation of intramolecular disulfide bonds during the protein folding, are known to involve oxidation reactions and therefore, to produce ROS (Hwang *et al.*, 1992; Di Meo *et al.*, 2016). Free radicals can also be formed by membrane associated proteins such as lipoxygenases and cyclooxygenases (COX) enzymes during the arachidonic acid oxidation (Nogawa *et al.*, 1997; Farrell *et al.*, 2011; Holmström & Finkel, 2014). Chapter 1



Figure 1.3.3. Intracellular sources of ROS. Representation of the different ROS sources and their localization within the cell. Taken from Di Meo *et al.*, 2016.

However, the main source of ROS located on the plasma membrane is the enzymatic nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX) family of proteins. Differing from other sources, their only known function is the formation of ROS and hence, these molecules are not generated as by-products by NOX enzymes (Bedard & Krause, 2007; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a). These proteins were first described in leukocytes where they produce ROS as part of their essential role in host defence. Once activated, neutrophils are able to internalise microorganisms by phagocytosis and inactivate them through the secretion of enzymes and the production of ROS (Holmström & Finkel, 2014). We now know that these proteins are also expressed in non-phagocytic cells.

The NOX family consists of seven transmembrane members (NOX1-5, DUOX1-2), differing mainly in their organ-specific expression, control of their activity and the type of ROS they

release (Katsuyama, 2010; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a; Moloney & Cotter, 2017) as represented in figure 1.3.4. NOX2, originally termed glycoprotein 91 phagocyte oxidase (gp91^{phox}), was the first NOX member to be identified in phagocytes. Catalytic subunit NOX2 does not generate superoxide on its own, but recruits different components to do so: the transmembrane subunit p22^{phox}, three cytosolic proteins, p40^{phox}, p47^{phox} and p67^{phox} and a small GTP-binding protein (Rac) (Katsuyama, 2010; Holmström & Finkel, 2014).



Figure 1.3.4. ROS production by NOX isoforms. NOX1-5 and DUOX1-2 are the seven members of the NOX protein family. Upon activation through different subunits, the catalytic subunit removes an electron from cytosolic NADPH and transfers it to O_2 , to produce superoxide (O_2^-) or hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) as is the case of NOX4. The transmembrane subunit p22^{phox} is required for activation of NOX1-4 whereas NOX1-3 activation also requires the recruitment of other cytosolic subunits. NOX5 appears to only require Ca²⁺ for activation and DUOX1- 2 also require another transmembrane protein known as DUOXA1-2.

Although all NOX isoforms are structurally similar, each is activated by specific mechanisms and regulatory subunits and has specific subcellular localization. Subunits p47^{phox} and p67^{phox} have their homologs NOX organizer 1 (NOXO1) and NOX activator 1 (NOXA1), respectively, when it comes to the regulation of both NOX1 and NOX3. Despite

the fact that NOX1-4 interact with p22^{phox}, NOX4 appears to be somewhat different to the other NOXs (Martyn *et al.*, 2006) and it seems to be constitutively active (von Löhneysen *et al.*, 2012). In contrast to other isoforms, NOX4 produces H₂O₂ rather than O₂⁻⁻ given a modification in its unique tertiary structure (Martyn *et al.*, 2006; Takac *et al.*, 2011; von Löhneysen *et al.*, 2012; Nisimoto *et al.*, 2014). NOX5 also differs to the others in its regulation, which appears to only require Ca²⁺ to produce O₂⁻⁻. In addition, DUOX1-2 maturation and function is not completely understood (Morand *et al.*, 2009).

Regarding their expression, NOX enzymes are also different. NOX1 is highly expressed in the colon epithelium and smooth muscle cells (Katsuyama, 2010; Takac *et al.*, 2012) whereas NOX2 is mainly found in endothelial and phagocytic cells (Di Meo *et al.*, 2016), and NOX3 is required for the formation of otoliths in the inner ear (Bánfi *et al.*, 2004). NOX4 expression was first observed in the kidney amongst other tissues (Shiose *et al.*, 2001). However, we now know that this NOX isoform is ubiquitously expressed in a large variety of cell types (Xu *et al.*, 2018), generally exceeding the expression of other NOX proteins (Ago *et al.*, 2004). Expression of NOX5 has been reported in several tissues including the spleen, stomach, testis, uterus and endothelial cells, while DUOX1-2 are expressed mainly in the thyroid and the respiratory epithelia (Takac *et al.*, 2012; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). Given that NOX5 is not expressed in rodents owing to a genetic deletion, few studies have been performed and its role and function are still not well understood (Takac *et al.*, 2012).

NOX enzymes activity is therefore exerted by protein-protein interactions or calcium, with the exception of NOX4, whose activity is controlled by its expression (von Löhneysen *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a). Furthermore, their activity as ROS generators is tightly

regulated given that the amount of ROS produced can be both beneficial and detrimental as it has been discussed above. Growth factors and cytokines are worth being described as activators of NOX function, taking into account the large amount of studies reporting such effect (ten Freyhaus *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2007; Hecker *et al.*, 2009; Sancho *et al.*, 2009; Schröder *et al.*, 2011; Stanic *et al.*, 2012; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a; Holmström & Finkel, 2014). These studies demonstrate that neurotrophic factors utilise ROS production as part of their signalling response. For instance, Hecker *et al.* showed that the transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β 1) induces NOX4-mediated hydrogen peroxide production to repair functions of myofibroblasts in response to lung injury (Hecker *et al.*, 2009) and ten Freyhaus *et al.* demonstrated that NOX inhbition abrogates platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-dependent smooth muscle cell chemotaxis (ten Freyhaus *et al.*, 2006). In fact, the absence of growth factors is also responsible for increased ROS levels (Lee *et al.*, 2010; Li *et al.*, 2013). In this context, our laboratory has well defined the lack of growth factors caused by serum withdrawal as a main cause to produce ROS from NOX proteins in a cone photoreceptor cell line (Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Groeger *et al.*, 2009a).

Such stimulation of NOX-dependent ROS formation induced by neurotrophic factors can induce either proliferation or cell death, depending on the amount of ROS formed. Diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases or retinal degeneration, have been documented to be caused in part by an elevated ROS generation from NOX proteins (Usui *et al.*, 2009; Song *et al.*, 2016; Tao *et al.*, 2016; Ma *et al.*, 2017; Rastogi *et al.*, 2017). In fact, Usui *et al.* pointed NOX proteins as the responsible source of ROS production in the cone cell death occuring in retinitis pigmentosa. They demonstrated a longer preservation of cones in the rd1 mouse model when NOXs were inhibited (Usui *et al.*, 2009). Nevertheless, NOX-generated ROS have been more often associated with pro-survival signal transduction cascades (Brown & Griendling, 2009; Groeger *et al.*, 2009a; Takac *et al.*, 2017; Moloney *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b).

Their role in pro-survival mechanisms is not surprising given that their only known function is the synthesis of ROS molecules. This intracellular source of ROS is, therefore, an ideal point of regulation when it comes to control of ROS generation.

1.3.2. Intracellular sources of ROS: Mitochondria

The mitochondrion is the other large contributor to ROS generation within most mammalian cells. Mitochondria use oxygen to generate energy, in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), by using intermediate metabolites from a metabolic process known as 'tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle', which implies the removal of one electron of those metabolites in order to transfer it to the electron transport chain (ETC), resulting in the reduction of O₂ to form O_2^{-} (Forman & Kennedy, 1974; Mclennan & Esposti, 2000; Nickel *et al.*, 2014; Sabharwal & Schumacker, 2014). Electrons are transferred from nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) to O₂ through the four protein complexes which form the respiratory chain: NADH dehydrogenase, succinate dehydrogenase or succinate coenzyme Q (CoQ or Q) reductase, cytochrome *c* oxidoreductase, and cytochrome *c* oxidase (Figure 1.3.5). The reduction of O₂ to two molecules of H₂O takes place in the complex IV. This flow of electrons through all these complexes creates a concentration gradient of protons that is used to produce the energy carrier molecule ATP at the matrix side by the complex V or ATP synthase (Murphy, 2009).



Figure 1.3.5. Mitochondrial ROS production. The inner mitochondrial membrane-bound respiratory chain consists of complex I-V. Complex I (NADH dehydrogenase), II (succinate dehydrogenase or succinate coenzyme Q reductase), III (cytochrome *c* oxidorectuctase), IV (cytochrome *c* oxidase) and V (ATP synthase). O_2^{-} is produced at complex I and III during the transfer of electrons from NADH to O_2 . This process ends with the generation of ATP at the matrix side. Mitochondrial antioxidants manganese SOD (SOD2) in the mitochondrial matrix and copper/zinc SOD (SOD1), localised in the intermembrane space or cytoplasm, converts O_2^{-} into membrane permeable H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 is reduced to water by glutathione peroxidases (GPX).

Superoxide anion can be produced by at least eleven different sites of mitochondria, mainly at the complexes I and III (Brand *et al.*, 2004, 2016) of the respiratory chain. Complex I is believed to produce most of the O_2^{-} generated from mitochondria, which is mainly in the matrix side of the inner membrane (St-Pierre *et al.*, 2002). For this reason, several inhibitors to study mitochondrial involvement in ROS production have been designed to target specifically complex I, as is the case of Rotenone (Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Brand *et al.*, 2004), which will be discussed in the chapter 4 of this thesis.

Contrary to NOX enzymes, ROS are generated as by-products of mitochondrial function, which makes difficult their regulation to act in signalling responses. Thus, mitochondrial ROS have been generally associated with aging (Choksi *et al.*, 2008; Liochev, 2013) and other mechanisms related with cell damage (Sanz & Bernardi, 2016). Disease worsening happens due to the progressive accumulation of free radicals, which leads to decline cellular

function and subsequent cell death. For example, some compounds used to block the electron transport chain in mitochondria (e.g. Rotenone) result in increased ROS levels that cause the death of experimental animals in minutes or hours as reviewed by Sanz & Bernardi (Sanz & Bernardi, 2016). Other studies have also demonstrated that oxidative stress produces damage in mitochondrial DNA, which subsequently kills the cell (Yakes & Houten, 1997; Shokolenko *et al.*, 2009). Yakes & Houten hypothesised that ROS-damaged mitochondrial DNA, characterised in several degenerative diseases, leads to decreased mitochondrial function, increased mitochondrial-generated ROS and persistent mitochondrial DNA damage (Yakes & Houten, 1997). Low quantities of ROS, specifically superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, are reported to be unable to cause mutations in DNA by themselves (Gutteridge, 1982). However, they can both generate more ROS types, such as OH•, that eventually induce DNA damage. Unfortunately, what is not very clear yet is whether ROS are cause, consequence or both of mitochondrial dysfunction (Sanz & Bernardi, 2016).

On the other hand, little is known about mitochondrial-mediated redox signalling. This is in part due to the fact that mitochondrial ROS are less well regulated that the ones generated by NOX enzymes (Dröge, 2002), and therefore, they have not been considered for study over the years. The majority of the studies regarding mitochondrial ROS signalling have been performed in endothelial cells and they have been suggested as an amplification method to sustain ROS signalling outside mitochondria (Zhang & Gutterman, 2006; Harel *et al.*, 2017). Some studies suggest that mitochondrial ROS are important in several physiological processes, such as the control of insulin release in pancreatic β -cells (Sakai *et al.*, 2003) or the elimination of bacteria by macrophages (West *et al.*, 2011). Thus, these observations elucidate another area of investigation within mitochondria.

27

1.3.3. Regulation of ROS: antioxidants

Since different amounts of ROS levels have opposite functions as described above, tight regulation is critical to their role in cellular signalling. Among these regulatory mechanisms which involve repair mechanisms and physical defences, cells also possess an antioxidant defence (Valko et al., 2007). Biological antioxidants are referred to any molecule that is able to delay or prevent the oxidation of a substrate (Pisoschi & Pop, 2015). This system includes enzymatic and non-enzymatic proteins. Superoxide dismutate (SOD) enzymes were the first enzymatic antioxidants to be discovered by McCord & Fridovich in 1969 (McCord & Fridovich, 1969). Since then, other components of this antioxidant machinery have been described. Glutathione (GSH), flavonoids and vitamins (A, C and E) constitute the nonenzymatic antioxidants (Poprac et al., 2017) whilst enzymatic antioxidants are mainly SODs, glutathione peroxidases (GPX), superoxide reductases, glutathione reductases, peroxiredoxins (PRX), thioredoxins (TRX) and catalases (Usui, Oveson, et al., 2009; Martínez-Fernández de la Cámara et al., 2013; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). This defence system is primarily regulated at the transcriptional level. Initial effect of oxidative stress involves the activation of several antioxidant transcriptional factors such as the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) or the nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor-2 (Nrf2) that modulate the expression of antioxidant enzymes (Kaspar et al., 2009; Ray et al., 2012; Xiong et al., 2015; Marengo et al., 2016). In fact, SODs are well-known effector proteins of Nrf2 (Gwarzo, 2009; Kaspar et al., 2009; Niture et al., 2013).

Under normal physiological conditions, there is a balance between ROS generation and ROS scavenging as shown in figure 1.3.6. Unbalance between ROS production and antioxidants favouring the first one, implies the occurrence of several diseases as previously described.



Figure 1.3.6. Schematic representation of redox homeostasis within cells. When ROS levels become excessive from different cellular sources, antioxidants are able to reduce them. SOD: superoxide dismutase; GSH: glutathione; GPX: glutathione peroxidase; PRX: peroxiredoxin; TRX: thioredoxin; NOX: NADPH oxidase; ER: endoplasmic reticulum; COX: cyclooxygenase; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; XO: xanthine oxidase.

Thus, the maintenance of redox homeostasis within cells is essential for their survival. A disruption in redox state can happen either by an increase in ROS production or due to a reduction in the antioxidant activity (Valko *et al.*, 2007). In the same way, a decrease in intracellular ROS levels when they become pathological, can be the consequence of reduced ROS generation or increased antioxidant machinery (Cadenas, 1997; Valko *et al.*, 2007; Moloney & Cotter, 2017).

Antioxidants are responsible for the degradation of ROS (mainly O_2^{-} and H_2O_2) to prevent oxidative damage. SOD proteins are metalloenzymes that contain copper (Cu²⁺), zinc (Zn²⁺) or manganese (Mn²⁺) in their catalytic centre and they are the most important antioxidants within this defence mechanism (Fukai & Ushio-Fukai, 2011). Intracellular members of this family of proteins are CuZn-SOD (SOD1) and Mn-SOD (SOD2), which are located in the cytosol and mitochondrial matrix, respectively (Zelko *et al.*, 2002). The third member of SOD enzymes (SOD3) has not been discussed in this thesis given its extracellular location (Pisoschi & Pop, 2015; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). Both SOD1 and SOD2 are in charge of turning superoxide anion to H_2O_2 . Given their importance within living organisms, it has been reported that knockout (KO) of SOD2 dramatically shortens lifespan of mice and the fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster* (Van Remmen *et al.*, 2003). Since OH• and other potent oxidants can be formed from H_2O_2 reduction, enzymes that effectively reduce this molecule into water (H_2O) are needed. Enzymes that accomplish such function are GPXs, PRX, TRX and catalases (Pisoschi & Pop, 2015; Reczek & Chandel, 2015).

In addition, some natural substances also act as antioxidants within the cell (López-Alarcón & Denicola, 2013). For example, ascorbic acid, also known as vitamin C, is able to scavenge hydroxyl radical and superoxide anion, preventing the oxidative decay of essential biomolecules (Du *et al.*, 2012). Similar properties have also been described in the case of vitamin E or α -tocopherol, although vitamin C efficiency has been reported as the greatest (Pisoschi & Pop, 2015). Nonetheless, these two vitamins can work together to reduce oxidative damage (Du *et al.*, 2012). These two antioxidants can be synthesised by most species of plants and animals, but not by humans, even though they have retained an absolute requirement for it, consequently, they must be taken in the diet (Benzie, 2000). Thus, our antioxidant defence system is widely influenced by nutrition owing to our lack of endogenous ascorbic acid and tocopherol production.

1.3.4. Antioxidants as therapeutic molecules

In this context, synthetic antioxidants have also been developed. Antioxidants Tiron, a vitamin E analog; N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC), a precursor of the reduced glutathione; or the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoTEMPO; are some examples that will be used throughout this thesis. All three have been shown to effectively reduce intracellular ROS levels (Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Groeger, Mackey, *et al.*, 2009; Dikalova *et al.*, 2010; Woolley *et al.*, 2013; Bordt & Polster, 2014; Taherian *et al.*, 2014; McCarthy & Kenny, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2017). McCarthy & Kenny demonstrated that targeting mitochondrial ROS through the use of MitoTEMPO, reduced endothelial dysfunction and identified mitochondria-targeted antioxidants as potential therapeutic candidates (McCarthy & Kenny, 2016).

Antioxidant supplementation has been used therefore, as a therapeutic approach to combat ROS-related diseases. There are evidences in the literature about the success of exogenous antioxidant addition in the treatment of some diseases, including RP (Jarrett *et al.*, 2006; Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007; Valko *et al.*, 2007; Dong *et al.*, 2008; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Lu *et al.*, 2009; Usui *et al.*, 2009, 2011). Komeima *et al.* demonstrated that rd1 mice treated with a mixture of antioxidants, including vitamin C and E, showed significantly greater cone photoreceptor survival and antioxidant-treated mice preserved cone function compared with the vehicle-treated controls (Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007). In fact, studies from the same group show that increased levels of SOD2 and catalase are able to reduce cone cell death in rd1 and rd10 mice (Usui *et al.*, 2009, 2011). These results are very promising for the treatment of late stages of RP when oxidative stress plays an essential role for the cone degeneration (Shen *et al.*, 2005). However, the majority of these strategies have failed so far (Nickel *et al.*, 2014; Sanz & Bernardi, 2016). The idea that increased ROS levels require their total abolishment through the use of a high amount of antioxidants might be erroneous and can be harmful for cells (Sheu *et al.*, 2006). In biological systems, nutrients may become

toxins and *vice versa* in certain circumstances (Bickham & Smolen, 1994). We cannot forget low ROS levels play a fundamental role in cell signalling. For this reason, a compound that could up-regulate the intracellular antioxidant machinery would be desirable so that cells could autoregulate their ROS levels.

In this context, studies from our laboratory demonstrated that the FDA-approved Rosiglitazone, a member of the thiazolidinedione family of synthetic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) agonists, was neuroprotective *in vitro* (661W cells) and *in vivo* (C57 and balb/c mice) against oxidative stress (Doonan *et al.*, 2009). PPARs are a family of nuclear hormone receptors that modulate a variety of functions, including anti-inflammatory activity and resistance to insulin (Shiojiri *et al.*, 2002). This compound was able to up-regulate intracellular SOD2 expression to reduce the quantity of ROS produced by stress and therefore, enhance photoreceptor survival.

Furthermore, numerous studies have shown that antioxidant activity can be also increased by progesterone and synthetic progestin treatment (Capel *et al.*, 1981; Moorthy *et al.*, 2005; Bednarek-Tupikowska *et al.*, 2006; Unfer *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2017). SODs and Nrf2 protein levels were mainly up-regulated by such treatment. According to this, our laboratory demonstrated in 2016 that Norgestrel is able to modulate Nrf2 and SOD2 expression in order to reduce oxidative damage in an induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). However, its implication in redox responses in a mouse model of inherited retinitis pigmentosa has not yet been described.

1.4. Objectives

Retinal diseases have been difficult to treat so far given that little was known about the mechanisms that lead to blindness. During the last decades, mutations in a great number of genes have been discovered to be responsible for the majority of these diseases. Unfortunately, this is not enough. In some cases, such as retinitis pigmentosa, the fact that the genetic cause of about 40-50% of RP cases is still unknown (Figure 1.1.6), suggests there is still work to be done in the understanding of this disease. This, together with the complexity of its genetics, makes the development of individual therapeutic gene-therapies an impractical task.

Despite the fact that there is currently no cure for RP, promising approaches have been studied. Progesterone has gained attention given its successfully neuroprotective effects on the brain and the retina (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005; Lu *et al.*, 2008; De Nicola *et al.*, 2013; Deutsch *et al.*, 2013; Singh & Su, 2013; Allen *et al.*, 2015; Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.*, 2015; Schumacher *et al.*, 2016). In this context, we have investigated the progesterone-analogue, Norgestrel, as a possible effective treatment for RP since it was discovered to rescue photoreceptors *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Doonan & Cotter, 2012; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b). After all these studies, we have understood the great potential of Norgestrel as a therapeutic compound in retinal diseases. This is mainly due to its effects on a wide variety of mechanisms, which include anti-inflammatory properties, the up-regulation of some neurotrophic factors and the reduction of harmful reactive oxygen species in an induced light damage model.

Since ROS have been described as important signalling molecules as well as toxic (Figure 1.3.2), the number of studies on such area has increased. The presence of high levels of ROS in diseases like RP has been demonstrated to have detrimental consequences (Punzo et al., 2012; Campochiaro et al., 2015). However, the fact that ROS are able to protect photoreceptors against stress was a surprising finding as shown in previous studies from this laboratory (Groeger et al., 2009a, 2009b, 2012; Bhatt et al., 2010). The aims of this project therefore, were firstly to investigate the role that ROS play at different time points in the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotective response in a model of retinitis pigmentosa and their relationship with the known components of the Norgestrel-mediated response, such as the progesterone receptor PGRMC1 (Wyse Jackson et al., 2016a) and the neurotrophic factor bFGF (Doonan et al., 2011; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016). We also wished to examine the possible cellular source or sources of such response, given that ROS molecules can be produced from different components within the cell (Figure 1.3.3-1.3.5). It has been previously shown that NOX enzymes produce pro-survival ROS following serum withdrawal in the 661W cone photoreceptor cell line (Groeger et al., 2009a), whereas COX proteins are responsible of such increase upon the exogenous treatment of bFGF in the same cell line (Farrell et al., 2011).

The final aim of this study was to elucidate whether these molecules are regulated by any component of the endogenous antioxidant machinery (Figure 1.3.6) in a model of retinitis pigmentosa. Several studies have linked progesterone treatment with an increase in antioxidants (Capel *et al.*, 1981; Moorthy *et al.*, 2005; Bednarek-Tupikowska *et al.*, 2006; Unfer *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2017). Our laboratory has also demonstrated that Norgestrel is able to increase antioxidants Nrf2 and SOD2 in order to enhance photoreceptor survival in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). However, this has not been studied in a genetic model of RP yet.

Chapter 2: Material and Methods

2.1. Cell culture and treatments

The mouse photoreceptor-derived 661W cell line generously provided by Dr Muayyad Al-Ubaidi (Department of Biomedical Engineering, Cullen Eye Institute, University of Houston, Houston, TX USA) was used in the experiments throughout this thesis (Al-Ubaidi *et al.*, 2008). To ensure the identity of the cell line as a cone-like cell line, RT-qPCR analysis for cone specific blue opsin (Opn1sw) and rod specific rhodopsin was performed as previously described (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a). Expression of Opn1sw confirmed a cone cell phenotype (Figure 2.1.1).



Figure 2.1.1. Validation of 661W cells as a cone photoreceptor-like cell line. Cone specific blue opsin (Opn1sw) and rod specific Rhodopsin mRNA levels were analysed by RT-qPCR in 661W cone-photoreceptor like cells. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM.

Cells were routinely grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, D6429, Sigma, Dublin, Ireland), supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS, F7524, Sigma) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P0781, Sigma). Cultures were maintained in a sterile humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% CO₂. 500,000 cells were seeded in a T75 cm² flask (Starstedt AG & Co, Nümbrecht, Germany) and allowed to attach overnight. Cells were then washed three times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) prior to addition of 20 μ M Norgestrel (N2260, Sigma) or the equivalent dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, D2650, Sigma) in complete (for untreated cells) or serum-free medium. After incubation at indicated times, cells were washed in PBS and detached using Accutase solution (A6964, Sigma).

2.2. Reagents, inhibitors and chemicals

Reagent	Function	Supplier	Cat #	Conc.	Vehicle	Duration
AG-205	PGRMC1	Sigma	A1487	1 µM	DMSO	10 min
NAC	Antioxidant	Sigma	A7250	100 µM	H ₂ O	1 h
Tiron	Antioxidant	Sigma	172553	1 mM	H ₂ O	1 h
DPI	NOX	Sigma	D2926	1 µM	DMSO	1 h
VAS2870	NOX	Sigma	SML0273	1 µM	DMSO	1 h
Rotenone	Mitochondria	R&D	3616	20 µM	DMSO	1 h
Diclofenac	COX	Sigma	D6899	1 µM	H ₂ O	1 h
MitoTEMPO	Antioxidant	Sigma	SML0737	5 μΜ	H ₂ O	1 h

Table 2.2.1. List of inhibitors and modulators used throughout the course of this thesis. R&D: R&D Systems (Abingdon, UK).

2.3. Primers

Table 2.3.1. List of primers used throughout the course of this thesis. All primers are from Qiagen (West Sussex, UK).

Gene	Qiagen primer	Product size (bp)	Ref Seq ID #
β-Actin	QT00095242	149	NM_007393
GAPDH	QT00199388	144	NM_008084 XM_001003314 XM_990238 NM_001001303 NM_001289726
HPRT	QT00166768	168	NM_013556
OPN1SW	QT00257292	107	NM_007538
Rhodopsin	QT00099022	78	NM_145383 XM_006505860 XM_006505861

Chapter 2					
bFGF	QT00128135	138	NM_008006		
NOX2	QT00139797	146	NM_007807 XM_006527565		
NOX4	QT00126042	75	NM_015760 NM_001285833 NM_001285835 XM_006508010 XM_006508011 XM_006508012		
SOD1	QT00165039	88	NM_011434 XM_128337		
SOD2	QT00161707	159	NM_013671		
NRF2	QT00095270	77	NM_010902		

2.4. Antibodies

Table 2.4.1. List of antibodies used throughout the course of this thesis. WB: Western Blotting, IF: Immunofluorescence. BD: BD Biosciences Europe (Oxford, UK), Novus Bio: Novus Biologicals (Abingdon, UK), Santa Cruz: Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Heidelberg, Germany).

Gene	Supplier	Cat #	Host	Dilution WB	Dilution IF
β-Actin	Sigma	A5441	Mouse monoclonal		1:500
bFGF	BD	610073	Mouse monoclonal		1:250
NOX2	BD	611414	Mouse monoclonal	1:500	1:200
NOX4	Novus	NB110- 58851	Rabbit polyclonal	1:500	1:200
p22 ^{phox}	Santa Cruz	CS9	Mouse monoclonal		1:250
SOD1	Abcam	13498	Rabbit polyclonal	1:500	
SOD2	Abcam	13533	Rabbit polyclonal	1:500	1:200
pNrf2 (S40)	Abcam	76026	Rabbit monoclonal	1:500	1:100
Nrf2	Abcam	31163	Rabbit polyclonal	1:500	

2.5. Flow cytometry

Cells were incubated with the following probes for 30 min at 37°C to measure intracellular ROS production: 50 μ M 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA, #35845, Sigma) or 0.5 μ M dihydroethidium conjugate with hexyl triphenylphosphonium (MitoSOX Red, M36008, Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA). The difference between these probes is that these compounds were detected at either FL-1 (530 nm) or FL-2 (585 nm), respectively, by a FACScan flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Oxford, UK) with ROS production indicated by an increase in fluorescence. All samples were gated using the healthy population of the untreated sample and 10,000 gated events per sample were collected in the experiments. Each experimental condition was performed in technical triplicates and all graphs represent data obtained from at least three independent experiments. CellQuest software (Becton Dickinson) was used for data analysis.

2.6. MTS assay for cell viability

A colorimetric tetrazolium (MTS) assay (G3580; Cell Titer 96 AQueous One Solution kit, Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was used to determine the number of viable cells (Penha *et al.*, 2013; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016b). 4,000 cells per well were seeded in 96-well culture plates (Starstedt). At 24 h post seeding, cells were washed and treated for times indicated. 20 μ l of MTS solution was added to each well and incubated at 37°C in dark for the same time as treatment, leaving it for a maximum of 4 h in the case of 6, 24 or 48 h treatment. The quantity of formazan product as measured by absorbance at 490 nm with a Spectramax Plus 384 microplate reader (Molecular Device Corporation, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) is directly proportional to the number of living cells in culture. A further reading at 650 nm was also taken from all wells and deducted from the 490 nm readings to account for any cellular debris. Untreated healthy cells were used as the 100% viable control. In all experiments entailing inhibitors, a control was carried out for every individual concentration. All samples were carried out in 6 replicates in a total of at least three independent experiments.

2.7. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) silencing

661W cells (300,000) were seeded in a T75 flask (Starstedt) the day before transfection. Both 25 nM FGF2 siRNA (GS14173, Qiagen) and AllStars Negative Control siRNA (Qiagen) were transfected and incubated for 24-48 h before treatment using HiPerFect Transfection Reagent (Qiagen). Mock-transfected cells (treated with HiPerFect Transfection Reagent alone) were included as a control to determine effects of transfection process (Figure 2.7.1) and negative control siRNA (Scrambled) was used to detect non-specific changes in phenotype or gene expression. Cells were then washed three times in PBS followed by treatment with 20 μM Norgestrel or DMSO (vehicle) in serum-free medium. siRNA knockdown was validated by RT-qPCR and immunofluorescence.



Figure 2.7.1. bFGF expression was not affected by transfection process itself. AllStar Negative Control siRNA (Scrambled) and cells treated with transfection reagent only (Mock) confirmed non-specific effects on bFGF expression produced by the transfection reagent or process, analysed by RT-qPCR.

2.8. Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR- associated proteins (Cas) system

The clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPRassociated protein 9 (Cas9) is a natural RNA-guided DNA nuclease system used by archaea and bacteria for the degradation of foreign genetic material (Mojica *et al.*, 2005). Cells were seeded (100,000) in antibiotic-free standard growth DMEM (Sigma) in a 6-well culture plate (Starstedt) and allowed to attach overnight. 5 μ l of UltraCruz® Transfection Reagent (sc-395739, Santa Cruz) were added to 1 μ g of NOX4 Double Nickase Plasmid (m) (sc-424443-NIC, Santa Cruz) (Figure 2.8.1) and incubate it for 48 h. The addition of transfection reagent alone was used as a negative control. After transfection, cells were treated with 1 μ g/ml puromycin antibiotic for 6 days. Colonies were analysed to confirm complete allelic knockouts by immunofluorescence and western blotting.



Figure 2.8.1. Double Nickase Plasmid from Santa Cruz. Double Nickase Plasmid consist of a pair of plasmids each encoding a D10A mutated Cas9 nuclease and a target-specific 20 nt guide RNA (gRNA or sgRNA) designed to knockout gene expression with greater specificity than its CRISPR/Cas9 KO counterpart. One plasmid in the pair contains a puromycin resistance gene for selection and the other, a green fluorescent protein (GFP) marker to visually confirm transfection. Modified from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. website.

2.9. Mice

All animals were handled and maintained following the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology statement for the Use of Animals in Ophthalmic and Vision Research (License Number AE19130/P009). Experiments were approved by University College Cork Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee. Both male and female homozygous rd10/rd10 mice (B6.CXBI-Pde6b^{rd10/J}) were used and C57BL/6 mice (C57) were used as controls. Mice were supplied by the Biological Services Unit (BSU), University College Cork and were humanely euthanised by cervical dislocation (Hwang & Iuvone 2013).

2.9.1. Retinal explant culture

C57BL/6 and rd10 mice were sacrificed at postnatal day 30 (P30) or P15, respectively, by cervical dislocation and decapitated. The removed heads were wiped clean with tissue soaked in 70% ethanol and transported in to a laminar flow cabinet. From this point on, all handling was performed aseptically. Eyes were enucleated (Jin & Xiang 2012) and placed in to R16 medium (recipe from P.A. Ekstrom, Wallenberg, Retina Centre, Lund University, Lund, Sweden). R16 media is made up by dissolving one vial of R16 Dry Powder Medium (basal) (#07490743A, Invitrogen Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) in 800 ml sterile dH₂O. This solution is made to a complete medium through hormones and vitamins supplementation (Table 2.9.1 – all from Sigma), 10% bovine serum albumin and 1% penicillin streptomycin (both Sigma) to a final volume of 1,000 ml and will last for up to three weeks at 4°C (Caffé *et al.*, 2001). The powder is composed of 41 ingredients that can be classified in salts, amino acids, sugars and vitamins (Table 2.9.2).

	Conc.		Conc.		Conc.
NaSeO ₃	30 nM	T3	3.1 nM	Linoleic acid	3.57 µM
MnCl ₂	5 nM	Corticosterone	57.7 nM	Linolenic acid	3.59 µM
CuSO ₄	10 nM	Thiamine HCL	8.2 μΜ	L-Cysteine	45 μΜ
NaHCO ₃	33.3 μM	Thiocitic acid	0.22 μΜ	Glutathione	3.25 μM
Biotin	0.4 μΜ	Retinol	0.35 μΜ	Na Pyruvate	454.4 μΜ
Ethanolamine	16.4 μM	Retinyl acetate	0.3 μΜ	Glutamine	171 μM
Transferrin	0.125 μΜ	Tocopherol	2.32 μM	Vitamin C	567.76 μM
Progesterone	0.02 μM	Tocopherol acetate	3.59 μM	Vitamin B12	0.23 μM
Insulin	3.33 nM				

Table 2.9.1. Supplements for R16 medium. Conc. (final concentration).

Table 2.9.2. Composition of R16 dry powder medium (basal). Conc. (final concentration).

	Conc.		Conc.		Conc.
L-Alanine	23 µM	L-Tyrosine	275 μΜ	KCl	4.29 mM
L-Arginine HCl	494 μΜ	L-Valine	562 µM	MgSO4.7H2O	680 µM
L-Asparagine	23 µM	Putrescine	180 µM	NaH2PO4.2H2O	610 µM
H2O					
L-Cystine Na ₂	134 µM	L-Carnitine	12.4 µM	Na2HPO4	230 µM
L-Glycine	292 μΜ	NaCl	103 mM	ZnSO4.7H2O	0.70 μΜ
L-Histidine	158 µM	Cytidine 5'-	1.28	Folic acid	6.79 µM
HCl.H2O		diphospho ethanolamine	mg/ml		
L-Isoleucine	546 μΜ	Sodium phenol	5.0	i-Inositol	48.7 µM
		red	mg/ml		
L-Leucine	562 µM	Glucose	19.1 mM	Nicotinamide	22.2 µM
L-Lysine HCl	585 µM	D(+)-Galactose	83 µM	Hypoxanthine	6.75 μM
L-Methionine	142 µM	D(+)-Mannose	56 µM	Riboflavine	0.74 μΜ
L-Phenylalanine	276 µM	Choline chloride	43.5 µM	Thymidine	0.67 µM
L-Proline	68 µM	Pyridoxal HCl	13.4 µM	D-calcium	5.77 μΜ
				pantothenate	
L-Serine	292 μΜ	CaCl2.2H2O	1.28 mM	Cytidine 5'-	2.56
L-Threonine	562 µM	Fe(NO3)3.9H2O	0.17 μM	aispnospno cnoline	mg/mi
L-Tryptophan	55 µM	FeSO4.7H2O	0.68 µM		

The retina was flat mounted, photoreceptor side down on top of a nitrocellulose insert (Millipore, Billerica, MA) in 6-well culture plates (Starstedt) as shown in figure 2.9.1. Explants were cultured in 1.2 ml of complete R16 media and treated with 20 μ M Norgestrel or the equivalent DMSO for the times indicated, using a total number of 4 mice per treatment.



Figure 2.9.1. Schematic representation of retinal explant culture. The lens, anterior segment, vitreous body, retinal pigment epithelium and sclera were removed and the retina was flat mounted on a nitrocellulose insert and culture with media in 6-well culture dishes.

2.9.2. Norgestrel-supplemented diet

Norgestrel-supplemented and control diets were manufactured by Testdiet (Middlesex, UK).

Norgestrel was added to the chow at a concentration of 0.05% (500 ppm). Dams of rd10

pups were given a Norgestrel-supplemented diet (LabDiet 5053, custom diet containing Norgestrel) when the pups were P10 to allow pups to receive Norgestrel in the milk. This equates to a daily intake of approximately 80 mg/kg, assuming a 30 g mouse consumes around 5 g of food/day. Specialised diet soaked in water was also added to the cage in order for pups to receive Norgestrel directly, as soon as they began to eat. These pups were also given Norgestrel-supplemented diet post-weaning. With control litters, diet changes were replicated with a control diet (LabDiet 5053 control diet). Dams were given regular chow once pups were weaned. Supplementation of a mouse maternal diet with neuroprotective agents has previously been shown to provide neuroprotection in pups (Loren *et al.*, 2005).

2.9.3. FACS analysis in retinal explants

After treatment, retinal explants were transferred to a trypsin-EDTA solution 0.25% (T4049, Sigma) containing 50 μ L deoxyribonuclease II from bovine spleen (10,000 units/ml; D8764, Sigma) and maintained at 37°C for 15 min. Single-cell suspensions were made by pipetting up and down ten times using a P1000 pipette and large debris was allowed to settle. Then, 4 ml of single-cell suspension were collected and placed into a FACS tube (BD Biosciences) and incubated with 50 μ M DCFDA for 15 min at 37°C. Fluorescence was measured using a Becton-Dickinson FACScan flow cytometer.

2.9.4. Terminal dUTP nick-end Labelling (TUNEL) of fragmented DNA

Localization of dying cells within retinal explants was assessed with the terminal dUTP nick end-labelling (TUNEL) assay (Portera-cailliau *et al.*, 1994). Retinal explants were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 30 min followed by cryoprotection in 15% sucrose in 1xPBS for 1 h, 20% sucrose for 1 h and 30% sucrose overnight, all at 4 °C. Eyes were submerged and frozen in cryochrome (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, US). Sections of 7 μ m were cut using a cryostat (Leica CM1950; Leica Co., Meath, Ireland) and collected on superfrost glass slides (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, US) and stored at -80 °C. Retinal sections were then permeabilised with 0.1% Triton X for 2 min followed by incubation with terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (M1875; Promega, Wisconsin, US) and fluorescein-12-dUTP (#11373242910; Roche, Lewes, UK) according to manufacturer's instructions. Nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst 33342 (1 μ g/mL). Sections were incubated at 37°C for 1 h in a humidified chamber. After three washes with PBS, sections were mounted in Mowiol and viewed under a fluorescence microscope (LeicaDMLB2). For each treatment, at least three animals were used and two fields (x40 magnification) per section of at least three different sections were evaluated. Quantification was performed using ImageJ software. Per section, three distinct measurements were taken and averaged from at least four sections per mouse.

2.9.5. Quantification from immunohistochemical sections

Quantification of outer nuclear layer (ONL) thickness in retinal sections was carried out using ImageJ software. Average ONL thickness, where photoreceptor nuclei are located through the use of Hoechst 33342, was measured by taking measurements from at least 20 sections per mouse. Per section, three distinct measurements were taken and averaged. Average outer segment length was measured by taking measurements from at least four sections per mouse. Three mice were analysed per group.

2.10. RNA isolation, cDNA synthesis and quantitative real time PCR (RT-qPCR)

Total RNA isolation from 661W cells and retinal explants was performed using an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) following manufacturer's protocol, including DNase treatment. 1 μ g of cDNA was synthesised using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen) to perform RTqPCR with QuantiTect Primer Assays and QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen) in 96 well-plates (Roche, West Sussex, UK). Samples were run in triplicates using LightCycler®96 Instrument (Roche) whose protocol include: denaturing at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 10 s at 95°C, 10 s at 60°C for and 10 s at 72°C. mRNA values (Ct) were obtained using LightCycler®96 Application Software (Roche) and normalised to the average of three housekeeping genes (β -Actin, GAPDH and HPRT). Relative changes in gene expression were quantified using the comparative Ct ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

2.11. Western blot analysis

Whole cell pellets and whole retinas were lysed in RIPA buffer: Tris–HCl (50 mM, pH 7.4), 1% NP-40, 0.25% sodium deoxycholate, NaCl (150 mM), EGTA (1 mM), sodium orthovanadate (1 mM), sodium fluoride (1 mM), cocktail protease inhibitors (#11836153001, Sigma) and phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride (1 mM). Cell and tissue lysates were centrifuged at 20,800 g at 4°C for 15 min and 30 min, respectively, and protein concentration was measured using a Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). 30-50 µg of protein per sample were resolved using denaturing 12% sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) followed by transfer to nitrocellulose membrane (GE10600001, Sigma). Total protein levels were analysed using REVERT total protein stain (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, US) as per manufacturer's instructions and imaged on a LI- COR scanner in the 700 channel as previously shown (Roche & Wyse-Jackson et al., 2016, Roche et al., 2017a). Membranes were blocked with 5% milk in Tris-buffered saline/0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) and incubated overnight with primary antibodies in blocking buffer. Table 2.4.1 lists the details of all primary antibodies used. Membranes were then probed with IRDye® 800 goat anti-mouse (C60726-02, LI-COR) or IRDye® 800 goat anti-rabbit (C61103-06, LI-COR) secondary antibody (1:10,000). The signal was detected with an Odyssey infrared imaging system. Western blots shown in results are representative images of three independent experiments.

2.12. Immunofluorescence

25,000 cells were seeded on glass coverslips overnight in 24-well plates (Starstedt) prior treatment. Cell were then washed in PBS and fixed with 4% PFA for 20 min at room temperature (RT). Cells and retinal sections were blocked for 30 min at RT with 5% donkey serum (containing 0.1% Triton X-100 for permeabilization). Coverslips and sections were subsequently incubated with primary antibody in 5% donkey serum overnight at 4°C. Table 2.4.1 lists the details of all primary antibodies used. After washes, conjugated secondary antibody (1:500; donkey anti-mouse/goat/rabbit with either a 488 or 594 fluorescent probe, Life Technologies, Eugene, OR, USA) was used for 1.5 h in dark at RT. All coverslips were incubated with Hoechst 33342 (1 μ g/ml) for 10 min at RT in dark to counterstain the nuclei. Coverslips were mounted on to glass slides using Mowiol and imaged using a fluorescent microscope Leica DM LB2 (Leica Co., Wetzlar, Germany).

2.13. Statistical analysis

Numerical data were compiled using Microsoft Excel (Microsoft, Dublin, Ireland) and expressed as mean \pm standard error (SEM) from at least three separate experiments, with each being performed in triplicate. In the case of two sample comparisons (e.g. vehicle vs. Norgestrel), significant differences across groups were assessed with an unpaired Student's *t*-test using the GraphPad Prism 6 software. One-way ANOVA and post hoc Tukey's test were used for multiple comparisons and post hoc Dunnett's test was used when groups were only compared with one control group (e.g. untreated, scrambled). Differences were considered significant if *P* < 0.05 indicated on the graphs with asterisks (*).

Chapter 3: Pro-survival redox signalling in progesteronemediated retinal neuroprotection

3.1. Abstract

Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is characterised by photoreceptor cell loss. Despite a substantial understanding of the mechanisms leading to cell death, an effective therapeutic strategy is sought. Our laboratory has previously demonstrated the neuroprotective properties of Norgestrel, a progesterone analogue, in the degenerating retina, mediated in part by the neurotrophic factor basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF). In other retinal studies, we have also presented a pro-survival role for reactive oxygen species (ROS), downstream of bFGF. Thus, we hypothesised that Norgestrel utilises bFGF-driven ROS production to promote photoreceptor survival. Using the 661W photoreceptor-like cell line, we now show that Norgestrel, working through progesterone receptor membrane complex 1 (PGRMC1); generates an early burst of pro-survival bFGF-induced ROS. Using the rd10 mouse model of RP, we confirm that Norgestrel induces a similar early pro-survival increase in retinal ROS. Norgestrel-driven protection in the rd10 retina was attenuated in the presence of antioxidants. This study, therefore, presents an essential role for ROS signalling in Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection *in vitro* and demonstrates that Norgestrel employs a similar pro-survival mechanism in the degenerating retina.

3.2. Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are constantly being generated under normal conditions in aerobic respiration and for many years, they were described simply as destructive byproducts of the process (Chance, 1979; Rhee, 2006; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Ray *et al.*, 2012; Song *et al.*, 2017). ROS accumulation has been associated with neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease through induction of cellular damage and mitochondrial dysfunction, worsening disease progression (Gandhi & Abramov, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2015). In retinitis pigmentosa (RP), apoptosis has also been related with a high production of ROS (Carmody & Cotter, 2000; Tao, 2016; Usui *et al.*, 2009). Despite the fact mutations causing RP mainly affect rods leading to apoptosis, cones are subsequently affected by such loss. The most accepted causes of cones cell death include the lack of growth factors production by rods (Lavail *et al.*, 1992; Corrochano *et al.*, 2008; Doonan *et al.*, 2012) and the increase in the toxic ROS levels as a consequence of the loss of rods (Shen *et al.*, 2005; Komeima *et al.*, 2006; Usui *et al.*, 2009; Campochiaro & Mir, 2017).

In recent years, however, our understanding of these molecules has changed and they are no longer associated solely with damage. It has become increasingly clear that ROS signalling is also involved in pro-survival mechanisms. It is acknowledged that ROS function as intracellular signalling molecules, when present in moderate quantities (Remacle *et al.*, 1995; Rhee, 2006; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Ray *et al.*, 2012; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). Acting as second messengers, ROS often act in a pro-survival capacity (Groeger *et al.*, 2009b; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008), with previous studies from our group highlighting a protective role for ROS in the retina (Bhatt *et al.*, 2010; Farrell *et al.*, 2011; Groeger *et al.*, 2009a, 2012; Mackey *et al.*, 2008). This is of interest, for the retina has high oxygen consumption. In addition, given that the retina is constantly converting light into neural

signals (Eshaq *et al.*, 2014), ROS are consequently produced from endogenous sources (Bhatt *et al.*, 2010; Kim *et al.*, 2015; Nishimura & Hara, 2016).

Cytokines and neurotrophic factors have shown promise as therapeutics for neurodegenerative disorders, due to their neuroprotective effects and their ability to delay degeneration in RP and a variety of other diseases (Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014). The main neurotrophic factors that are produced by the RPE and therefore, are important in the treatment of RP are vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014). Several studies suggest that these molecules can modulate the production of ROS in different systems (Ilatovskaya et al., 2013; Kirkland et al., 2007; Lo & Cruz, 1995), including various cell types of the retina (He et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2009). Indeed, we have shown that bFGF is linked to ROS synthesis in the retina (Groeger et al., 2012; O'Driscoll et al., 2008). More recent studies from our group have presented the synthetic progesterone, Norgestrel, as a potential therapeutic for retinal degeneration (Byrne et al., 2016a, 2016b; Doonan et al., 2011; Roche & Wyse-Jackson et al., 2016, Wyse-Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Roche et al., 2017a, 2017b). Working primarily through activation of progesterone receptor membrane complex 1 (PGRMC1) (Wyse Jackson et al., 2016a, 2016b), we have shown Norgestrel's protective effects are dependent on bFGF production.

Therefore, in light of the above studies, we hypothesised that Norgestrel utilises bFGFdriven ROS production to promote photoreceptor survival. The current study was designed to examine the role of ROS in Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Serum deprivation induces a pro-survival production of ROS in 661W cells

The cessation of trophic support has been related with the death of cones after rods die as a consequence of mutations in RP (Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2008; Finnegan *et al.*, 2010; Athanasiou *et al.*, 2018). Thus, serum starvation (SS) has been used as a model of cellular stress. It has been reported that ROS are produced as a consequence of serum deprivation in the cone-photoreceptor 661W cell line (Mackey *et al.*, 2008) and other cell lines (Li *et al.*, 2013). In order to corroborate this, cells were incubated with 50 μ M 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFDA, Figure 3.3.1), one of the most commonly used probes for detecting intracellular ROS levels (Eruslanov & Kusmartsev, 2010; Karlsson *et al.*, 2010). For the flow cytometry analyses, untreated 661W cells (UT) were used to gate the population used in all subsequent experiments (Figure 3.3.2).



Figure 3.3.1. DCFDA was used to detect intracellular ROS levels. Different concentrations were analysed by flow cytometry in order to find an optimal peak of fluorescence. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. 50 μ M was used in all subsequent experiments.

According with the results obtained by Mackey *et al.* and Li *et al.*, SS produces a rapid increase in the ROS production *in vitro* (Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2013). A significant increase in ROS was observed in this study at 30 min and up to 1 h in serum-starved cells compared to vehicle control (one-way ANOVA, serum starvation effect, $F_{4,39} = 66.91$, P < 0.0001; Dunnett's *post hoc* test, 30 min: P < 0.0001; 1 h: P = 0.003; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.3).


Figure 3.3.2. Untreated 661W cells (UT) were used to gate the population analysed in all subsequent experiments.



Figure 3.3.3. Serum starvation increases ROS levels in 661W cells. DCFDA probe was used to detect ROS levels by flow cytometry and plotted on a histogram. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (Dunnett's *post hoc* test, comparing all time points to the UT control). Cells following serum starvation (SS) increased ROS levels at 30 min and up to 1 h. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (** *P* < 0.01, **** *P* < 0.0001).

Increased ROS production has been described to be related to autophagy, a mechanism that can isolate damaged organelles and cellular biomolecules to subsequently increase in the survival of the remaining cells, in some cell types (Li *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, Mackey *et al.* also demonstrated that the increase in ROS levels activates the protein kinase B (Akt) survival pathway (Mackey *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, in order to establish whether this burst of ROS is beneficial to 661W cells in this study, different concentrations of the antioxidants sodium 4,5-dihydroxybenzene-1,3-disulfonate (Tiron) or N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) were used to inhibit the increase in ROS (Taherian *et al.*, 2014). 1mM and 100 μ M of Tiron and NAC, respectively, showed no cell death compared with the vehicle (Figure 3.3.4(i)) and significantly decreased ROS levels (independent samples *t*-test, Tiron: *t* ₁₆ = 7.313, *P* < 0.0001; NAC: *t* ₁₆ = 2.324, *P* = 0.0336, *n* = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.4(ii) and Figure 3.3.5A).



Figure 3.3.4. Tiron and NAC decrease ROS formation in 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring cell viability (i) and DCFDA fluorescence (ii) of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of antioxidants, Tiron (A) and NAC (B) (*t*-test comparing individual treatments to their vehicle control) for 1 h in completed media. FACS analysis: *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the x-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed (*t*-test comparing individual treatments to their timed vehicle control). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05**, *P* < 0.01, **** *P* < 0.0001).

Cells pre-treated with vehicle and maintained in serum-free media for 30 min displayed a decrease in cellular viability compared to untreated cells (one-way ANOVA, serum starvation effect, $F_{3,88} = 30.63$, P = 0.0008; Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test, P < 0.0001; n = 4 per group; Figure 3.3.5B). Pre-treatment with Tiron or NAC resulted in a further decrease in cell viability (Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test, Tiron: P < 0.0001; NAC: P < 0.0001). These data suggest that the presence of ROS is essential for cells to survive normally, given that cells treated with Tiron or NAC showed even more cell death than cells treated with vehicle control only (Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test, Tiron: P = 0.004; NAC: P = 0.0411), corroborating previous studies (Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Groeger, *et al.*, 2009a, 2009b; Farrell *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 3.3.5. Serum deprivation induces a pro-survival production of ROS in 661W cells. (A) Antioxidants Tiron and NAC decreased the ROS production in 661W cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments to their vehicle control). *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. (B) Changes in cell viability were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons). SS (vehicle) decreased cell viability at 30 min. Stressed cells pre-treated with antioxidants showed a further decrease in survival compared with the vehicle. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01, **** *P* < 0.0001).

3.3.2. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in serumdeprived 661W cells

Previous studies have documented the protective effects of progesterone in the retina (Allen *et al.*, 2015; Sánchez-Vallejo *et al.*, 2015), including the progesterone analogue Norgestrel in the stressed 661W photoreceptor-like cell line (Doonan *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016). However, ROS implication in this response has not been studied yet. Here, we sought to understand the role that ROS play in the Norgestrel-mediated protection. By means of flow cytometry analyses, Norgestrel significantly increased ROS levels at 30 min following serum-starvation compared to vehicle control (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₁₈ = 3.277, *P* = 0.0042; *n* = 3.4 per group; Figure 3.3.6A). The use of DMSO as vehicle also increased ROS levels at all time points compared with the UT cells (Figure 3.3.6A), possibly through its anti-inflammatory effects as previously described (Elisia *et al.*, 2016). For this reason, these serum starved samples are not comparable with samples in figure 3.3.3.

Norgestrel has been demonstrated to protect 661W cells against the cell death produced by 24 h following the stress caused by nitric oxide donor sodium nitroprusside (SNP) or SS (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016). In this study, MTS assay was used to analyse cellular viability and proliferation with Norgestrel over time. Norgestrel enhanced cell survival at all time points studied (independent samples *t*-test, 30 min: $t_{34} = 3.503$, P = 0.0015; 1 h: $t_{34} = 3.805$, P = 0.0006; 3 h: $t_{34} = 4.182$, P = 0.0002; 6 h: $t_{34} = 2.644$, P = 0.0105; n = 3-4 per group; Figure 3.3.6B), suggesting that ROS production is linked to an increase in cell survival.

In order to test this hypothesis, the antioxidants Tiron and NAC were again used to block the increase in ROS 1 h prior to Norgestrel treatment. Cells pre-treated with vehicle (H₂O) were

protected by Norgestrel following 30 min of serum deprivation (independent samples *t*-test, *t* $_{33} = 3.002$, P = 0.0051; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.6C). However, Norgestrel was no longer protective in the presence of the antioxidants compared with the vehicle only (Tiron: $t_{40} =$ 3.916, P = 0.0003; NAC: $t_{41} = 6.204$, P < 0.0001; n = 4 per group). Thus, the protective effects of Norgestrel in serum-deprived 661W cells are dependent on ROS production.



Figure 3.3.6. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in serum-deprived 661W cells. (A) FACS analysis of 661W cells treated with 20 μ M Norgestrel or vehicle control (DMSO) following SS. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the x-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). ROS production was increased by Norgestrel at 30 min. (B) MTS assay showed Norgestrel enhanced cell survival in all time points studied compared with the vehicle control (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). (C) Antioxidants were used to reduce ROS production following serum starvation. Norgestrel was able to rescue cells pre-treated with the vehicle (H₂O), whereas Norgestrel was no longer protective in the presence of antioxidans (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Results are presented as mean ± SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01, *** *P* < 0.001, **** *P* < 0.0001).

3.3.3. Norgestrel accelerates the early survival response in stressed 661W cells

The early ROS-mediated response which takes place in the first minutes after serum deprivation has been documented to induce cell survival (Groeger et al., 2009a; Mackey et al., 2008). Furthermore, according with some studies, the exogenous addition of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) can activate the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) (Schreck *et al.*, 1991; Kaul & Forman, 1996; Forman, 2007) and prolongs the activation of the survival Akt pathway, delays the activation of the cell death cascade and therefore, enhances survival of 661W cells (Mackey *et al.*, 2008). In this context, Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection in 661W cells also involves the increase in the levels of pro-survival ROS as seen in figure 3.3.6. Thus, to examine the effects of Norgestrel on this early pro-survival burst of ROS compared with the response produced by the serum deprivation itself, cells were serum-starved and treated with either Norgestrel or vehicle (DMSO) for shorter time points of 1-20 min. Norgestrel treatment increased ROS levels from 5 min (independent samples *t*-test, t 16 = 7.748, P < 0.0001; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.7A) compared to serum starved control (vehicle).

The study of the whole response over time showed that increased levels of ROS were maintained up to 30 min following Norgestrel treatment (10 min: t 16 = 2.172, P = 0.0463; 20 min: t 16 = 3.665, P = 0.0021; 30 min: t 18 = 3.277, P = 0.0042; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.7B) but no difference in response was detected beyond this point. These data show that Norgestrel enhances the early pro-survival response of increased ROS levels in serum-starved 661W cells in a quicker manner compared with the serum-starved control, accelerating the pro-survival signalling to enhance cell survival.



Figure 3.3.7. Norgestrel accelerates the early survival response in stressed 661W cells. (A) Various time points up to 30 min were analysed following Norgestrel treatment by flow cytometry and plotted on a histogram. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). Norgestrel induced a significantly higher response compared with vehicle from 5 min. (B) Timeline of ROS levels in response to Norgestrel in stressed 661W cells. Norgestrel stimulated increased ROS production from 5 min and up to 30 min when levels reverted to normal. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, **** P < 0.0001).

3.3.4. Norgestrel signals through PGRMC1 to mediate redox signalling

Previous studies have shown that PGRMC1, a membrane-localised progesterone receptor, is responsible for the neuroprotective actions of progesterone and Norgestrel (Cahill, 2007; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a). Therefore, FACS analysis was performed in order to investigate its role in ROS production. The specific inhibitor AG-205 was used to block PGRMC1 in stressed 661W cells in a concentration that does not affect cellular viability (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016b). The burst of ROS produced by Norgestrel (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{16} =$ 4.096, P = 0.0008; n = 3 per group; Fig. 3.3.8) was abrogated when PGRMC1 was inhibited as detected by decreased DCFDA fluorescence intensity ($t_{16} = 0.9794$, P = 0.342; n = 3 per group), suggesting the importance of the receptor in this response.



Figure 3.3.8. Norgestrel signals through progesterone receptor membrane component 1 (PGRMC1) to mediate redox signalling. 661W cells were treated with the PGRMC1 specific inhibitor AG-205 prior to serum starvation for 30 min and Norgestrel treatment. DMSO was used as vehicle control. DCFDA probe was used to detect ROS levels by flow cytometry and plotted on a histogram. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). PGRMC1 inhibition abrogated the burst of ROS produced by Norgestrel. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, *** *P* < 0.001).

3.3.5. Inhibition of bFGF abrogates the Norgestrel-induced increase in ROS in serum-starved 661W cells

We have previously shown that Norgestrel elicits its neuroprotective effects in 661W cells at least in part by up-regulating the growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016). In other studies, addition of bFGF led to increased ROS production in the photoreceptors of retinal explants (O'Driscoll *et al.*, 2007, 2008; Farrell *et al.*, 2011). We therefore sought to establish if Norgestrel-induced increase in ROS was dependent on bFGF activity. Firstly, we show that serum starvation alone in 661W cells does not up-regulate bFGF expression (one-way ANOVA, serum starvation effect, $F_{4,51} = 1.924$, P = 0.1206; n = 3.4 per group; Figure 3.3.9(i)). However, when treated with Norgestrel, 661W cells displayed increased expression of bFGF following 30 min of SS (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{21} = 2.844$, P = 0.0097; n = 4 per group; Figure 3.3.9(ii)).



Figure 3.3.9. Norgestrel up-regulates bFGF expression in serum-starved 661W cells. bFGF mRNA levels were measured in 661W following SS ((i), Dunnett's post hoc test, comparing all time points to the UT control) and treated with Norgestrel over time by RT-PCR ((ii), *t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). bFGF up-regulation only took place in the presence of Norgestrel. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, ** P < 0.01).

To understand whether bFGF is involved in the redox response produced by Norgestrel at 30 min, siRNA was used to knockdown bFGF over 48 h. A significant reduction in bFGF expression was verified through RT-qPCR (one-way ANOVA, time of incubation siRNA, *F*

 $_{2,15} = 65.95$, P < 0.0001; Dunnett's *post hoc* test, 24 h: P = 0.0002; 48 h: P < 0.0001; n = 2 per group; Figure 3.3.10A) and by immunofluorescence (Figure 3.3.10B).



Figure 3.3.10. Successful siRNA knockdown of bFGF. bFGF levels detected by RT-PCR (A) and immunofluorescence (B) in 661W cells transfected with siRNA targeted against bFGF. Scale bar 30 μ m. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (*** *P* < 0.001, **** *P* < 0.0001).

siRNA-treated cells were then serum-starved and treated with either DMSO (vehicle) or 20 μ M Norgestrel for 30 min before ROS were measured using DCFDA. Norgestrel was unable to increase ROS when bFGF was knocked down, suggesting that this response is bFGF-dependent (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₃₇ = 0.2197, *P* = 0.8277; *n* = 5 per group; Figure 3.3.11).



Figure 3.3.11. Inhibition of bFGF abrogates Norgestrel-induced increases in ROS in serumstarved 661W cells. FACS analysis of cells transfected with bFGF siRNA treated with DMSO or Norgestrel. Y-axis represents cell counts, x-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the x-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). bFGF knockdown prevented the increase of ROS produced by Norgestrel (scrambled vs siRNA). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, *** P < 0.001).

3.3.6. Norgestrel induces an increase in ROS production in photoreceptors *ex vivo*

Our understanding of RP and the development of therapeutic strategies have improved due to the use of several animal models of this disease. One of such models is the rd10 mouse, which is a good approach for studying autosomal recessive RP (Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Rivas & Vecino, 2009; Arroba *et al.*, 2011; Roche *et al.*, 2016; Campochiaro & Mir, 2017). Results from this study thus far demonstrate that Norgestrel, through bFGF, utilises ROS signalling to promote neuronal survival of the 661W cell line. Therefore, we next sought to evaluate the contribution of ROS to Norgestrel-mediated protection of photoreceptors in the retina. Using retinas from rd10 mice we prepared single-cell suspensions as previously described, to be used for FACS analysis (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). In order to confirm the photoreceptor population, we compared a P30 C57 wild-type retinal preparation to that of a P30 rd10. The rd10 retina has undergone extensive photoreceptor loss by P30 (Roche *et al.*, 2016). Thus, since the C57 wild-type retina presented a population of cells that were absent from the rd10 retina (Figure 3.3.12), we understood this population to represent photoreceptors. This method of gating rd10 photoreceptors has previously been published (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b).



Figure 3.3.12. Gated population used in the experiments performed by FACS. Photoreceptor population was gated using P30 C57BL/6 wild type (i) and rd10 retinas (ii), as this population was absent from rd10 retinas.

We subsequently evaluated the effects of Norgestrel on single-cell suspensions from P15 rd10 retinas, a suitable time point as photoreceptors have initiated cell death mechanisms but photoreceptor loss is not yet apparent (Roche *et al.*, 2016; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016). Retinal explants were treated with either 20 μ m Norgestrel or DMSO (vehicle) over 3 hours and analysed for changes in photoreceptor ROS production. The population of photoreceptors from rd10 retinas treated with Norgestrel showed an increase in ROS production compared to those treated with vehicle control, at 30 min and 1 h (independent samples *t*-test, 30 min: $t_{22} = 2.486$, P = 0.021; 1 h: $t_{22} = 3.723$, P = 0.0013; n = 4 per group; Figure 3.3.13).



Figure 3.3.13. Norgestrel increases ROS production in photoreceptors *ex vivo*. FACS analysis of photoreceptors using single cell suspensions from P15 rd10 retinas. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed and individual Norgestrel treatments were compared to their timed DMSO vehicle control (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel up-regulated ROS levels at 30 min and up to 1 h. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01).

Retinal explants have been used in the past to study Norgestrel effects on cell death over 24 h assessed by TUNEL assay (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a). However, shorter time points to elucidate Norgestrel effects have not been utilised yet. Interestingly, Norgestrel-mediated reduction in photoreceptor cell death was only evident at 1 h, as assessed by the TUNEL assay (independent samples *t*-test, independent samples *t*-test, 30 min: $t_{20} = 0.1706$, P = 0.8663; 1 h: $t_{18} = 3.211$, P = 0.0068; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.14). Therefore, we observed an increase in ROS prior to the Norgestrel-mediated protection of photoreceptors.



Figure 3.3.14. Norgestrel reduces photoreceptor cell death in retinal explants. Apoptosis of retinal cells in the outer nuclear layer (ONL) was detected by TUNEL (green) at 30 min (i) and at 1 h (ii). Norgestrel reduced TUNEL-positive staining in the central rd10 retina after 1 h treatment, but not at 30 min compared with the vehicle control (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Scale bar 50 μ m. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, ** *P* < 0.01).

In order to determine if this increase in photoreceptor ROS is necessary for Norgestrelmediated protection in rd10 explants, we utilised the antioxidant Tiron. C57 explants pretreated with 1mM Tiron showed a significant decrease in their basal levels of ROS compared to H₂O vehicle control, as indicated by flow cytometry. This suggests that 1 mM Tiron is a suitable method by which to abrogate ROS production in retinal explants (independent samples *t*-test $t_{16} = 3.337$, P = 0.0042; n = 3 per group; Figure 3.3.15A). P15 rd10 explants were consequently pre-treated for 1 h with 1 mM Tiron before 1 h treatment with Norgestrel or DMSO (vehicle). TUNEL assay revealed that Norgestrel could no longer protect rd10 explants from photoreceptor cell death over 1 h, when ROS production was inhibited through Tiron antioxidant (independent samples *t*-test $t_{29} = 0.06121$, P = 0.9516; n = 4 per group; Figure 3.3.15B). This supports our findings in 661Ws that Norgestrel initiates a prosurvival burst of ROS, assisting in the survival of retinal photoreceptor cells.



Figure 3.3.15. Norgestrel induces a pro-survival production of ROS in photoreceptors *ex vivo*. (A) FACS analysis of photoreceptors from C57BL/6 retinas. Treatment with antioxidant Tiron for 1 h reduced significantly ROS levels. (B) TUNEL assay in ONL of P15 rd10 retinas. Norgestrel was not able to reduce TUNEL-positive staining after 1 h treatment in the presence of Tiron. Scale bar 50 μ m. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, ** *P* < 0.01).

3.4. Discussion

Studies investigating the role of reactive oxygen species in cell survival have uncovered contrasting findings (Burdon, 1995; Rhee, 2006; Trachootham et al., 2008; Gough & Cotter, 2011; Ray et al., 2012; Schieber & Chandel, 2014; Leveillard & Sahel, 2016; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). These molecules are thought to be in part responsible for the death of cones after the loss of rods in RP (Shen et al., 2005; Komeima et al., 2006, 2008; Barhoum et al., 2008; Usui et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2015; Campochiaro & Mir, 2017). On the other hand, their role as signalling molecules to enhance cell survival has also been well studied during the last decades (Remacle et al., 1995; Abid et al., 2000; Lee, Yu, et al., 2003; Rhee, 2006; D'Autréaux & Toledano, 2007; Trachootham et al., 2008; Bae et al., 2011; Finkel, 2011; Gough & Cotter, 2011; Ray et al., 2012; Marinho et al., 2014; Schieber & Chandel, 2014; Brandes et al., 2014b; Tao, Geng, et al., 2016; Battistelli et al., 2016; Brand, 2016; Harel et al., 2017). In the retina, our group has previously documented both protective and detrimental properties of ROS signalling (Carmody et al., 1999; Sanvicens et al., 2004; Sanvicens & Cotter, 2006; Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Mackey et al., 2008; O'Driscoll et al., 2008; Groeger et al., 2009a; Bhatt et al., 2010; Farrell et al., 2011; O 'Driscoll et al., 2011; Groeger et al., 2012; Byrne et al., 2016b).

Under normal conditions, cells maintain a delicate balance between ROS production and elimination through many mechanisms. Thus, any alteration that disrupts this redox homeostasis can cause an increase of intracellular ROS and thus, oxidative stress. In this way, ROS become cytotoxic under specific conditions. For instance if an increased production occurs at the wrong time or place, if the signal is too strong or if it persists for long periods of time (Nathan & Cunningham-Bussel, 2013; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008). Several therapeutic strategies of the retina have utilised this system: increasing antioxidant machinery in order to reduce oxidative stress and increase survival (Komeima *et al.*, 2006,

2007; Lu *et al.*, 2009; Taherian *et al.*, 2014). Komeima *et al.* proved that injections in rd1 and rd10 mice, both models of RP, with a cocktail of antioxidant substances between P18 and P35, significantly reduced oxidative damage markers which resulted in an increase in a higher cone density and improved their functionality in the retina (Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007). Indeed, studies from our group establish that Norgestrel can reduce the damaging ROS levels produced after 24-48 h light exposure. This enhances neuroprotection in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model of retinal degeneration, and involves the up-regulation of the antioxidant transcription factor NF-E2-related factor-2 (Nrf2) (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Norgestrel, therefore, is able to act as an antioxidant when ROS levels become toxic to the retina after the damage produced by a long exposure to light.

Nevertheless, to state that these molecules are always damaging would be an oversimplification, for ROS can have opposing effects under different physiological conditions. In fact, under normal physiological conditions, moderate levels of ROS participate in many biological processes as second messengers or intermediates (Holmström & Finkel, 2014; Remacle *et al.*, 1995; Rhee, 2006). For this reason, the implication of ROS in survival responses has gained attention. Previous studies from our laboratory have shown that hydrogen peroxide acts as a second messenger in intracellular signalling pathways inducing cell survival in 661W cells and C57BL/6 retinal explants (Groeger *et al.*, 2009a; 2009b; Mackey *et al.*, 2008). The current study also reveals how these molecules have a survival nature in the first 30 min of 661W serum deprivation (Figure 3.3.3). In light of previous and current findings, it therefore appears that ROS signalling can play a protective or detrimental role depending on the intensity, cellular location and period of the event.

In 2009, the synthetic progesterone Norgestrel was found by this group to possess neuroprotective effects due to a study in the cone photoreceptor 661W cell line (Doonan *et*

al., 2009, 2011). Since then, Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection has been demonstrated in different neuronal/retinal degeneration models (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b). In those studies, Norgestrel has been involved in many responses in order to enhance cell survival. Such responses mainly consist of the up-regulation of some neurotrophic factors (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016), the attenuation of inflammation and gliosis processes produced by RP in the rd10 retina (Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b) and the reduction of harmful ROS levels in a light damage model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b).

However, its mechanism of action at earlier time points is not well understood yet. The importance of the current study, therefore, was to comprehend the role that ROS play in an earlier response following Norgestrel treatment. Norgestrel, acting through the progesterone receptor PGRMC1 (Figure 3.3.8) (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a), increases some neurotrophic factors expression such as bFGF (Figure 3.3.11) (Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016) and the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Byrne *et al.*, 2016a), resulting in an early up-regulation of ROS levels in 661W cells (Figure 3.3.6 and 3.3.7). In fact, the relationship between progesterone-mediated neuroprotection and the stimulation of growth factors production is not surprising. Progesterone has been stablished to be protective due to the up-regulation of growth factors such as bFGF or the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in multiple neurodegenerative models (Campochiaro *et al.*, 1996; Peluso & Pappalardo, 1999; Gonzalez Deniselle *et al.*, 2003; Peluso, 2003; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005; Yu *et al.*, 2010; Espinosa-García *et al.*, 2014; Qin *et al.*, 2015).

Decreasing ROS production using two different antioxidants (Tiron and NAC) revealed the survival nature of these molecules (Figure 3.3.5 and 3.3.6). Tiron, a vitamin E analog which acts as a superoxide scavenger, and NAC, being a precursor of the reduced glutathione, have been previously used as antioxidant compounds (Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Groeger, Mackey, *et al.*, 2009; Taherian *et al.*, 2014). This result highlights the importance of moderate levels of ROS as intermediate molecules in the Norgestrel-mediated signalling. Future studies will investigate the downstream pathways stimulated by ROS up-regulation, leading to enhanced survival.

Results from the 661W photoreceptor-like cell line so far (Figure 3.3.1-3.3.11) suggested that Norgestrel's neuroprotective role in the retina involved an up-regulation of pro-survival ROS. In order to substantiate this claim, we next employed the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. The rd10 mouse model represents a very useful tool when it comes to study retinal neurodegeneration, allowing for development of potential therapeutics (Pittler & Baehr, 1991; Barhoum et al., 2008; Samardzija et al., 2012; Han et al., 2013; Cuenca et al., 2014; Roche et al., 2016). Through the use of rd10 mice, our group has discovered the mechanisms behind the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection ex vivo and in vivo (Doonan et al., 2011; Roche & Wyse-Jackson et al., 2016; Roche et al., 2017a, 2017b). Roche & Wyse-Jackson et al. showed that mice who were given a Norgestrel-supplemented diet showed significant retinal protection compared with the control diet. This was in part achieved by the anti-inflammatory properties of Norgestrel, which attenuates microglial activity in the diseased retina (Roche & Wyse-Jackson et al., 2016) and reduces the gliosis produced by the crosstalk between microglia and Müller glial cells (Roche et al., 2017b). These studies demonstrate the effectiveness of Norgestrel and its capacity to produce a wide response within the retina to enhance neuroprotection. However, there is little information on the role of ROS in the Norgestrel-mediated response in the rd10 retina.

Using single cell suspensions of rd10 retinal explants for FACS analysis, we investigated the response of photoreceptors to Norgestrel, in terms of ROS levels. Given that the aim of the study was to analyse the response in the photoreceptor layer, we harvested retinas at P15, prior to the loss of photoreceptors which takes place from P18~P21 in the rd10 retina (Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Samardzija *et al.*, 2012; Roche *et al.*, 2016). The time course of the retinal degeneration is slower in the rd10 model compared with others, such as the rd1, in which rods begin to die around P8~P10 (Chang *et al.*, 2007; Barhoum *et al.*, 2008). Norgestrel produced a similar early increase in ROS levels from 30 min in photoreceptors of the rd10 retina (Figure 3.3.13). We hypothesise that this peak in the production of ROS might be in some part responsible for the proceeding decrease in TUNEL-positive staining observed at 1 h following Norgestrel treatment, in light of our findings in 661W cells and rd10 explants pre-treated with antioxidants (Figure 3.3.14 and 3.3.15). In support of this, ROS have been implicated in survival mechanisms in the retina (Groeger *et al.*, 2009a, 2012) and in other systems (Mackenzie *et al.*, 2013; Shafique *et al.*, 2013; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008).

This study presents an important aspect to Norgestrel's neuroprotective properties, upregulating ROS production as an immediate response, through the activation of PGRMC1 and increased production of bFGF (Figure 3.4.1). This early burst of ROS is an essential step, as Norgestrel's neuroprotective effects are prevented in the presence of antioxidants. Although this early burst of ROS is short-lived, the protective effects of Norgestrel persist for several weeks in a mouse model of RP (Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016), with Norgestrel affecting various cellular and molecular targets throughout the course of degeneration (Byrne *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b; Roche & Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b). The current study therefore reinforces the prospect of Norgestrel as a promising therapeutic for retinal degeneration, utilising ROS signalling in the early stages of injury to promote survival.



Figure 3.4.1. Schematic representation of Norgestrel-mediated pro-survival redox signalling. This shows the proposed pathway Norgestrel uses to promote neuroprotection in serum-starved 661W cells, including the compounds used to inhibit each step.

Chapter 4: Progesterone analogue 'Norgestrel' stimulates NOX4 to induce ROS-mediated protection in stressed photoreceptor cells

4.1. Abstract

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been related not only to cellular damage, but also to survival responses in recent years. Our laboratory has demonstrated that these molecules participate in protecting both the 661W photoreceptor-like cell line and the rd10 retina, a model of retinitis pigmentosa (RP), following the treatment with the progesterone analogue, Norgestrel. We already know this compound involves a great variety of responses to induce neuroprotection in the diseased retina. One of such effects is that Norgestrel uses the neurotrophic factor basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) to stimulate intracellular ROS production in early stages under stress conditions. However, the mechanism by which ROS levels are increased remains unclear. This study is therefore focused on delineating the source of the Norgestrel-mediated redox signalling. Through the use of specific inhibitors in the photoreceptor-derived 661W cell line, we confirm that this increase in pro-survival ROS levels stimulated as a consequence of the treatment with Norgestrel, is produced by NADPH oxidases (NOX), specifically NOX4. Furthermore, we also demonstrate that mitochondria and cyclooxygenases (COX), which represent other sources of ROS production within the cell, do not play a role in this signalling pathway. Therefore, this study demonstrates how Norgestrel stimulates NOX4 in order to induce cell survival in stressed 661W cells.

4.2. Introduction

The potential sources of reactive oxygen species (ROS) within the cell are numerous. These molecules can be formed as by-products, as a consequence of biological reactions. One of the most widely recognised sources is the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX) family of proteins, which was the first source identified to have an exclusive role in producing ROS rather than generate them as a by-product (Bedard & Krause, 2007; Finkel, 2011; Brandes et al., 2014a). In fact, these enzymes have been demonstrated to participate in several distinct mechanisms such as cellular proliferation, survival and death (Abid et al., 2000; Clark & Valente, 2004; Bedard & Krause, 2007; Brown & Griendling, 2009; Bhatt et al., 2010; Brandes et al., 2014b; Moloney et al., 2017a, 2017b; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). In support of this, our group has previously highlighted a role of these enzymes in the production of ROS leading to cell survival (Groeger et al., 2009a). The NOX family consists of seven transmembrane members (NOX1-5, DUOX1-2), differing mainly in their organ-specific expression, control of their activity and the type of ROS they release (Brandes et al., 2014a; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). NOX1-4 are known to interact with the small transmembrane protein p22 phagocyte oxidase (p22^{phox}) whereas activation of NOX1-3 require the formation of a complex with other cytosolic proteins (Ambasta et al., 2004; Bae et al., 2011; Brandes et al., 2014a; Moloney & Cotter, 2017).

Mitochondria are also a major site of free radical production, given that this organelle generates adenosine triphosphate (ATP) in an oxygen-dependent manner (Harman, 1956; Jarrett *et al.*, 2008; Murphy, 2009; Liochev, 2013; Lefevere *et al.*, 2017). Superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) is the primary ROS produced by mitochondria, which is not diffusible (Andreyev *et al.*, 2005; Liochev, 2013). Thus, it is rapidly converted to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) to cross biological membranes and act in both pro-survival and pro-death cellular responses (Rhee, 2006; Groeger *et al.*, 2009b; Finkel, 2011; Bordt & Polster, 2014; Holmström & Finkel,

2014; Marinho *et al.*, 2014; Dan Dunn *et al.*, 2015; Antunes & Brito, 2017; Moloney & Cotter, 2017; Sies, 2017). These molecules can be generated in at least eleven different mitochondrial sites, mainly at complexes I and III of the electron transport chain (Andreyev *et al.*, 2005; Murphy, 2009; Brand, 2016). In addition to the mitochondria and NADPH oxidases, other sources of ROS production include cyclooxygenases (COX), peroxisomes, lysosomes, cytochrome p450 enzymes in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), xanthine oxidases, nitric oxide synthases and lipoxygenases (Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Finkel, 2011; Birben *et al.*, 2012; Holmström & Finkel, 2014). ROS produced by these other sources have been linked mainly with cellular damage (Di Meo *et al.*, 2016).

Over the last decade, we have demonstrated the neuroprotective effects of Norgestrel, a compound commonly used in the female oral contraceptive pill. This has been demonstrated in a variety of models and involves multiple mechanisms (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b). For example, we have recently discovered the role of ROS in survival responses produced by Norgestrel in both the 661W cell line and the rd10 retina (Chapter 3; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). This was shown by the use of antioxidants to decrease ROS production alongside Norgestrel administration, which prevented Norgestrel from providing neuroprotection. However, the mechanism responsible for this increase in ROS levels has not been elucidated yet. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the possible sources of pro-survival ROS in the Norgestrel-mediated response.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Inhibition of NOX abrogates the Norgestrel-induced increase in ROS in stressed 661W cells

Previous studies from this group have documented the production of pro-survival ROS following Norgestrel treatment for 30 min under serum-deprived conditions (Chapter 3; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). In the current study we utilised inhibitors to establish the possible source of this increase in endogenous ROS levels. Diphenyleneiodonium (DPI) is commonly used to block NOX activity (Cross & Jones, 1986; Greene *et al.*, 2000; Clark & Valente, 2004; Abid *et al.*, 2007; Shi *et al.*, 2015; Demelash *et al.*, 2017; Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández, 2017). However, its specificity has been widely debated over the years. It is thought to be a nonspecific inhibitor of flavoenzymes such as NOX proteins (Maghzal *et al.*, 2012) due to its effects on mitochondrial ROS production (Majanders *et al.*, 1994; Li & Trush, 1998; Murphy, 2009; Sena & Chandel, 2012; Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández, 2017).

In light of this, the effects of DPI on NOX enzymes in this study were corroborated using the specific NOX inhibitor 3-benzyl-7-(2-benzoxazolyl)thio-1,2,3-tria-zolo[4,5-d]pyrimidine (VAS2870) (ten Freyhaus *et al.*, 2006; Wingler *et al.*, 2011, 2012; Gatto *et al.*, 2013; Altenhö *et al.*, 2015; Ma *et al.*, 2017; Rastogi *et al.*, 2017). Wingler *et al.* showed that VAS2870 is able to block NOX1 and NOX2 (Wingler *et al.*, 2011). In addition, they demonstrated that NOX inhibition by VAS2870 in wild-type mice produced the same effect that NOX4 delection in NOX4 knockout mice (Wingler *et al.*, 2012), demonstrating its specificity is not relevant for any NOX isoform. In the current study, a range of concentrations was tested for its effects on cellular viability as measured by MTS assay and on ROS production as measured by flow cytometry. 1 μ M of DPI caused a decrease in cell

viability compared with the vehicle, whereas VAS2870 did not affect cell viability (independent samples *t*-test, DPI: $t_{22} = 3.324$, P = 0.0031; VAS2870: $t_{22} = 0.7210$, P = 0.4785; n = 4 per group; Figure 4.3.1A) and both inhibitors at this concentration significantly decreased ROS levels (independent samples *t*-test, DPI: $t_{16} = 6.808$, P < 0.0001; VAS2870: $t_{16} = 7.006$, P < 0.0001, n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.1B).



Figure 4.3.1. NOX inhibition produced by DPI and VAS2870 in 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring cell viability (A) and DCFDA fluorescence (B) of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of inhibitors against NOX proteins, DPI and VAS2870 (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01, *** *P* < 0.001, **** *P* < 0.001).

Cells were then pre-treated with either DPI or VAS2870 at a concentration 1 μ M for 1 h in complete media prior to 20 μ M Norgestrel treatment in serum-free media for 30 minutes. The burst of ROS produced by Norgestrel after 30 min (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₁₅ = 3.006, *P* = 0.0089; *n* = 3-4 per group; Figure 4.3.2A) was abrogated when NOX proteins were inhibited using either DPI or VAS2870 as detected by decreased DCFDA fluorescence intensity (DPI: *t* ₁₈ = 4.082, *P* = 0.0007; VAS2870: *t* ₁₅ = 3.626, *P* = 0.0005; *n* = 3-4 per group). According to these results, although DPI is considered a less specific inhibitor of NOX proteins than VAS2870, both inhibitors had a similar effect, demonstrating that this response is NOX-dependent.



Figure 4.3.2. Pro-survival ROS-induced increase in stressed 661W cells by Norgestrel is NOXdependent. (A) FACS analysis of 661W cells pre-treated with 1 μ M DPI or VAS2870 prior to Norgestrel treatment. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel-mediated ROS up-regulation only took place in the absence of inhibitors (vehicle control). (B) Changes in cell viability were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). NOX inhibition by DPI and VAS2870 abolish Norgestrel-mediated protection at 30 min following serum starvation. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, ** *P* < 0.01).

According to previous studies, the increase in ROS produced by Norgestrel has been proved to be pro-survival (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). In order to corroborate this, cell viability was assessed by MTS assay following NOX inhibition. We found that protection enhanced by Norgestrel at 30 min (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{28} = 3.498$, P = 0.0016; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.2B) was abolished in the when NOX were blocked by DPI and VAS2870 (DPI: $t_{28} = 0.7924$, P = 0.4348; VAS2870: $t_{28} = 0.04007$, P = 0.9683; n = 3 per group). This confirms that NOX-induced ROS production is pro-survival as shown before. Given that some studies also use knockdowns/knockouts to verify the results obtained by the use of inhibitors (Block *et al.*, 2009; Wingler *et al.*, 2012; Dikalov *et al.*, 2014; Demelash *et al.*, 2017), we sought to investigate whether the lack of NOX activity would affect 661W cells. Incubation of these NOX inhibitors, DPI and VAS2870, for 24 h produced a dramatic decrease in cell viability in all concentrations studied (independent samples *t*-test, 1 μ M: *t* ₂₂ = 6.014, *P* < 0.0001; 5 μ M: *t* ₂₂ = 7.376, *P* < 0.0001; 10 μ M: *t* ₂₂ = 5.820, *P* < 0.0001; 50 μ M: *t* ₂₂ = 21.62, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.3), indicating other approaches such as the use of knockdowns are unsuitable to block NOX activity in 661W cells.



Figure 4.3.3. DPI and VAS2870 decrease cell viability after 24 h treatment in 661W cells. Doseresponse curve measuring cell viability of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of inhibitors against NOX proteins, DPI and VAS2870 (*t*-test comparing individual treatments to their vehicle control). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** *P* < 0.0001).

4.3.2. NOX4 is up-regulated by Norgestrel in serum-deprived 661W cells

Next, we sought to identify which NOX isoforms may be responsible for this protection. It has been previously shown that only two members of the NOX family are expressed in 661W cells: as two isoforms, NOX2 and NOX4 (Groeger *et al.*, 2009a). Interestingly, some studies have suggested a link between these two isoforms, which have been described to signal to kinases/phosphatases in a similar manner (Brown & Griendling, 2009). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that both NOX2 and NOX4 are involved in the prosurvival production of ROS in endothelial cells (Petri *et al.*, 2006).

Therefore, both NOX2 and NOX4 mRNA levels were analysed using RT-qPCR. NOX4 was up-regulated at 30 min (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{12} = 2.604$, P = 0.023; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.4) followed by NOX2 which showed an increase at 1 h following Norgestrel treatment ($t_{14} = 2.337$, P = 0.0348; n = 4 per group).



Figure 4.3.4. Norgestrel increases NOX2 and NOX4 expression in stressed 661W cells. NOX2 and NOX4 mRNA levels were measured in stressed 661W cells following Norgestrel treatment (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). Norgestrel stimulates NOX4 and NOX2 expression at 30 min and at 1 h, respectively. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05).

We subsequently studied protein levels by western blotting. Norgestrel significantly increased NOX4 at 30 min (independent samples *t*-test, $t_7 = 4.335$, P = 0.0034; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.5), supporting the mRNA results and predicting an important role of NOX4 in this survival response. In addition, NOX2 was up-regulated at 1 h ($t_7 = 2.752$, P = 0.0284; n = 3 per group), suggesting that this protein might not be involved in the early Norgestrel-mediated response at 30 min.



Figure 4.3.5. Norgestrel increases NOX2 and NOX4 protein levels in stressed 661W cells. Western blotting confirmed an increase in NOX2 and NOX4 (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain. Blots are representative of n=3. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01).

To corroborate the increase of NOX4 in stressed 661W cells, protein levels were also analysed by immunofluorescence. We confirmed that Norgestrel stimulated both NOX4 and the subunit p22^{phox} at 30 min compared with the vehicle control (Figure 4.3.6). This result supports other studies in which NOX4 has been related with survival responses in the eye and other systems (Mahadev *et al.*, 2004; Groeger, MacKey, *et al.*, 2009; Ghatak *et al.*, 2017; Harel *et al.*, 2017; Moloney *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b).



Figure 4.3.6. Norgestrel increases NOX4 and $p22^{phox}$ subunit levels in 661W cells following 30 min serum starvation. Fluorescent microscopic images confirmed that Norgestrel stimulates both NOX4 and $p22^{phox}$ at 30 min following serum starvation. For a better interpretation of the results, colours were replaced with black & white in the left region. Secondary antibody only was added as negative control. Images are representative of n=3. Scale bar 30 µm. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei.

In order to demonstrate Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection is NOX4-dependent, we sought to generate a NOX4 knockout (KO) cell line using the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) and CRISPR-associated protein 9 (Cas9) gene editing system. Since the field of genome engineering was discovered, the CRISPR/Cas9 technology has gained considerable attention in the last years. This complex is part of the prokaryotic immune system of archaea and bacteria to defence against invading viruses (Mojica *et al.*, 2005). It consists of repeating sequences separated by variable short DNA sequences termed as 'spacers' which are remnants of the genetic code from past invaders (Mojica *et al.*, 2005; Mojica & Rodriguez-Valera, 2016; Khan *et al.*, 2018). This system, therefore, serves as a

genetic memory that helps the cell to detect and destroy invaders when they return. Using modified versions of Cas9, we can now target a specific sequence and modulate gene expression (Schaeffer & Nakata, 2015; Khan *et al.*, 2018).

In this study, we used the CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing system to generate a NOX4 KO cell line using 661W cells. To do so, we use the double nickase technique which differs to the traditional CRISPR/Cas9 engineering. In the latter one, the guide RNA (gRNA) binds to one target sequence and Cas9 produces a double-strand DNA break, whereas with the double nickase, a modified Cas9 interacts with gRNAs targeted to two sites, one that binds upstream and another that binds downstream of the target sequence, which results in single-strand cleavage activity as represented in figure 4.3.7, increasing its specificity (Schaeffer & Nakata, 2015; Gopalappa *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 4.3.7. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene editing technologies. (A) Traditional CRISPR/Cas9 engineering where gRNA specifically binds to target sequence in genome. Cas9 introduces a double-strand cleavage to target DNA. It is during this repair process that a small insertion or deletion events occurs. (B) Double nickase where modified Cas9 interacts with gRNAs targeted to two sites. Modifications to Cas9 result in only single-strand cleavage activity. Modified from Schaeffer & Nakata, 2015.

Given that the results obtained in figure 4.3.3 suggest that the blockage of NOX proteins during 24 h has detrimental consequences on cell viability of 661W cells, we next sought to determine the effect of NOX4 KO following 48 h plasmids transfection. Cells treated with transfection reagent alone, which were used as a negative control (Mock), showed a decrease in cellular viability compared with the untreated (UT) control (one-way ANOVA, transfection effect, $F_{2,51} = 209.3$, P < 0.0001; Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test, P < 0.0001; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.8). Cell survival and proliferation were severely compromised in cells transfected with the NOX4 Double Nickase Plasmid compared with both UT and Mock controls (Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test, P < 0.0001), confirming the pro-survival nature of NOX4. In 2017, Jafari *et al.* demonstrated that CRISPR/Cas9-mediated NOX4 KO inhibits cell proliferation in HeLa cells (Jafari *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 4.3.8. NOX4 is essential for cellular survival and proliferation in 661W cells. Changes in cell viability and proliferation were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (Tukey's HDS *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** P < 0.0001).

After transfection, cells were screened by immunofluorescence for green fluorescent protein (GFP)-positive cells. We found that GFP+ cells were enucleated cells as revealed by Hoechst staining, suggesting they die in the absence of NOX4 expression (Figure 4.3.9). UT and Mock (transfection reagent alone) confirmed no GFP+ cells as expected. Enucleation has

been previously described as a mechanism of cell death (Paunescu *et al.*, 2014), corroborating our results in 661W cells.



Figure 4.3.9. NOX4 KO produces cell death in 661W cells. GFP-positive cells screening by immunofluorescence. GFP+ cells were enucleated cells and hence, dying cells (white arrows). Images are representative of n=2. Scale bar 30 µm. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei.

In order to select NOX4 KO colonies, if any, cells were treated with 1 µg/ml puromycin antibiotic for 6 days. This concentration was selected among other two for being the lowest concentration that killed 100% cells of non-transfected cells in 6 days (one-way ANOVA, puromycin treatment, $F_{3,68} = 893.4$, P < 0.0001; Dunnett's *post hoc* test, 1 µg/ml: P < 0.0001; 5 µg/ml: P < 0.0001; 10 µg/ml: P < 0.0001; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.10).



Figure 4.3.10. Puromycin treatment optimisation in 661W cells. Changes in cell viability were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (Dunnett's post hoc test, comparing all concentrations to the UT control). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** *P* < 0.0001).

Immunofluorescence studies demonstrated that untreated cells die after puromycin treatment (Figure 4.3.11A). We observed a few cells in the NOX4 KO samples, however, these cells expressed NOX4 and hence, were non-transfected cells that survived to both the transfection process and puromycin treatment. It is possible that these cells survived due to a partial,

rather than a total, deletion of the NOX4 gene. Such cells were grown in completed media for two weeks to reach ~80% confluence in order to confirm NOX4 expression by western blotting (Figure 4.3.11B). KO cells expressed same levels of NOX4 than the UT control and therefore, it suggests that GFP+ cells (NOX4 KO) observed in figure 4.3.9 died and were lost during the subsequent washes performed in the protocol.





Figure 4.3.11. NOX4 KO colonies analysis after puromycin treatment in 661W cells. (A) NOX4 protein levels were studied in 661W cells by following immunofluorescence transfection and puromycin treatment. No cells were found in untreated (UT) cells whereas a few cells were present in the NOX4 knockout (KO) samples. However, these cells expressed NOX4. Secondary antibody only was added as negative control. Images are representative of n=2. Scale bar 30 µm. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. **(B)** Results were confirmed by western blotting. Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain.

We concluded that NOX4 has an important pro-survival role within the cell, taking into account its complete abrogation using the CRISPR/Cas9 system produces the death of transfected cells. Since several evidences are found in the literature describing the pro-survival role of NOX4 protein (Brown & Griendling, 2009; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Moloney & Cotter, 2017; Moloney *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b), these results are not surprising. We hypothesise this occurs given that 661W cells only express two NOX isoforms: NOX2 and NOX4, as described before. In the absence of NOX4, NOX2 might not be able to assume NOX4 role, leading to cell death of NOX4 KO 661W cells. This suggests that the use of inhibitors during shorter time points would be a better approach to study NOX proteins in 661W cells.

4.3.3. Mitochondrial ROS production is induced by the mitochondrial inhibitor Rotenone in 661W cells

Given that mitochondria are another main producer of ROS within the cell, we asked whether they participate in the Norgestrel-mediated pro-survival response at 30 min. We treated cells with various concentrations of Rotenone, a widely used mitochondrial inhibitor that acts by supressing complex I superoxide production (Barrientos & Moraes, 1999; Isenberg & Klaunig, 2000; Chauvin *et al.*, 2001; Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Fato *et al.*, 2009). We found 20 μ M to be the lowest concentration that effectively reduced ROS production, resulting in a decrease in DCFDA fluorescence intensity (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₂₀ = 15.23, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 4 per group; Figure 4.3.12B), although it did result in cell death (*t* ₁₆ = 6.752, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.12A). This effect on cellular viability has been documented so far in several *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems (Abdo *et al.*, 1988; Cunningham *et al.*, 1995; Isenberg & Klaunig, 2000; Chauvin *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2003; Heinz *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 4.3.12. Rotenone treatment only decreases intracellular ROS levels at 20 μ M. Doseresponse curve measuring cell viability (A), DCFDA fluorescence (B) of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of Rotenone, an inhibitor of mitochondria (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Treatment with 20 μ M effectively attenuates intracellular ROS production measured by DCFDA. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01, *** *P* < 0.001, **** *P* < 0.0001).

In order to corroborate mitochondrial inhibition produced by Rotenone, mitochondrial ROS were studied by flow cytometry using the probe MitoSOX (Figure 4.3.13). MitoSOX is a derivative from dihydroethidium (DHE) that detects specifically O_2^{-} produced by

mitochondria from the one-electron reduction of O_2 (Murphy, 2009) and it has been widely used in fluorescence/confocal microscopy and flow cytometry studies in live cells (Robinson *et al.*, 2006; Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b; Pehar *et al.*, 2007; Zimmerman *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 4.3.13. MitoSOX was used to detect mitochondrial superoxide levels. Different concentrations were tested in order to find an optimal peak of fluorescence. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. 0.5 μ M was used in all subsequent experiments.

Surprisingly, mitochondrial ROS production was increased in the presence of Rotenone in all the concentrations used in the current study (independent samples *t*-test, 1 μ M: *t*₁₆ = 10.98, *P* < 0.0001; 10 μ M: *t*₁₆ = 3.117, *P* = 0.0109; 20 μ M: *t*₁₆ = 26.14, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.14). We suggest this increase may be explained by a severe impairment in mitochondrial activity shown by a decrease in cellular viability in cells treated with Rotenone, demonstrating this inhibitor it is not an accurate way to study mitochondrial implication in this signalling pathway.



Figure 4.3.14. Mitochondrial inhibition by Rotenone increases the production of mitochondrial ROS in 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring MitoSOX fluorescence of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of Rotenone, an inhibitor of mitochondria (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). None of the concentrations studied showed a decrease in mitochondrial ROS levels as shown by MitoSOX fluorescence. This suggests the effects of Rotenone on mitochondria are not specific enough to block mitochondrial participation in ROS production in 661W cells. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05, ** *P* < 0.01, **** *P* < 0.0001).
According to this, Li *et al.* confirmed that treatment with Rotenone leads to cytochrome *c* release, activation of caspase 3 activity and DNA fragmentation, all biomarkers of apoptosis (Li *et al.*, 2003). This Rotenone-induced ROS production has also been related with an inhibition of cell proliferation given that it binds to tubulin, affecting therefore the microtubule assembly (Srivastava & Panda, 2007).

4.3.4. Mitochondria do not participate in the pro-survival production of ROS in 661W cells

In light of the results obtained with Rotenone, we decided to use an alternative compound to target mitochondrial production of ROS without affecting cell viability. As a result, (2-(2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-1-oxyl-4-ylamino)2oxoethyl)triphenylphosphoniumchloride monohydrate (MitoTEMPO), a mitochondria-targeted antioxidant, was used due to its specific effects on mitochondrial ROS (Dikalova *et al.*, 2010; Woolley *et al.*, 2013; Bordt & Polster, 2014; McCarthy & Kenny, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

A range of concentrations was tested for its effects on cellular viability as measured by MTS assay and on ROS production as measured by flow cytometry. 5 μ M resulted in similar levels of cell viability compared with the vehicle (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₃₄ = 1.775, *P* = 0.0848; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.15A), whilst significantly decreasing both intracellular (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₁₆ = 5.311, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.15B) and mitochondrial ROS levels (*t* ₁₆ = 4.701, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.15B) measured by DCFDA and MitoSOX, respectively.



Figure 4.3.15. MitoTEMPO reduces ROS levels in 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring cell viability (A), DCFDA fluorescence and MitoSOX fluorescence (B) of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of MitoTEMPO, a mitochondria-targeted antioxidant (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, *** P < 0.001, **** P < 0.0001).

Thus, cells were pre-treated with 5 μ M MitoTEMPO for 1 h in complete media prior to 20 μ M Norgestrel treatment in serum-free media for 30 minutes. Use of MitoTEMPO induced a slight decrease of ROS levels compared with the vehicle control, which confirms that it is inhibiting production of ROS (Figure 4.3.16). Norgestrel could still produce an increase in ROS at 30 min in the absence or presence of the antioxidant as detected by DCFDA fluorescence intensity, suggesting that mitochondrial-derived ROS are not involved in this response (independent samples *t*-test, vehicle: $t_{16} = 7.878$, P < 0.0001; MitoTEMPO: $t_{16} = 4.903$, P = 0.0002; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.16).



Figure 4.3.46. Mitochondria are not involved in the Norgestrel-mediated production of ROS in serum-starved 661W cells. FACS analysis of 661W cells pre-treated with 5 µM MitoTEMPO prior to Norgestrel treatment. Y-axis represents cell counts, x-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the xaxis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (t-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel was able to increase ROS levels in the presence absence of the mitochondria-targeted or antioxidant MitoTEMPO, suggesting this response is not mitochondria-dependent. Results are presented as mean ± SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** P < 0.0001).

In support of this, repetition of this experiment but using MitoSOX rather than DCFDA demonstrated that Norgestrel does not increase mitochondrial superoxide levels in the absence or presence of MitoTEMPO (independent samples *t*-test, vehicle: $t_{16} = 0.3778$, P = 0.7105; MitoTEMPO: $t_{16} = 0.6440$, P = 0.5287; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.17). MitoTEMPO also decreased MitoSOX fluorescence corroborating its effect on reducing mitochondrial ROS production as previously described (Dikalova *et al.*, 2010; McCarthy & Kenny, 2016; Zhang, Wang, *et al.*, 2017). All together suggests that ROS production stimulated by Norgestrel is not mitochondria-dependent.



Figure 4.3.17. Mitochondrial superoxide levels are not affected by Norgestrel in stressed 661W cells. FACS analysis of 661W cells pre-treated with 5 μ M MitoTEMPO prior to Norgestrel treatment. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of MitoSOX fluorescence and hence mitochondrial superoxide levels (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant).

4.3.5. COX proteins are not involved in the response induced by Norgestrel in stressed 661W cells

Cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, also known as prostaglandin synthase, have been described to produce ROS as a result of their peroxidase activity (Pepicelli *et al.*, 2002; Nathan & Cunningham-Bussel, 2013; Holmström & Finkel, 2014; Di Meo *et al.*, 2016). Such ROS production is suggested to contribute to an increase in inflammation and cellular damage in different models, including Alzheimer's and cardiovascular diseases (Nogawa *et al.*, 1997; Pasinetti, 1998; Pepicelli *et al.*, 2002; Virdis *et al.*, 2005; Hernanz *et al.*, 2014; Hee Kim *et al.*, 2015; Yin *et al.*, 2017).

During years there was little, if any, evidence in the literature about the implication of COXinduced ROS production in survival signalling. In fact, little is known about how these enzymes produce ROS. Hernanz *et al.* suggested that ROS can be generated both during the process of prostaglandin synthesis itself and through the effects on other ROS sources such as NOX proteins (Hernanz *et al.*, 2014), which has also been shown before (Martínez-Revelles *et al.*, 2012). Since studies in this group have suggested that COX enzymes are implicated in pro-survival ROS production downstream of bFGF (Farrell *et al.*, 2011), we sought to investigate whether these proteins play a role in the Norgestrel-mediated response. Cells were treated with four different concentrations of Diclofenac sodium salt, a wellknown inhibitor of COX activity (Gan, 2010; Moloney *et al.*, 2017a; Ulubay *et al.*, 2017). 1 μ M did not affect cell viability (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₂₈ = 0.1587, *P* = 0.875; *n* = 3-4 per group; Figure 4.3.18A) and it significantly decreased ROS levels (*t* ₁₆ = 11.58, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 4 per group; Figure 4.3.18B).



Figure 4.3.18. COX inhibition produced by Diclofenac in 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring cell viability (A) and DCFDA fluorescence (B) of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of Diclofenac which inhibits COX enzymes (*t*-test comparing individual Norgestrel treatments to their timed vehicle control). Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, **** P < 0.0001).

Therefore, cells were pre-treated with 1 μ M Diclofenac for 1 h before Norgestrel treatment for 30 min. Norgestrel treatment produced a burst of ROS at 30 min even in the presence of inhibitor (independent samples *t*-test, vehicle: $t_{15} = 3.006$, P = 0.0089; Diclofenac: $t_{11} =$ 2.431, P = 0.0333; n = 3 per group; Figure 4.3.19), suggesting that COX are not essential in this response.



Figure 4.3.19. Norgestrel-mediated response is not COX-dependent in stressed 661W cells. FACS analysis of 661W cells pre-treated with 1 µM diclofenac prior Norgestrel treatment. Y-axis represents cell counts, x-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the x-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (t-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel increased ROS production in the absence or presence of COX inhibitor.Results are presented as mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, * P < 0.05, **** P <0.0001).

4.4. Discussion

Interest in the hormone progesterone was initiated by Atella *et al.* in 1987, who observed that this hormone was able to improve functionality in pseudopregnant rats compared with the normal-cycling females, both suffering from traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Attella *et al.*, 1987). Some years later, it was confirmed that progesterone administration was beneficial in both male and female rats (Roof *et al.*, 1992, 1994) and mice presenting TBI (Hua *et al.*, 2011). Since then, experimental and clinical evidences indicating the neuroprotective properties of progesterone are numerous in the literature (Gonzalez Deniselle *et al.*, 2003; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2005; Garay *et al.*, 2009, 2011, 2012; De Nicola *et al.*, 2013; Singh & Su, 2013; Schumacher *et al.*, 2016; Espinosa-Garcia *et al.*, 2017; Fabres *et al.*, 2018).

Studies on neurodegeneration and Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection have also been previously described in various models of photoreceptor cell death, through *in vitro*, *in vivo* and *ex vivo* preparations (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche *et al.*, 2016, 2017a, 2017b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Norgestrel elicits neuroprotective effects by binding to the progesterone receptor PGRMC1, increasing the expression of the neurotrophic factor bFGF to promote cell survival using redox-signalling as shown in the previous chapter (Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; 2017a).

Furthermore, the relationship between ROS generation and growth factors, especially in cases of induced stress, has been well documented so far (Lieberthal *et al.*, 1998; Tammariello *et al.*, 2000; Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Bae *et al.*, 2011; Dikalov *et al.*, 2014; Ghatak *et al.*, 2017). Several growth factors including bFGF appear to modulate ROS formation

within the cell (Sundaresan *et al.*, 1995; Tammariello *et al.*, 2000; Kirkland *et al.*, 2007; Bai *et al.*, 2014; Ghatak *et al.*, 2017). Kirkland *et al.*, showed that nerve growth factor (NGF) withdrawal induces an increase in oxidative stress, leading to apoptosis in mice neurons. They also showed that readdition of NGF suppresses the up-regulation of ROS levels and inhibits the release of cytochrome *c* (Kirkland *et al.*, 2007). According to this, Ghatak *et al.* and Bai *et al.* presented an important role of the transforming growth factor β 1 (TGF β 1) in the NOX4-induced ROS production (Bai *et al.*, 2014; Ghatak *et al.*, 2017), elucidating the importance of neurotrophic factors in the production and modulation of ROS.

In fact, studies in our laboratory have demonstrated how ROS production induces cellular survival (Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Groeger *et al.*, 2009) downstream of bFGF in 661W cells and retinal explants from both wild-type and diseased mice (Farrell *et al.*, 2011; Groeger *et al.*, 2012; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, this pro-survival nature of redox state should be always considered as a short event that happens in a specific moment in the cell, essentially as a first mechanism to respond against any stressful stimuli and always in a regulated manner (Remacle *et al.*, 1995; Rhee, 2006; Ray *et al.*, 2012; Reczek & Chandel, 2015; Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández, 2017).

The importance of NOX enzymes participating in cellular signalling is not surprising, as the only known function of which is ROS production (Lambeth, 2004; Bedard & Krause, 2007; Brown & Griendling, 2009; Wingler *et al.*, 2011; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014b; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). This has been demonstrated by previous studies from our group in stressed 661W cells (Groeger *et al.*, 2009a). The current study also validates the role of NOX proteins, mainly NOX4, as ROS generators at an early stage in serum-starved 661W cells, but also as a result of Norgestrel treatment, which had not been shown previously (Figure 4.3.2). In fact, the role of NOX proteins in diseases such as RP is not well understood. Some

studies have suggested that the elevated levels of oxygen in the retina when rods die produce the participation of NOX proteins, increasing the generation of ROS molecules (Usui *et al.*, 2009). However, which NOX isoform is responsible for such effects is still unknown. In the current study, NOX4 expression, both mRNA and protein levels, were increased by Norgestrel at 30 min following stress (Figure 4.3.4-6). Interestingly, this protein has been shown to be constitutively active and therefore, its activity depends on its expression level (Bae *et al.*, 2011; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a; Nisimoto *et al.*, 2014). This is not the first time NOX4 has been implicated in redox signalling (Crestani *et al.*, 2011; Nisimoto *et al.*, 2014; Moloney *et al.*, 2017b). Thus, NOX4 produces hydrogen peroxide in the signalling of different growth factors such as insulin (Mahadev *et al.*, 2004), bFGF (Lo & Cruz, 1995) and TGF β 1 (Peshavariya *et al.*, 2014; Hakami *et al.*, 2015).

On the other hand, ROS derived from mitochondria have traditionally been associated with aging and other mechanisms related with cell damage (Choksi *et al.*, 2008; Nakamura *et al.*, 2012; Ni *et al.*, 2016; Sanz & Bernardi, 2016; Jelinek *et al.*, 2018). However, our understanding of these processes is changing. Mitochondrial involvement in redox signalling has been gaining attention in recent years (Zhang & Gutterman, 2006; Sena & Chandel, 2012; Harel *et al.*, 2017). Several mitochondrial-targeted inhibitors have been widely utilised to study mitochondrial role in multiple responses, with one of the most commonly used being Rotenone given its action on complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Brand, 2016; Heinz *et al.*, 2017).

The effects of Rotenone have been tested in this study using different concentrations in 661W cells. Despite the fact that 20 μ M Rotenone decreased intracellular ROS production measured by DCFDA, none of the concentrations used reduced mitochondrial O_2^{-} as measured by MitoSOX fluorescence (Figure 4.3.14). A loss of ROS by DCFDA fluorescence

could be linked to the detrimental effects on cell viability (Figure 4.3.12). Hence, use of Rotenone was an unsuitable method to demonstrate mitochondrial participation in this signalling pathway, in support of other studies (Abdo *et al.*, 1988; Cunningham *et al.*, 1995; Isenberg & Klaunig, 2000; Li *et al.*, 2003; Beretta *et al.*, 2006; Srivastava & Panda, 2007; Fato *et al.*, 2009; Karlsson *et al.*, 2016; Heinz *et al.*, 2017). In the mentioned studies, Rotenone resulted toxic due to its ability to induce cell death in a variety of cells. This compound has been shown to elevate the production of ROS, which results lethal for cells. In addition to this, Rotenone has been linked with the prevention of microtubules assembly as mentioned in the results section (Srivastava & Panda, 2007). Srivastava & Panda showed that treatment with Rotenone depolymerised spindle microtubules of two different cell lines. As a result, Rotenone treatment inhibited cell proliferation (Srivastava & Panda, 2007). In 2012, this process was also confirmed by Hongo *et al.*, who demonstrated that Rotenone reduces the amount of polymerised tubulin, which indicates and induction of microtubule desestabilization (Hongo *et al.*, 2012).

The use of a more specific approach in the study of mitochondrial-ROS was employed through the use of the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoTEMPO. MitoTEMPO is known to act specifically in mitochondria given that it accumulates in the mitochondrial matrix, acting as a superoxide dismutase mimetic (Dikalova *et al.*, 2010; Dikalov, 2011; McCarthy & Kenny, 2016; Zhang, Wang, *et al.*, 2017). Using MitoTEMPO to reduce mitochondrial ROS activity, the current study indicates that these organelles are not involved in the pro-survival Norgestrel-mediated response at 30 min following serum starvation (Figure 4.3.16 and 4.3.17).

Given that COX enzymes were responsible for the bFGF-mediated response in 661W cells shown by our lab in 2011 (Farrell *et al.*, 2011), we next employed the COX inhibitor Diclofenac in order to investigate whether these proteins participate in the up-regulation of ROS levels by Norgestrel. Diclofenac is an anti-inflammatory drug widely used as analgesic due to its effects on COX proteins, blocking the prostaglandin synthesis (Euchenhofer *et al.*, 1998; Gan, 2010; Van Den Brandhof & Montforts, 2010; Ulubay *et al.*, 2017; Fontes *et al.*, 2018), and making it a suitable approach to elucidate COX implication in cellular processes. In the current study, inhibition of COX enzymes did not prevent Norgestrel-induced ROS increase in 661W cells (Figure 4.3.19), demonstrating that these enzymes are not implicated in this process.

As a conclusion, this study clarifies the pro-survival mechanism behind Norgestrel-mediated response (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017), identifying NOX4 as the responsible source for increasing pro-survival ROS levels within the first 30 min following the stress caused by serum starvation in 661W cells (Figure 4.4.1).



Figure 4.4.1. Proposed pathway of Norgestrel-mediated response. It has been previously shown that Norgestrel acts through the progesterone receptor membrane complex I (PGRMC1) to produce ROS downstream of bFGF (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). This schematic represents how Norgestrel uses NOX4 to induce ROS production and promote neuroprotection in serum-starved 661W cells, including the compounds used to inhibit each step.

Chapter 5: The synthetic progesterone 'Norgestrel' mediates an antioxidant response to long term stress in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa

5.1. Abstract

Norgestrel, a progesterone analogue, has shown promising results for the potential treatment of retinal diseases like retinitis pigmentosa (RP). Our laboratory has demonstrated a wide variety of pro-survival responses produced by this compound in both the 661W photoreceptor-like cell line and the rd10 retina, a model of RP. This neuroprotective response is explained in part by the utilization of neurotrophic factors such as the basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), anti-inflammatory properties through alleviating detrimental microglial activity and gliosis, and the modulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Moderate levels of ROS are known to participate as second messengers in survival responses. For instance, our group has recently demonstrated that Norgestrel up-regulates pro-survival ROS levels at very early time points following stress in both 661W cells and rd10 photoreceptors. At sustained high levels, these molecules can become toxic for cells, leading to the worsening of different diseases including RP. To counteract this, cells possess two mechanisms: reducing the production of ROS or increasing the antioxidant defence. The nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX) family of proteins and superoxide dismutases enzymes (SOD) constitute the major ROS generators and ROS scavengers within the cell, respectively. This study was designed to investigate Norgestrel's ability to reduce toxic levels of ROS in the diseased retina. Through the analysis of intracellular ROS levels, mRNA and protein levels, we conclude that Norgestrel decreases ROS levels in the rd10 retina via activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor 2 (Nrf2) and one of its effector antioxidant enzymes, SOD2.

5.2. Introduction

Retinitis pigmentosa (RP), among other retinopathies, is characterised by the progressive loss of photoreceptors leading to morphological and functional damage of the retina (Cuenca *et al.*, 2014; Roche *et al.*, 2016). This disease firstly affects rods with the subsequent degeneration of cones (Hamel, 2006; Punzo *et al.*, 2012; Daiger *et al.*, 2013; Tao *et al.*, 2016; Athanasiou *et al.*, 2017). The complex nature of developing a treatment for RP is based on the heterogeneity of genetic mutations, which disrupts a host of mechanisms, including the phototransduction cascade, RNA splicing machinery and retinal metabolism (Soest *et al.*, 1999; Dias *et al.*, 2017). Neurotrophic factors have been studied as a possible strategy to treat this disease given their role in stimulating cell survival. However, their short half-lives have come as a limitation for treatment so far (Buch *et al.*, 2007; Guadagni *et al.*, 2015; Dias *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, a therapeutic approach that stimulates endogenous production of neurotrophic factors is desirable.

In this context, the synthetic progesterone Norgestrel, which is used in some oral contraceptives, was found by our laboratory to be neuroprotective in the retina in 2011 (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Doonan & Cotter, 2012). Since then, we have elucidated some components of its mechanism of action in the retina, including the up-regulation of neurotrophic factors such as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016). In addition, neuroprotective effects of this compound include anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative properties within the diseased or injured retina (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche *et al.*, 2017b; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017).

103

Futhermore, reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been linked with RP, given that they represent one of the main contributing factors to cone photoreceptor cell death (Shen *et al.*, 2005; Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007, 2008; Usui *et al.*, 2009). Implication of ROS in RP and other retinal diseases is not surprising due to the fact that the retina has a high demand of oxygen (Ames, 2000; Cuenca *et al.*, 2014). This largest use of oxygen renders the retina very sensitive tissue to oxidative damage (Cingolani *et al.*, 2005; Shen *et al.*, 2005; Martínez-Fernández de la Cámara *et al.*, 2013). It is known that ROS can participate as signalling molecules when levels are low as described in chapters 3 and 4 (Rhee, 2006; Groeger *et al.*, 2009b; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017).

However, once ROS levels become pathological, the cell attempts to eliminate them, either by reducing the production of ROS or by increasing the amount of antioxidants present in the cell (Cadenas, 1997; Valko *et al.*, 2007; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). The nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX) family of proteins and mitochondria constitute the major ROS generators whilst the endogenous antioxidant machinery mainly consists of enzymes: superoxide dismutases (SOD), glutathione peroxidases, superoxide reductases, glutathione reductase, peroxiredoxin, thioredoxin and catalases (Usui, Oveson, *et al.*, 2009; Martínez-Fernández de la Cámara *et al.*, 2013; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). As a result, biological and non-biological antioxidants have gained attention in the treatment of diseases such as RP (Guadagni *et al.*, 2015). Norgestrel's antioxidant properties have been demonstrated in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model by activating the transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2 (NF-E2)-related factor-2 (Nrf2) which induces an increase in SOD2 activity when ROS become toxic (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Our study investigates the relevance of this mechanism in the inherited rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Exogenous H₂O₂ addition does not affect serum-starved 661W cells

In RP the death of rods, which represent >90% of the photoreceptor population in the retina and thus, consume the majority of oxygen, causes a sharp increase in the oxygen level (hyperoxia) of cones and their subsequent death (Curtin *et al.*, 2002; Punzo *et al.*, 2012; Tao, Chen, *et al.*, 2016). Another cause of cone cell death after rods die is the cessation of trophic support (Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2008; Finnegan *et al.*, 2010; Athanasiou *et al.*, 2018). Studies in mouse models of RP have shown how hyperoxia, caused after the death of rods, results in the narrowing of retinal blood vessels and the subsequent down-regulation of several growth factors (Komeima *et al.*, 2006). Komeima *et al.* demonstrated that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expresion was reduced as a consequence of such effect produced by hyperoxia in rd1 mice (Komeima *et al.*, 2006).

In order to mimic the stress suffered by the cones in such circumstances, cells were serumstarved and treated with 20 μ M Norgestrel or vehicle (DMSO) and different concentrations of a hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) solution for 24 h to increase oxidative stress. Exogenous addition of H₂O₂ has been widely used as a signalling molecule to induce cellular survival at short time points (Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Forman, 2007; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2018). However, it is thought to produce oxidative damage and cell death when it becomes toxic after a long exposure (Wang *et al.*, 2018). In the current study, a range of concentrations was tested for its effects on cellular viability as measured by MTS assay. Norgestrel was only significantly protective in the presence of 1 μ M H₂O₂ (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₃₀ = 2.695, *P* = 0.0114; *n* = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.1).



Figure 5.3.1. Norgestrel enhances cell survival at a sublethal dose of H_2O_2 in serum-starved 661W cells. Dose-response curve measuring cell viability of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) solution following serum starvation (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel was only able to enhance cell survival at 1 μ M H_2O_2 compared with the vehicle control. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05).

We subsequently aimed to understand the effects produced by the addition of H_2O_2 compared with serum starvation (SS) itself in order to find a valid model to study cell death caused by oxidative damage. 661W cells were treated with the same H_2O_2 concentrations used in figure 5.3.1 in serum-free media for 24 h, and cell viability was measured by MTS assay. Vehicle (DMSO) concentrations from figure 5.3.1 were not considered in this experiment given that DMSO might affect the results due to its anti-inflammatory properties (Elisia *et al.*, 2016).

We did not find differences in cellular viability between H_2O_2 treatment and SS only at any concentration used, except from 500-1,000 µM, which resulted in a dramatic reduction of cell survival (one-way ANOVA, H_2O_2 effect, $F_{7,132} = 34.38$, P < 0.0001; Dunnett's *post hoc* test, 500 and 1000 µM: P < 0.0001; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.2). This increase in cell death at higher H_2O_2 concentrations has been already reported in 661W cells (Mackey *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 5.3.2. H_2O_2 addition has the same effect on cell viability as SS in 661W cells. Doseresponse curve measuring cell viability of 661W cells treated with increasing concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) solution following serum starvation (Dunnett's post hoc test, comparing all concentrations to the SS only control). Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** P < 0.0001).

Once confirmed that SS and H₂O₂ have the same effect on 661W cells, we sought to investigate whether Norgestrel-mediated protection was the same in both cases. Thus, cells were treated with 20 μ M Norgestrel or vehicle with the addition or not of 1 μ M H₂O₂ in serum-free media for 24 h, and cell viability was measured by MTS assay. Protection induced by Norgestrel compared with the vehicle control with or without the addition of H₂O₂ presented similar values in 661W cells (independent samples *t*-test, SS: *t*₄₂ = 3.537, *P* = 0.001; SS+H₂O₂: *t*₃₀ = 2.695, *P* = 0.0114; *n* = 3-4 per group; Figure 5.3.3).



Figure 5.3.3. SS and H₂O₂ present similar effects in Norgestrel-mediated protection on 661W cells. Changes in cell viability were measured by MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control. Norgestrel-mediated protection was similar in the presence or absence of H₂O₂ (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01).

In order to verify H_2O_2 addition had no different effects as SS on 661W photoreceptor cells, we use β -actin to stain the cytoskeleton and therefore, to study changes in cellular morphology by immunofluorescence (Figure 5.3.4). Untreated cells (UT) showed an expanded cytoplasm which was widely connected with surrounding cells, whilst cells of both vehicle controls (SS and SS+H₂O₂) presented a retracted cytoplasm and affected cell-cell connections (white arrows). Norgestrel partially restored UT morphology.



Figure 5.3.4. SS and H_2O_2 present similar effects on 661W cells morphology. Fluorescent microscopic images showed that both SS and H_2O_2 addition retracted the cytoplasm and cell-cell connections (white arrows) of 661W cells. Norgestrel partially rescued untreated (UT) morphology in both cases. Secondary antibody only was added as negative control. Scale bar 30 μ m.

According with the results obtained, we decided to use SS as a valid model to study oxidative damage, given that exogenous addition of H_2O_2 , a well-known oxidative molecule, had the same effect on the 661W cone photoreceptor-like cell line.

5.3.2. Norgestrel decreases ROS in order to enhance cell survival in long term stressed 661W cells

In addition to the above results, SS has been demonstrated to produce ROS as a consequence of the lack of growth factors support (Gómez-Vicente *et al.*, 2005; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Groeger *et al.*, 2009a; Kuznetsov *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2013; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017) and is therefore, a valid model to study photoreceptors cell death. In chapters 3 and 4, we have shown how Norgestrel is able to up-regulate ROS levels at early time points under stress in order to enhance cell survival in both 661W cells and rd10 mice. Nevertheless, we also demonstrated that Norgestrel reduces ROS levels at later time points in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). However, this response has not been demonstrated in 661W cells.

In the current study, cells were treated with 20 μ M Norgestrel or vehicle (DMSO) in serumfree media for 24 h and levels of ROS were studied by flow cytometry using the probe DCFDA. Norgestrel treatment decreased intracellular ROS levels produced by the oxidative stress induced by serum deprivation (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₃₀ = 11.56, *P* < 0.0001; *n* = 4-5 per group; Figure 5.3.5A). To investigate the effect of reducing ROS levels on cell survival, the MTS assay was used to analyse cellular viability and proliferation with Norgestrel at 24 h following SS. Norgestrel significantly increased cell survival in stressed 661W cells (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₄₂ = 3.537, *P* = 0.001; *n* = 4 per group; Figure 5.3.5B). This increase in the survival coinciding with a decrease in the ROS production suggests that Norgestrel enhances cellular survival by reducing the damaging ROS produced by a long exposure to stress in 661W cells.



Figure 5.3.5. Norgestrel decreases damaging ROS levels in stressed 661W cells. (A) DCFDA probe was used to detect ROS levels by flow cytometry and plotted on a histogram. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). ROS levels produced by serum starvation (SS) were abolished by Norgestrel at 24 h. (B) Changes in cell viability were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel induced cellular survival at 24 h compared with the vehicle. Asterisks indicate significant difference (** P < 0.01, **** P < 0.0001).

We subsequently repeated the experiment using 48 h serum deprivation in order to investigate whether Norgestrel effects last over time. By means of flow cytometry analyses, Norgestrel treatment significantly decreased intracellular ROS levels at 48 h (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{31} = 2.483$, P = 0.0186; n = 4-5 per group; Figure 5.3.6A), although this reduction was smaller than the decrease seen at 24 h (Figure 5.3.5A). In contrast with results

obtained at 24 h, Norgestrel was no longer protective in stressed 661W cells at 48 h (independent samples *t*-test, $t_{46} = 1.364$, P = 0.1792; n = 4 per group; Figure 5.3.6B).



Figure 5.3.6. Norgestrel cannot longer protect 661W cells following 48 h following SS. (A) DCFDA probe was used to detect ROS levels by flow cytometry and plotted on a histogram. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed compared to UT cells (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel significantly reduced ROS levels produced by serum starvation (SS) at 48 h compared with the vehicle. (B) Changes in cell viability were measured by the MTS assay and graphed as a percentage of 100% viable UT control (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Norgestrel was no longer protective at 48 h following SS in 661W cells. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant, * P < 0.05).

These results suggest that the exposure of 661W cells to stress for 48 h cause an irreparable damage that Norgestrel is not able to counteract. Thus, all subsequent experiments conducted in the 661W cell line were performed using 24 h serum withdrawal.

5.3.3. Norgestrel does not modulate NOX-mediated ROS production in long term stressed 661W cells

Under physiological conditions, cells have two main mechanisms to maintain a reductionoxidation (redox) homeostasis and avoid oxidative damage: decreasing ROS production and increasing the amount of scavenging enzymes. NOX proteins are implicated in endogenous ROS production. The only known function of NOX family members is as ROS generators within the cell (Bedard & Krause, 2007; Finkel, 2011; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). Despite the fact that NOX isoforms have been demonstrated to participate in survival signalling in 661W cells at early time points after serum starvation (Groeger *et al.*, 2009), these proteins have also been related with the worsening of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Ma *et al.*, 2017) and with cone cell death in RP (Usui, Oveson, *et al.*, 2009). We also have demonstrated that Norgestrel utilises NOX4 to increase ROS levels to act as signalling molecules at early time points (Chapter 4). However, the role of these proteins following Norgestrel treatment after a longer exposure of stress has not been elucidated yet.

Given that only NOX2 and NOX4 are expressed in 661W cells (Groeger *et al.*, 2009), mRNA levels of both proteins were analysed using RT-qPCR. Neither NOX2 nor NOX4 expression were affected by Norgestrel treatment at 24 h following SS (independent samples *t*-test, NOX2: $t_{14} = 0.01506$, P = 0.9882; NOX4: $t_{16} = 0.6402$, P = 0.5311; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.7A). We subsequently studied protein levels by western blotting, confirming that there were no changes in either NOX isoform following serum deprivation and Norgestrel treatment for 24 h (independent samples *t*-test, NOX2: $t_4 = 0.2094$, P = 0.8444; NOX4: $t_4 =$ 0.4322, P = 0.6879; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.7B). These results suggest that Norgestrel does not alter NOX activity as a mechanism to reduce intracellular ROS levels in 661W cells.



Figure 5.3.7. Norgestrel does not decrease ROS production at 24 h in serum-starved 661W cells. (A) NOX2 and NOX4 mRNA levels were measured by RT-qPCR in stressed 661W cells following Norgestrel treatment (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Neither NOX2 nor NOX4 expression were changed by Norgestrel at 24 h following serum starvation. (B) Western blotting confirmed no changes in NOX2 and NOX4 protein levels (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain. Blots are representative of n=3. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant).

5.3.4. Norgestrel increases the expression of pNrf2 and SOD2, but not SOD1, in long term serum-starved 661W cells

As presented in figure 5.3.7, Norgestrel does not combat ROS levels through a decrease in ROS production. Thus, we next investigated a second mechanism known to decrease intracellular ROS levels. Given that oxidative stress contributes to many neurological diseases including RP, cells have integrated antioxidant systems, which consist of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants to maintain redox homeostasis and counteract the harmful effects of ROS (Birben *et al.*, 2012; Holmström & Finkel, 2014; Moloney & Cotter, 2017). This system is very effective but it can become overwhelmed under pathological conditions, leading to the progression of many diseases (Birben *et al.*, 2012; Ray *et al.*, 2012; Pisoschi & Pop, 2015) as happens during cone cell death in RP (Usui, Oveson, *et al.*, 2009).

This antioxidant machinery includes glutathione, flavonoids and vitamins (A, C and E) as non-enzymatic antioxidants and different enzymes including SODs, glutathione peroxidases and catalases (Poprac *et al.*, 2017). Although these enzymes are expressed in all cells, they are subject to regulation by transcription factors such as the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) or Nrf2 (Ray *et al.*, 2012; Xiong *et al.*, 2015; Marengo *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, some of those components of the antioxidant machinery have been shown to be up-regulated by Norgestrel treatment in the balb/c induced light damage model, including the transcription factor Nrf2 and its antioxidant effector SOD2 (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Hence, expression levels of SOD proteins and Nrf2 were analysed by RT-qPCR. Norgestrel significantly increased SOD2 but not SOD1 or Nrf2 mRNA levels compared with the vehicle control (independent samples *t*-test, SOD1: $t_{16} = 0.7189$, P = 0.4826; SOD2: $t_{15} = 2.453$, P = 0.0269; Nrf2: $t_{14} = 1.408$, P = 0.1827; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.8A).



Figure 5.3.8. Norgestrel utilises antioxidants to reduce ROS levels in stressed 661W cells. (A) SOD1, SOD2 and Nrf2 mRNA levels were measured by RT-qPCR in serum-starved 661W treated with Norgestrel for 24 h (t-test comparing individual treatments). SOD2 expression was significantly increased by Norgestrel. (B) Protein levels were studied by western blotting comparing (t-test individual treatments). Norgestrel produced a significant increase in SOD2 and the phosphorylated form of Nrf2 (pNrf2) in 661W following 24 h serum starvation. Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain. Blots are representative of n=3. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* *P* < 0.05).

Protein levels were subsequently studied by western blotting. We confirmed the upregulation of SOD2 with Norgestrel treatment. We also found that phosphorylation levels at serine 40 (S40) of Nrf2 (pNrf2) were significantly increased at 24 h following serum starvation (independent samples *t*-test, SOD1: $t_4 = 0.7924$, P = 0.4725; SOD2: $t_4 = 2.845$, P= 0.0466; pNrf2: $t_4 = 3.011$, P = 0.0395; Nrf2: $t_4 = 0.6478$, P = 0.5524; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.8B). All together, we suggest that Norgestrel reduces intracellular ROS levels by

increasing antioxidant defences rather than by decreasing ROS production in stressed 661W cells. These results are not surprising, given that SOD enzymes have been documented to be up-regulated by progesterone treatment (Unfer *et al.*, 2006, 2015).

5.3.5. Norgestrel decreases ROS in order to enhance cell survival in long term stressed photoreceptors *ex vivo*

Above results in 661W cells demonstrate that Norgestrel acts as an antioxidant, decreasing ROS levels following 24 h serum deprivation. Therefore, we next sought to validate our results in photoreceptors using retinas from the rd10 model of RP. Retinal explants were treated with either 20 μ M Norgestrel or vehicle (DMSO) for 24 h and analysed for changes in photoreceptor ROS production through the preparation of single-cell suspensions to be used for FACS analysis (Byrne *et al.*, 2016; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). P15 rd10 retinas were used given that photoreceptors have initiated cell death mechanisms but photoreceptor loss is not yet apparent (Roche *et al.*, 2016). Photoreceptor populations were identified by the comparison between a P30 C57 wild-type retinal preparation to that of a P30 rd10, where all photoreceptors are absent in the latter, as previously described (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Norgestrel was able to successfully reduce intracellular ROS production in the photoreceptors from rd10 retinas compared with those treated with the vehicle control, as indicated by flow cytometry (independent samples *t*-test, *t* ₂₂ = 4.462, *P* = 0.0002; *n* = 4 per group; Figure 5.3.9A).

In order to determine if this decrease in photoreceptor ROS levels is necessary for Norgestrel-mediated protection in rd10 explants, we used TUNEL assay to analyse cell death in the photoreceptor layer/outer nuclear layer (ONL). We found that Norgestrel significantly protected rd10 explants from photoreceptor cell death (independent samples *t*-test, t_{9} =

4.570, P = 0.0013; n = 5-6 per group; Figure 5.3.9B). This suggests that Norgestrel reduces damaging ROS levels to enhance photoreceptor survival in rd10 retinal explants.



Figure 5.3.9. Norgestrel decreases damaging ROS levels in diseased photoreceptors *ex vivo*. (A) FACS analysis of photoreceptors using single cell suspensions from P15 rd10 retinas. *Y*-axis represents cell counts, *x*-axis (logarithmic scale) measures the level of fluorescence. A shift to the right along the *x*-axis represents an increase in DCFDA fluorescence and hence ROS levels. Geomeans were graphed and Norgestrel treatment was compared to its DMSO vehicle control (*t*-test). ROS production was significantly decreased by Norgestrel in rd10 photorreceptors. (B) Apoptosis of retinal cells in the outer nuclear layer (ONL) was detected by TUNEL (green) at 24 h. Norgestrel reduced TUNEL-positive staining in the central rd10 retina after 24 h treatment compared with the vehicle control (*t*-test). Images are representative of *n*=3. Scale bar 50 µm. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. Asterisks indicate significant difference (** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001).

5.3.6. Norgestrel decreases ROS levels by increasing the antioxidants SOD2 and pNrf2 *ex vivo*

Using the 661W cell line, we suggest that Norgestrel-mediated reduction of ROS levels occurs through an increase in antioxidants rather than by decreasing their production from NOX proteins (Figures 5.3.7 and 5.3.8). To substantiate our hypothesis, P15 rd10 retinal explants were treated with either Norgestrel or vehicle for 24 h and mRNA levels of NOX2 and NOX4 were studied by RT-qPCR. Due to the fact that NOX1 and NOX3 are not

expressed in the retina at this stage (Groeger *et al.*, 2009) and NOX5 is not found in rodents (Lambeth *et al.*, 2007), only NOX2 and NOX4 were analysed. Neither NOX2 nor NOX4 were affected by treatment with Norgestrel (independent samples *t*-test, NOX2: $t_{10} = 0.06509$, P = 0.9494; NOX4: $t_{10} = 0.01837$, P = 0.9857; n = 2 per group; Figure 5.3.10A). In order to confirm this, protein levels were analysed by western blotting. We confirmed that there were no changes in either NOX2 or NOX4 after Norgestrel treatment in rd10 retinal explants (independent samples *t*-test, NOX2: $t_4 = 1.260$, P = 0.2762; NOX4: $t_4 = 0.6788$, P = 0.5345; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.10B).



Figure 5.3.10. Norgestrel does not decrease ROS production at 24 h in rd10 retinal explants. NOX2 and NOX4 were studied by RT-qPCR (A) and western blotting (B) of rd10 retinal explants treated with Norgestrel for 24 h. Norgestrel did not change either of them (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain. Blots are representative of n=3. Asterisks indicate significant difference (NS not significant).

We subsequently sought to investigate whether Norgestrel treatment affects antioxidant expression in the rd10 retina. Thus, SOD1, SOD2 and Nrf2 were analysed by RT-qPCR. Norgestrel did not change SOD1 expression (independent samples *t*-test, SOD1: $t_{10} = 0.2106$, P = 0.8374; n = 2 per group; Figure 5.3.11A), whereas SOD2 and Nrf2 were increased at 24 h (SOD2: $t_{10} = 4.402$, P = 0.0013; Nrf2: $t_{10} = 2.670$, P = 0.0235; n = 2 per group). In order to corroborate these results, western blotting was used to study changes in protein levels. Levels of SOD1 were not affected by Norgestrel treatment at 24 h, supporting the mRNA results (independent samples *t*-test, SOD1: $t_4 = 0.4912$, P = 0.649; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.11B). In addition, SOD2 and the active form of Nrf2 (pNrf2) were significantly increased by Norgestrel as previously seen by RT-qPCR (SOD2: $t_4 = 3.021$, P

= 0.0391; pNrf2: t_4 = 3.308, P = 0.0297; Nrf2: t_4 = 0.03685, P = 0.9724; n = 3 per group). This supports our findings in 661Ws that Norgestrel increases the antioxidant defenses in order to reduce the production of ROS when they become toxic in photoreceptor cells.



Figure 5.3.11. Norgestrel reduces damaging ROS by increasing antioxidants in rd10 retinal explants. SOD1, SOD2 Nrf2 were subsequently and RT-qPCR analysed by (A). SOD2 and Nrf2 expression was up-regulated by Norgestrel at 24 h (t-test comparing individual treatments), which was confirmed by western blotting **(B)**. Both SOD2 and phosphorylated Nrf2 (pNrf2) protein levels were increased by Norgestrel treatment compared with the vehicle (t-test) Equal loading of protein was demonstrated by REVERT total protein stain. Blots are representative of n=3. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01).

5.3.7. Norgestrel decreases ROS levels by increasing the antioxidants SOD2 and pNrf2 *in vivo*

Norgestrel has been demonstrated to reduce ROS *in vivo* in a balb/c induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Importantly, the current study confirms that this effect is evident in the inherited disease model *ex vivo*. We have demonstrated the role of antioxidants in this response, specifically SOD2 and the active form of Nrf2. To test our hypothesis *in vivo*, we administered a Norgestrel-supplemented diet to rd10 mice from P10. In the rd10 mouse, rod degeneration begins ~P15 and peaks at P25 (Chang *et al.*, 2002; Gargini *et al.*, 2007; Barhoum *et al.*, 2008; Samardzija *et al.*, 2012; Roche *et al.*, 2016). We have demonstrated significant neuroprotective effects of Norgestrel in the rd10 retina (Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b).



Figure 5.3.12. Norgestrel increases antioxidants SOD2 in the diseased retina in vivo. SOD2 protein levels were studied by immunofluorescence in rd10 retinas from P15 to P25 Norgestrel-fed or control-fed mice. SOD2 was significantly up-regulated by Norgestrel at P20 and P25 (t-test comparing individual treatments). Images are representative of n=3. Scale bar 50 µm. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. RGC: retinal ganglion cells, INL: inner nuclear layer, ONL: outer nuclear layer. Asterisks indicate significant difference (* P <0.05, **** P < 0.0001).

This is not the first time progesterone treatment has been associated with a reduction in oxidative stress (Webster *et al.*, 2015; Yousuf *et al.*, 2016) and with increased levels of antioxidants (Unfer *et al.*, 2015; Byrne, Ruiz-Lopez, *et al.*, 2016; Zhang, Wu, *et al.*, 2017). In order to establish whether the antioxidant proteins, SOD2 and Nrf2, play a role in the Norgestrel-mediated protection in the diseased rd10 retina, immunohistochemical analysis was performed at P15, P20 and P25. We found that Norgestrel significantly increased SOD2 and pNrf2 protein levels at P20 and P25 in the diseased retina (independent samples *t*-test, P20 SOD2: $t_{22} = 6.240$, P < 0.0001; P25 SOD2: $t_{22} = 2.533$, P = 0.019; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.12; P20 pNrf2: $t_{20} = 8.255$, P < 0.0001; P25 pNrf2: $t_{20} = 5.344$, P = 0.019; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.13).



Figure 5.3.13. Norgestrel increases antioxidants SOD2 in the diseased retina *in vivo*. Active Nrf2 (pNrf2) protein levels were studied by immunofluorescence in rd10 retinas from P15 to P25 Norgestrel-fed or control-fed mice. pNrf2 was significantly up-regulated by Norgestrel at P20 and P25 (*t*-test comparing individual treatments). Images are representative of n=3. Hoechst staining reveals cell nuclei. RGC: retinal ganglion cells, INL: inner nuclear layer, ONL: outer nuclear layer. Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** P < 0.0001).

The progression of RP was clearly identified by measuring ONL thickness. Norgestrel enhanced the preservation of photoreceptors in the three time points studied compared with the control diet as previously shown (Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016) (independent samples *t*-test, P15: $t_{22} = 0.06578$, P = 0.9481; P20: $t_{22} = 16.79$, P < 0.0001; P25: $t_{22} = 16.02$, P < 0.0001; n = 3 per group; Figure 5.3.14). Norgestrel-mediated protection through the preservation of the ONL became clearer when RP progression was obvious from P20 in the rd10 control-fed mice.



Figure 5.3.14. Norgestrel delays photoreceptor degeneration in rd10 mice. Photoreceptor layer/outer nuclear layer (ONL) thickness was measured and represented in a histogram. Norgestrel delays photoreceptor cell death and preserves ONL thickness in rd10 retinas (*t*test comparing individual treatments). Asterisks indicate significant difference (**** P < 0.0001).

Norgestrel therefore, acts through the modulation of antioxidants in order to reduce harmful ROS levels in the rd10 retina *in vivo*. These results are supported by other *in vivo* studies, which have shown similar findings. In 2008, Lu *et al.* demonstrated that progesterone treatment offers retinal protection against ischemia-reperfusion injury by increasing SOD activity in rats (Lu *et al.*, 2008).

5.4. Discussion

Previous studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that Norgestrel stimulates ROS production in order to enhance cell survival at 30 min following serum starvation (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). This response is just one among a great variety of mechanisms Norgestrel is able to produce in *in vitro*, *in vivo* and *ex vivo* models (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; 2016b; Roche *et al.*, 2017a; 2017b).

Low or moderate levels of ROS have been discovered to constitute an important part of signalling pathways within the cell during the first minutes after any cell damage (Remacle *et al.*, 1995; Rhee, 2006; D'Autréaux & Toledano, 2007; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Finkel, 2011; Ray *et al.*, 2012; Moloney & Cotter, 2017; Hashad *et al.*, 2018). Nevertheless, an increase in the amount of ROS present in the cell or a longer exposure to them can cause the cell to die (Yakes & Houten, 1997; Kim *et al.*, 2015; Fam *et al.*, 2018). This disruption of the redox homeostasis is known as 'oxidative stress'. Shokolenko *et al.* demonstrated that oxidative stress results in the degradation of mitochondrial DNA (Shokolenko *et al.*, 2009), which is one of the main causes of mutations and their subsequent effects, such as aging or some diseases (Fam *et al.*, 2018). In the current study, hydrogen peroxide, together with serum starvation, was used in order to find a valid model to study oxidative stress in the 661W cone photoreceptor cell line. Despite the fact that this molecule has been shown to be toxic after a long exposure and induce oxidative stress (Wang *et al.*, 2018), we found that its effects are very similar to serum withdrawal itself in 661W cells (Figure 5.3.1-5.3.4) and therefore, serum deprivation represents a valid model of oxidative stress.

Fortunately, cells house defence mechanisms which involve enzymatic antioxidants to counteract the damaging effects of ROS (Cadenas, 1997; Benzie, 2000; Valko *et al.*, 2007; Pisoschi & Pop, 2015; Moloney & Cotter, 2017).

However, this system cannot cope with sustained high levels of ROS. Diseases such as RP are characterised by an increase in the oxidative stress when rods first die, resulting in the subsequent death of the other type of photoreceptors: the cones (Cuenca et al., 2014; Elachouri et al., 2015; Campochiaro & Mir, 2017). For this reason, several therapeutic strategies target antioxidant machinery or incorporate exogenous antioxidant addition in order to reduce oxidative stress and enhance survival (Komeima et al., 2006, 2007; Cuenca et al., 2014; Taherian et al., 2014; Tao et al., 2016; Poprac et al., 2017). Tao et al. hypothesised that exogenous addition of antioxidants might be useful in the treatment of RP when endogenous antioxidant machinery becomes insuficient for maintaining retinal homeostasis or optimal visual function. They suggest that such approach not only benefits photoreceptors, but also helps subjacent cells types to maintain visual signal transduction (Tao et al., 2016). The molecule proposed to accomplish such function is hydrogen given its low molecular weight and lipid solubility to easily penetrate the blood-retina barrier. However, hydrogen therapy needs to be optimised to help RP patients. Even though not all the clinical trials employing antioxidant supplementation have successfully worked, antioxidant therapies are still very promising. Some of the possible explanations regarding their failure might be related with finding an optimal dose, the use of several antioxidants to work in combination or the stage of the disease in which the therapy starts (Poprac et al., 2017). For these reasons, a compound that could stimulate endogenous intracellular antioxidant mechanisms, rather than exogenous addition, would be ideal given that cells could autoregulate these pathways.

We show in the current study that Norgestrel enhances cell survival through the decrease of damaging ROS produced at 24 h following serum starvation in 661W photoreceptor cells (Figure 5.3.5). However, we found that Norgestrel is no longer protective at 48 h following SS (Figure 5.3.6). We hypothesise that the stress suffered at this time point is so severe that Norgestrel is not able to face such damage. Studies on other cell lines confirm this hypothesis (Tavaluc *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2012). In fact, Chen *et al.* also described a remarkable decrease in cell survival upon 48 h SS (Chen *et al.*, 2012). As previously mentioned, the reduction in ROS levels can be either the result of a decrease in the production by intracellular sources, or because of an increase in the antioxidant defence (Moloney & Cotter, 2017). In this study, we have shown that Norgestrel does not change levels of NOX proteins (Figure 5.3.7), which are known to be one of the major generators of ROS molecules within the cell. These proteins were of interest in this study due to the fact that they have been associated with cone cell death occurring in RP (Usui *et al.*, 2009; Zeng *et al.*, 2014). Usui *et al.* proved that NOX-mediated ROS production, and not other sources, is responsible of such cell death in the rd1 mouse model of RP.

On the other hand, Norgestrel was able to increase levels of the antioxidant SOD2 and phosphorylation levels of the transcription factor Nrf2 (pNrf2) in order to reduce ROS produced by suppression of trophic supplementation in 661W photoreceptor-like cells (Figure 5.3.8). In fact, Chen *et al.* demonstrated in 2017 that exposure to blue light for 24 h increases Nrf2 levels in 661W cells (Chen *et al.*, 2017). Our findings were more profound in retinal explants from rd10 mice (Figure 5.3.9-5.3.11) and in retinas of rd10 mice fed with a Norgestrel-supplemented diet (Figure 5.3.12-5.3.14), strengthening our hypothesis that Norgestrel utilises antioxidants to decrease harmful ROS in the diseased retina. Moreover, increased levels of SOD2 but not SOD1 have been observed in stressed 661W cells and rd10 retinal explants treated with another neuroprotective compound, Rosiglitazone, during 24 h

(Doonan *et al.*, 2009). Our results reinforce the use of 661W cells and retinal explants as valid approaches to study photoreceptor degeneration occurring in RP.

Nrf2 is a basic-leucine-zipper protein that once activated by phosphorylation acts as a transcription factor in the nucleus, modulating the expression of different genes, including antioxidant enzymes such as SOD proteins (Gwarzo, 2009; Kaspar *et al.*, 2009; Niture *et al.*, 2013). Thus, Nrf2, which is ubiquitously expressed in a wide range of tissues and cell types, serves as a sensor of oxidative stress in the cell and is regarded as a critical component of the antioxidant defence (Dhakshinamoorthy *et al.*, 2001; Jaiswal, 2004). Several studies support the idea that Nrf2 plays an important role in cell survival (Lee, Calkins, *et al.*, 2003; Manandhar *et al.*, 2007; Dong *et al.*, 2008; Park *et al.*, 2018). In addition, Nrf2 has been linked with neuroprotection in neurodegenerative diseases (Chen *et al.*, 2009; Dinkova-Kostova *et al.*, 2018) and protection in the eye (Himori *et al.*, 2013; Xu *et al.*, 2014; Xiong *et al.*, 2015; Nakagami, 2016) as a result of progesterone treatment (Zhang *et al.*, 2017). Indeed, Norgestrel has been demonstrated to modulate activation of Nrf2 to reduce damaging ROS in an induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Therefore, Norgestrel-mediated activation of this important cellular component of the protective response against oxidative damage in the rd10 retina is not surprising.

SOD metalloproteins, which contain cooper, zinc or manganese in their catalytic centre, are the most important antioxidants in the defence system against ROS (Fukai & Ushio-Fukai, 2011). CuZn-SOD (SOD1) and Mn-SOD (SOD2) are located in the cytoplasm and mitochondria, respectively (Zelko *et al.*, 2002), and are key effectors of Nrf2. They were of interest in this study given that there is evidence in the literature showing that they can be up-regulated by progesterone (Unfer *et al.*, 2006, 2015; Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Unfer *et al.* demonstrated not only that progesterone treatment prevented the decrease in blood SOD1 and SOD2 levels that occurs in postmenopausal women, but also an increase in both enzymes activity to increase antioxidant capacity (Unfer *et al.*, 2006, 2015).

In summary, this study presents an important function in the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection in the diseased retina through the utilization of antioxidants to reduce damaging ROS (Fig. 5.4.1).



Figure 5.4.1. Proposed pathway of Norgestrel-mediated response in diseased photoreceptors. It has been previously shown that Norgestrel acts through the progesterone receptor membrane complex I (PGRMC1) to modulate ROS signalling (Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). This schematic represents how Norgestrel induces Nrf2 phosphorylation (pNrf2) and increases mitochondrial SOD2 to reduce intracellular ROS levels and promote neuroprotection in diseased photoreceptor cells.

Chapter 6: General Discussion
The study of molecules such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) has completely changed in the last decades. Traditionally believed to induce cellular damage, attempts have been made to find mechanisms to reduce their production in order to prevent cell death. Throughout this thesis, we have shown a dual nature of these molecules, being also able to participate as signalling messengers to enhance photoreceptor survival (Chapter 3 and 4). Their persistence during time convert ROS into toxic molecules that subsequently induce cell death (Chapter 5). Numerous studies from this group (Carmody *et al.*, 1999; Sanvicens *et al.*, 2004; Sanvicens & Cotter, 2006; England *et al.*, 2006; Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Groeger *et al.*, 2009b; Bhatt *et al.*, 2010; Farrell *et al.*, 2011; Gough & Cotter, 2011; Groeger *et al.*, 2002; Stanicka *et al.*, 2005; Byrne *et al.*, 2003; Andreyev *et al.*, 2017b) and others (Herrlich & Böhmer, 2000; Imlay, 2003; Lee *et al.*, 2003; Andreyev *et al.*, 2005; Rhee, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2007; Bae *et al.*, 2011; Brandes *et al.*, 2014b; Kim *et al.*, 2015; Reczek & Chandel, 2015; Battistelli *et al.*, 2016; Di Meo *et al.*, 2016; Antunes & Brito, 2017; Sies, 2017) have described this double nature of ROS so far.

This thesis highlights a novel and important property of Norgestrel: the modulation of intracellular ROS levels in retinal degeneration (Chapter 3, 4 and 5). This is the first time that Norgestrel has been demonstrated to utilise ROS as second messengers as part of its mechanism of action in photoreceptors (Chapter 3; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, we have also demonstrated that such increases in ROS levels at early time points are the consequence of the Norgestrel-mediated modulation of intracellular sources, as is the case of NOX4 (Chapter 4).

The importance of such findings relies on the fact that even though Norgestrel is an exogenous compound, its binding to the transmembrane progesterone receptor PGRMC1 (Figure 3.3.8) (Wyse Jackson *et al.*, 2016a; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017) causes an intracellular signalling cascade that cells can easily autoregulate. Hence, despite both bFGF (Figure 3.3.9) and ROS (Figure 3.3.6), being up-regulated as the consequence of Norgestrel's effects, we believe their levels are most probably controlled by photoreceptors depending on the duration of the signalling response. According to this, we observed that bFGF and ROS levels go back to normal once the signalling response has finished.

Similarly, Norgestrel modulates NOX4 expression as the main source of pro-survival ROS in photoreceptor cells. We have shown that Norgestrel is no longer protective in the absence of NOX enzymes (Chapter 4). Other studies have also demonstrated that these proteins, especially NOX4, are important in the stimulation of survival mechanisms in a wide range of cell types (Abid *et al.*, 2007; Brown & Griendling, 2009; Groeger *et al.*, 2009a; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014b; Accetta *et al.*, 2016; Moon *et al.*, 2016; Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández, 2017). Abid *et al.* demonstrated that NOX-derived ROS are required for the VEGF-mediated activation of the Akt pathway and subsequent proliferation of endothelial cells (Abid *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, ROS produced by NOX enzymes are thought to play a role in the vascular and inmune systems, hormone synthesis and the physiology of the brain as reviewed by Brown & Griendling (Brown & Griendling, 2009), Brandes *et al.* (Brandes *et al.*, 2014b) and Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández (Prieto-Bermejo & Hernández-Hernández, 2017). This is not surprising given that the only known function of NOX proteins is the production of ROS (Bedard & Krause, 2007; Takac *et al.*, 2012; Brandes *et al.*, 2014a), suggesting they are easier to regulate than other intracellular sources.

Both mitochondria, the other major ROS generators, and COX proteins, which have been related with bFGF-mediated ROS response in 661W cells (Farrell *et al.*, 2011), were found not to play a role in the Norgestrel-mediated signalling response (Figure 4.3.16-4.3.19). The fact that NOX4 was responsible for such mission was not surprising (Figure 4.3.4-4.3.11) given that NOX4 appears to be constitutively active (von Löhneysen *et al.*, 2012). Our results therefore, strengthen our hypothesis that Norgestrel uses NOX4 to produce prosurvival quantities of ROS, provided that it might be a source that cells can effectively autoregulate.

Although this autoregulated system seems to be infallible, a prolonged exposure to stress, such as serum starvation, inevitably leads to cell death. We have widely discussed throughout this thesis that the presence of high amounts of ROS can be lethal (Chance, 1979; Gorman et al., 1997; Curtin et al., 2002; Rhee, 2006; Battistelli et al., 2016). In fact, some types of cell death produced in diseases such as retinitis pigmentosa have been linked with oxidative damage (Shen et al., 2005; Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Punzo et al., 2012; Campochiaro et al., 2015). Thus, an effective antioxidant defence machinery is required in order to balance ROS levels and avoid oxidative stress. This system has widely changed during the evolution of the atmosphere and living organisms. Due to a hydrogen-rich atmosphere, procaryotic organisms used hydrogen as an electron donor and released oxygen as a waste product. However, once atmospheric O₂ levels began to rise, more complex and compartmentalised eukaryotic forms appeared to use oxygen as a final electron acceptor. Consequently, antioxidant defence mechanisms evolved to combat oxidative damage produced by the toxic intermediates of oxygen, such as O_2^{-} and OH• (Benzie, 2000). "Living with the risk of oxidative stress is a price that aerobic organisms must pay for more efficient bioenergetics" (quoted from Skulachev (Skulachev, 1996)).

Given that superoxide is the first free radical formed as the consequence of the partial reduction of oxygen, its elimination represents a major step in the antioxidant response. Such task is performed by superoxide dismutases (SODs), which therefore, constitute the first line of defence against ROS. CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2) and SOD3 are the three isoforms of this family of proteins. SOD3 has not been considered in this thesis taking into account its extracellular location as mentioned in chapter 1. Overall, SOD1 (cytoplasmic) and SOD2 (mitochondrial) are responsible for the intracellular conversion of O_2^{-} to H_2O_2 , and SOD2, the most important member of the SOD family providing superoxide is mainly generated in the mitochondria (Murphy, 2009). These enzymes are regulated by transcription factors such as Nrf2 (Gwarzo, 2009; Kaspar *et al.*, 2009; Niture *et al.*, 2013). In 2009, Gwarzo showed a 50% reduction in the brain levels of SOD2 in the Nrf2 knockout mice, Nrf2^(-/-) (Gwarzo, 2009), confirming the link between these proteins.

In 2016, we demonstrated that Norgestrel was able to increase the transcription factor Nrf2 and its antioxidant effector, SOD2, in order to reduce damaging ROS in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b). Despite the fact that this mouse model is an invaluable tool to study cell death within the stressed retina, it is important to notice that the photoreceptor cell death occuring in the balb/c mouse is light-induced and therefore, is not a model of any genetic disease, including retinitis pigmentosa. In this context, we designed this study in order to elucidate such response in the genetic rd10 mouse model of RP. Interestingly, we could confirm such results, being the first time that Norgestrel's effects on harmful ROS levels have been studied in the diseased retina (Chapter 5). Norgestrel decreases the amount of ROS when they become pathological *in vitro* (Figure 5.3.5) and in the photoreceptors of the rd10 retina (Figure 5.3.9) through the up-regulation of Nrf2 and its antioxidant effector SOD2 as described before (Byrne *et al.*, 2016b).

These results are very promising in the treatment of late stages of RP, given that the majority of RP cases are detected when rods degeneration has already started and preservation of the remaining photoreceptor cells is essential. Taking into that account subsequent cone cell death happens due to oxidative damage (Shen *et al.*, 2005; Carmody & Cotter, 2007; Punzo *et al.*, 2012; Campochiaro *et al.*, 2015), the use of antioxidants as therapeutic molecules for retinitis pigmentosa is desirable. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the exogenous addition of natural and/or synthetic antioxidants successfully prevents cell death (Jarrett *et al.*, 2006; Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007; Valko *et al.*, 2007; Dong *et al.*, 2008; Trachootham *et al.*, 2008; Lu *et al.*, 2009; Usui *et al.*, 2009, 2011; Cuenca *et al.*, 2014). In fact, antioxidant supplementation is able to slow the progression of the disease in both the rd1 and the rd10 mice model of RP (Komeima *et al.*, 2006, 2007).

Unfortunately, the majority of these antioxidant strategies have proved inefficient (Nickel *et al.*, 2014; Sanz & Bernardi, 2016), although the reasons are not very clear. One explanation is that the exogenous addition of antioxidants in order to abolish the total production of ROS might be erroneous. The importance of moderate and controlled quantities of ROS acting as signalling molecules has been demonstrated throughout this thesis. We believe the total abolishment of such action would not only be inefficient, but also prejudicial for cells as suggested by other authors (Bickham & Smolen, 1994; Sheu *et al.*, 2006; Nickel *et al.*, 2014). Nickel *et al.* suggested that the blockage of NOX4-derived ROS might have detrimental results due to its protective roles, and proposed that an antioxidant therapy directed to specific sources, such as mitochondria, would improve this strategie (Nickel *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, mitochondria-targeted drugs are being developed for such purposes (Sheu *et al.*, 2006; McCarthy & Kenny, 2016), as is the case of MitoTEMPO (Ni *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2017), which has been used in the chapter 4 of this thesis.

Nevertheless, some studies suggest that mitochondrial ROS can also participate in cell signalling (Dan Dunn *et al.*, 2015; Diebold & Chandel, 2016; Sanz & Bernardi, 2016). Interestingly, some authors have demonstrated the existence of a crosstalk between mitochondria and NOX proteins to produce pro-survival ROS (Kimura *et al.*, 2005; Daiber, 2010; Dikalov, 2011; Bordt & Polster, 2014; Dikalov *et al.*, 2014; Harel *et al.*, 2017; Kim *et al.*, 2017; Zinkevich *et al.*, 2017). This system represents a feed-forward vicious cycle of ROS production that might serve to amplify the signal within the cell as reviewed by Dikalov (Dikalov, 2011). If true, mitochondrial-targeted drugs might be inefficient as well.

We believe that a compound that could stimulate the intracellular antioxidant machinery when needed would be a more efficient approach. In this context, Norgestrel has been demonstrated to be a perfect candidate to do so. Rosiglitazone, another FDA-approved compound that has been mentioned in this thesis, also shows such ability through the upregulation of the intracellular levels of the antioxidant SOD2 (Doonan *et al.*, 2009). Nonetheless, the level of neuroprotection of this compound was not as important as the one observed following Norgestrel treatment. We hypothesise that the reason for such difference relies on the broad spectrum of mechanisms that Norgestrel is able to modulate in order to consolidate a neuroprotective environment to enhance cell survival.

Despite the fact that progesterone has been used to regulate pro-survival pathways in the CNS (De Nicola, 1993; Joëls, 1997; Azcoitia *et al.*, 1999; McEwen, 1999; Schumacher *et al.*, 2000; Petersen *et al.*, 2013), retinal studies have failed to show beneficial effects of progesterone (Káldi & Berta, 2004). Doonan *et al.* however, achieved retinal neuroprotection using Norgestrel in the balb/c induced light damage mouse model and in the genetic rd10 mouse (Doonan *et al.*, 2011). This protection could be produced given that synthetic progestins, such as Norgestrel, are rapidly absorbed, have a longer half-life and maintain

stable levels in the blood in comparison to natural progesterone, which means that higher concentrations of Norgestrel last for longer in the body (Doonan & Cotter, 2012).

Since 2011, our laboratory has focussed on elucidating Norgestrel's mechanism of action. All this work has greatly improved since a Norgestrel-supplemented diet was developed by Testdiet (Middlesex, UK), which prevents adverse reactions of invasive techniques, such as intraperitoneal injections. The level of success of this non-invasive technique in the rd10 retina has been demonstrated so far (Roche & Wyse-Jackson *et al.*, 2016; Roche *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b), being the first time that such a great protection has been seen in this model of RP.

Clearly, our understanding of how this progesterone-analogue works to prevent cell death is expanding. This thesis elucidates another important aspect of its mechanism of action, demonstrating that redox biology is another part of the multi-faceted action of Norgestrel within the diseased retina. Reactive oxygen species are both up- (Chapter 3 and 4) and down-regulated (Chapter 5) by Norgestrel according to the needs of photoreceptors. We believe these results, together with Norgestrel's ability to modulate neurotrophic factors expression (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017a, 2017b), are the reasons why Norgestrel is a particularly interesting neuroprotectant.

Mutations in the *Pde6b* gene, which result in both the rd1 and rd10 mouse models, represent only a 4-5% of autosomal recesive RP cases as discussed in chapter 1. Other types of retinitis pigmentosa also display a rod-cone dystrophy caused by the first lost of rods and subsequent death of cones, as is the case of autosomal dominant RP produced by mutations in the rhodopsin (*RHO*) gene (Athanasiou *et al.*, 2018). Since rhodopsin is also part of the phototransduction cascade and therefore, photoreceptors cell death might be produced in a similar way as the one seen in rd1 and rd10 mice, we believe that Norgestrel could also enhance neuroprotection in this and other types of RP. In fact, some therapies used in the treatment of RP produced by rhodopsin mutations include the use of neurotrophic factors (Mendes *et al.*, 2005), which have been demonstrated to be up-regulated by Norgestrel (Doonan *et al.*, 2011; Byrne *et al.*, 2016a; Wyse Jackson & Cotter, 2016; Ruiz-Lopez *et al.*, 2017).

Furthermore, other diseases in which inflammation, gliosis and reactive oxygen species are in part responsible for irreversible blindness (Jarrett *et al.*, 2008; Dogru *et al.*, 2009; Schrier & Falk, 2011; Kruk *et al.*, 2015), such as glaucoma and age-related macular degeneration (AMD), can also be considered for the study of the Norgestrel-mediated neuroprotection. Hormone therapy used for the patients with glaucoma has shown promising results (Nakazawa *et al.*, 2006; Kolomeyer & Zarbin, 2014), indicating that Norgestrel could be a suitable candidate to be taken into account. Thus, we hope to bring our work to the point that this treatment is ready for clinical trials, closer to patients suffering from retinal degeneration. Chapter 7: Bibliography

- Abdo, K.M., Eustis, S.L., Haseman, J., Huff, J.E., Peters, A., & Persing, R. (1988) Toxicity and carcinogenicity of rotenone given in the feed to F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice for up to two years. *Drug Chem. Toxicol.*, **11**, 225–235.
- Abid, M.R., Kachra, Z., Spokes, K.C., & Aird, W.C. (2000) NADPH oxidase activity is required for endothelial cell proliferation and migration. *FEBS Lett.*, **486**, 252–256.
- Abid, M.R., Spokes, K.C., Shih, S.-C., & Aird, W.C. (2007) NADPH Oxidase Activity Selectively Modulates Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathways. J. Biol. Chem., 282, 35373–35385.
- Accetta, R., Damiano, S., Morano, A., Mondola, P., Paternò, R., Avvedimento, E. V, & Santillo, M. (2016) Reactive Oxygen Species Derived from NOX3 and NOX5 Drive Differentiation of Human Oligodendrocytes. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.*, **10**, 1–17.
- Ago, T., Kitazono, T., Ooboshi, H., Iyama, T., Han, Y.H., Takada, J., Wakisaka, M., Ibayashi, S., Utsumi, H., & Iida, M. (2004) Nox4 as the major catalytic component of an endothelial NAD(P)H oxidase. *Circulation*, **109**, 227–233.
- Allard, R.E. (1983) Retinitis pigmentosa--an overview. J. Am. Optom. Assoc., 54, 793-800.
- Allen, R.S., Olsen, T.W., Sayeed, I., Cale, H.A., Morrison, K.C., Oumarbaeva, Y., Lucaciu, I., Boatright, J.H., Pardue, M.T., & Stein, D.G. (2015) Progesterone Treatment in Two Rat Models of Ocular Ischemia. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 56, 2880–2891.
- Altenhö, S., Radermacher, K.A., Kleikers, P.W.M., Wingler, K., & Schmidt, H.H.H.W. (2015) Evolution of NADPH Oxidase Inhibitors: Selectivity and Mechanisms for Target Engagement. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 23, 406–427.
- Al-Ubaidi, M.R., Matsumoto, H., Kurono, S., & Singh, A. (2008) Proteomics Profiling of the Cone Photoreceptor Cell Line, 661W. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 613, 301–311.
- Ambasta, R.K., Kumar, P., Griendling, K.K., Schmidt, H.H.H.W., Busse, R., & Brandes, R.P. (2004) Direct Interaction of the Novel Nox Proteins with p22phox Is Required for the Formation of a Functionally Active NADPH Oxidase. J. Biol. Chem., 279, 45935– 45941.
- Ames, A. (2000) CNS energy metabolism as related to function. Brain Res. Rev., 34, 42-68.
- Andreyev, A.Y., Kushnareva, Y.E., & Starkov, A.A. (2005) Mitochondrial Metabolism of Reactive Oxygen Species. *Biochemistry*, 70, 200–214.
- Antonenkov, V.D., Grunau, S., Ohlmeier, S., & Hiltunen, J.K. (2010) Peroxisomes Are Oxidative Organelles. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 13, 525–537.
- Antunes, F. & Brito, P.M. (2017) Quantitative biology of hydrogen peroxide signaling. *Redox Biol.*, **13**, 1–7.
- Arroba, A.I., Wallace, D., MacKey, A., De La Rosa, E.J., & Cotter, T.G. (2009) IGF-I maintains calpastatin expression and attenuates apoptosis in several models of photoreceptor cell death. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **30**, 975–986.
- Arroba, A.I., Álvarez-Lindo, N., van Rooijen, N., & de la Rosa, E.J. (2011) Microgliamediated IGF-I neuroprotection in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **52**, 9124–9130.
- Arroba, A.I. & Valverde, Á.M. (2015) Inhibition of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase 1B Improves IGF-I Receptor Signaling and Protects Against Inflammation-Induced Gliosis

in the Retina. Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci., 56, 8031.

- Athanasiou, D., Aguila, M., Bellingham, J., Li, W., Mcculley, C., Reeves, P.J., & Cheetham, M.E. (2018) The molecular and cellular basis of rhodopsin retinitis pigmentosa reveals potential strategies for therapy. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, 62, 1–23.
- Attella, M.J., Nattinville, A., & Stein, D.G. (1987) Hormonal state affects recovery from frontal cortex lesions in adult female rats. *Behav. Neural Biol.*, **48**, 352–367.
- Azcoitia, I., Fernandez-Galaz, C., Sierra, A., & Garcia-Segura, L.M. (1999) Gonadal hormones affect neuronal vulnerability to excitotoxin-induced degeneration. J. *Neurocytol.*, 28, 699–710.
- Bae, Y.S., Oh, H., Rhee, S.G., & Yoo, Y. Do (2011) Regulation of reactive oxygen species generation in cell signaling. *Mol. Cells*, 32, 491–509.
- Bai, G., Hock, T.D., Logsdon, N., Zhou, Y., & Thannickal, V.J. (2014) A far-upstream AP-1/Smad binding box regulates human NOX4 promoter activation by transforming growth factor-β. *Gene*, **540**, 62–67.
- Bánfi, B., Malgrange, B., Knisz, J., Steger, K., Dubois-Dauphin, M., & Krause, K.-H. (2004) NOX3, a Superoxide-generating NADPH Oxidase of the Inner Ear. J. Biol. Chem., 279, 46065–46072.
- Barhoum, R., Martínez-Navarrete, G., Corrochano, S., Germain, F., Fernandez-Sanchez, L., De, E.J., Rosa, L., De, P., Villa, L., & Cuenca, A.N. (2008) Functional and structural modifications during retinal degeneration in the rd10 mouse. *Neuroscience*, **155**, 698– 713.
- Barrientos, A. & Moraes, C.T. (1999) Titrating the Effects of Mitochondrial Complex I Impairment in the Cell Physiology. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 16188–16197.
- Battistelli, M., Malatesta, M., & Meschini, S. (2016) Oxidative Stress to Promote Cell Death or Survival. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev., 2016, 2–4.
- Baulieu, E.E., Robel, P., & Schumacher, M. (2001) Neurosteroids: beginning of the story. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.*, 46, 1–32.
- Bedard, K. & Krause, K.-H. (2007) The NOX Family of ROS-Generating NADPH Oxidases: Physiology and Pathophysiology. *Physiol. Rev.*, 87, 245–313.
- Bednarek-Tupikowska, G., Tworowska, U., Jedrychowska, I., Radomska, B., Tupikowski, K., Bidzinska-Speichert, B., & Milewicz, A. (2006) Effects of oestradiol and oestroprogestin on erythrocyte antioxidative enzyme system activity in postmenopausal women. *Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf).*, 64, 463–468.
- Benitez-Alfonso, Y., Jackson, D., & Maule, A. (2011) Redox regulation of intercellular transport. *Protoplasma*, 248, 131–140.
- Benzie, I.F.F. (2000) Evolution of antioxidant defence mechanisms. Eur. J. Nutr., 39, 53-61.
- Beretta, S., Wood, J.P.M., Derham, B., Sala, G., Tremolizzo, L., Ferrarese, C., & Osborne, N.N. (2006) Partial mitochondrial complex I inhibition induces oxidative damage and perturbs glutamate transport in primary retinal cultures. Relevance to Leber Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHON). *Neurobiol. Dis.*, 24, 308–317.

Berson, E.L. (1993) Retinitis pigmentosa. Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci., 34, 1659–1676.

- Bhatt, L., Groeger, G., McDermott, K., & Cotter, T.G. (2010) Rod and cone photoreceptor cells produce ROS in response to stress in a live retinal explant system. *Mol. Vis.*, **16**, 283–293.
- Bhisitkul, R.B., Winn, B.J., Lee, O.-T., Wong, J., Pereira, D. de S., Porco, T.C., He, X., Hahn, P., & Dunaief, J.L. (2008) Neuroprotective Effect of Intravitreal Triamcinolone Acetonide against Photoreceptor Apoptosis in a Rabbit Model of Subretinal Hemorrhage. *Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci.*, **49**, 4071–4077.
- Bickham, J.W. & Smolen, M.J. (1994) Somatic and heritable effects of environmental genotoxins and the emergence of evolutionary toxicology. *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 102, 25–28.
- Birben, E., Murat, U., Md, S., Sackesen, C., Erzurum, S., & Kalayci, O. (2012) Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Defense. *WAO J.*, **5**, 9–19.
- Block, K., Gorin, Y., & Abboud, H.E. (2009) Subcellular localization of Nox4 and regulation in diabetes. *PNAS*, **106**, 14385–14390.
- Boonyaratanakornkit, V., Scott, M.P., Ribon, V., Sherman, L., Anderson, S.M., Maller, J.L., Miller, W.T., & Edwards, D.P. (2001) Progesterone Receptor Contains a Proline-Rich Motif that Directly Interacts with SH3 Domains and Activates c-Src Family Tyrosine Kinases. *Mol. Cell*, 8, 269–280.
- Bordt, E.A. & Polster, B.M. (2014) NADPH oxidase- and mitochondria-derived reactive oxygen species in proinflammatory microglial activation_ a bipartisan affair? *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **76**, 34–46.
- Boughman, J.A., Conneally, P.M., & Nance1, W.E. (1980) Population Genetic Studies of Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.*, **32**, 223–235.
- Bowes, C., Li, T., Danciger, M., Baxter, L.C., Applebury, M.L., & Farber, D.B. (1990) Retinal degeneration in the rd mouse is caused by a defect in the β subunit of rod cGMP-phosphodiesterase. *Nature*, **347**, 677–680.
- Brand, M.D., Affourtit, C., Esteves, T.C., Green, K., Lambert, A.J., Miwa, S., Pakay, J.L., & Parker, N. (2004) Mitochondrial superoxide: production, biological effects, and activation of uncoupling proteins. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **37**, 755–767.
- Brand, M.D. (2016) Mitochondrial generation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide as the source of mitochondrial redox signaling. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **100**, 14–31.
- Brandes, R.P., Weissmann, N., & Schröder, K. (2014a) Nox family NADPH oxidases: Molecular mechanisms of activation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **76**, 208–226.
- Brandes, R.P., Weissmann, N., & Schröder, K. (2014b) Redox-mediated signal transduction by cardiovascular Nox NADPH oxidases. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol., 73, 70–79.
- Brinton, R.D. (2001) Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Estrogen Regulation of Memory Function and Neuroprotection Against Alzheimer's Disease: Recent Insights and Remaining Challenges. *Learn. Mem.*, 8, 121–133.
- Brown, D.I. & Griendling, K.K. (2009) Nox proteins in signal transduction. *Free Radic*. *Biol. Med.*, **47**, 1239–1253.
- Buch, P., MacLaren, R., & Ali, R. (2007) Neuroprotective Gene Therapy for the Treatment of Inherited Retinal Degeneration. *Curr. Gene Ther.*, **7**, 434–445.

- Bunker, C.H., Berson, E.L., Bromley, W.C., Hayes, R.P., & Roderick, T.H. (1984) Prevalence of Retinitis Pigmentosa in Maine. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.*, **97**, 357–365.
- Burdon, R.H. (1995) Superoxide and Hydrogen Peroxide in relation to Mammalian Cell Proliferation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **18**, 775–794.
- Bürgi, S., Samardzija, M., & Grimm, C. (2009) Endogenous leukemia inhibitory factor protects photoreceptor cells against light-induced degeneration. *Mol. Vis.*, 15, 1631– 1637.
- Burgoyne, J.R., Oka, S., Ale-Agha, N., & Eaton, P. (2013) Hydrogen Peroxide Sensing and Signaling by Protein Kinases in the Cardiovascular System. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 18, 1042–1052.
- Byrne, A.M., Roche, S.L., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Jackson, A.C.W., & Cotter, T.G. (2016a) The synthetic progestin norgestrel acts to increase LIF levels in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Mol. Vis.*, **22**, 264–274.
- Byrne, A.M., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Roche, S.L., Moloney, J.N., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., & Cotter, T.G. (2016b) The synthetic progestin norgestrel modulates Nrf2 signaling and acts as an antioxidant in a model of retinal degeneration. *Redox Biol.*, **10**, 128–139.
- Cadenas, E. (1997) Basic mechanisms of antioxidant activity. *BioFactors*, 6, 391–397.
- Caffé, A.R., Ahuja, P., Holmqvist, B., Azadi, S., Forsell, J., Holmqvist, I., Sö Derpalm, A.K., & Van Veen, T. (2001) Mouse retina explants after long-term culture in serum free medium. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.*, **22**, 263–273.
- Cahill, M.A. (2007) Progesterone receptor membrane component 1: An integrative review. J. *Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **105**, 16–36.
- Cahill, M.A. (2017) The evolutionary appearance of signaling motifs in PGRMC1. *Biosci. Trends*, **11**, 179–192.
- Campochiaro, P.A., Chang, M., Ohsato, M., Vinores, S.A., Nie, Z., Hjelmeland, L., Mansukhani, A., Basilico, C., & Zack132, D.J. (1996) Retinal Degeneration in Transgenic Mice with Photoreceptor- Specific Expression of a Dominant-Negative Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor. J. Neurosci., 76, 1679–1688.
- Campochiaro, P.A., Strauss, R.W., Lu, L., Hafiz, G., Wolfson, Y., Shah, S.M., Sophie, R., Mir, T.A., & Scholl, H.P. (2015) Is There Excess Oxidative Stress and Damage in Eyes of Patients with Retinitis Pigmentosa? *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 23, 643–649.
- Campochiaro, P.A. & Mir, T.A. (2017) The mechanism of cone cell death in Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, **1**, 1–14.
- Capel, I.D., Jenner, M., Williams, D.C., Donaldson, D., & Nath, A. (1981) The effect of prolonged oral contraceptive steroid use on erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase activity. *J. Steroid Biochem.*, 14, 729–732.
- Carmody, R.J., Mcgowan, A.J., & Cotter, T.G. (1999) Reactive Oxygen Species as Mediators of Photoreceptor Apoptosis in Vitro. *Exp. Cell Res.*, **284**, 520–530.
- Carmody, R. & Cotter, T. (2007) Oxidative stress induces caspase-independent retinal apoptosis in vitro. *Cell Death Differ.*, **7**, 282–291.
- Carter-Dawson, L., LaVail, M.M., & Sidman, R.L. (1979) Rods and Cones in the Mouse Retina. J. Comp. Neurol., 188, 263–272.

- Cebeci, Z. & Kir, N. (2015) Role of implants in the treatment of diabetic macular edema: focus on the dexamethasone intravitreal implant. *Diabetes, Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.*, **8**, 555–566.
- Chance, B. (1979) Hydroperoxide Metabolism in Mammalian Organs. *Physicological Rev.*, **59**, 527–606.
- Chang, B., Hawes, N.L., Hurd, R.E., Davisson, M.T., Nusinowitz, S., & Heckenlively, J.R. (2002) Retinal degeneration mutants in the mouse. *Vision Res.*, **42**, 517–525.
- Chang, B., Hawes, N.L., Pardue, M.T., German, A.M., Hurd, R.E., Davisson, M.T., Nusinowitz, S., Rengarajan, K., Boyd, A.P., Starr, S.S., Chaudhury, R.C., Nickerson, J.M., Heckenlively, J.R., Boatright, J.H., & Boatright, J.H. (2007) Two mouse retinal degenerations caused by missense mutations in the beta-subunit of rod cGMP phosphodiesterase gene. *Vision Res.*, 47, 624–633.
- Chauvin, C., De Oliveira, F., Ronot, X., Mousseau, M., Leverve, X., & Fontaine, E. (2001) Rotenone Inhibits the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition- induced Cell Death in U937 and KB Cells. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 41394–41398.
- Chen, C.K., Burns, M.E., Spencer, M., Niemi, G.A., Chen, J., Hurley, J.B., Baylor, D.A., & Simon, M.I. (1999) Abnormal photoresponses and light-induced apoptosis in rods lacking rhodopsin kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **96**, 3718–3722.
- Chen, M., Huang, J., Yang, X., Liu, B., Zhang, W., Huang, L., Deng, F., Ma, J., Bai, Y., Lu, R., Huang, B., Gao, Q., Zhuo, Y., & Ge, J. (2012) Serum starvation induced cell cycle synchronization facilitates human somatic cells reprogramming. *PLoS One*, 7, 1–9.
- Chen, P.C., Vargas, M.R., Pani, A.K., Smeyne, R.J., Johnson, D.A., Kan, Y.W., & Johnson, J.A. (2009) Nrf2-mediated neuroprotection in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease: Critical role for the astrocyte. *PNAS*, **106**, 2933–2938.
- Chen, W.J., Wu, C., Xu, Z., Kuse, Y., Hara, H., & Duh, E.J. (2017) Nrf2 protects photoreceptor cells from photo-oxidative stress induced by blue light. *Exp. Eye Res.*, **154**, 151–158.
- Cheng, L.L., Han, R.-Y., Yang, F.-Y., Yu, X.-P., Xu, J.-L., Min, Q.-J., Tian, J., Ge, X.-L., Zheng, S.-S., Lin, Y.-W., Zheng, Y.-H., Qu, J., & Gu, F. (2016) Novel mutations in causing human retinitis pigmentosa. *Int. J. Ophtalmol.*, 9, 1094–1099.
- Choksi, K.B., Nuss, J.E., DeFord, J.H., & Papaconstantinou, J. (2008) Age-related alterations in oxidatively damaged proteins of mouse skeletal muscle mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **45**, 826–838.
- Cingolani, C., Rogers, B., Lu, L., Kachi, S., Shen, J., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2005) Retinal degeneration from oxidative damage. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **40**, 660–669.
- Clark, R.A. & Valente, A.J. (2004) Nuclear factor kappa B activation by NADPH oxidases. *Mech. Ageing Dev.*, **125**, 799–810.
- Compagnone, N.A. (2008) Treatments for spinal cord injury: Is there hope in neurosteroids? *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **109**, 307–313.
- Conn, J.W., Vogel, W.C., Louis, L.H., & Fajans, S.S. (1950) Serum cholesterol: a probable precursor of adrenal cortical hormones. J. Lab. Clin. Med., 35, 504–517.
- Corrochano, S., Barhoum, R., Boya, P., Arroba, A.I., Rodríguez-Muela, N., Gómez-Vicente, V., Bosch, F., De Pablo, F., De La Villa, P., & De La Rosa, E.J. (2008) Attenuation of

vision loss and delay in apoptosis of photoreceptors induced by proinsulin in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **49**, 4188–4194.

- Cote, R. (2004) Characteristics of Photoreceptor PDE (PDE6): similarities and differences to PDE5 PDE6, the central effector of visual transduction in rods and cones. *Int. J. Impot. Res.*, **16**, 28–33.
- Cox, G. (1995) Glucocorticoid treatment inhibits apoptosis in human neutrophils. Separation of survival and activation outcomes. J. Immunol., **154**, 4719–4725.
- Crestani, B., Besnard, V., & Boczkowski, J. (2011) Signalling pathways from NADPH oxidase-4 to idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, **43**, 1086–1089.
- Cross, A.R. & Jones, O.T.G. (1986) The effect of the inhibitor diphenylene iodonium on the superoxide- generating system of neutrophils Specific labelling of a component polypeptide of the oxidase. *Biochem. J.*, 237, 111–116.
- Cuenca, N., Fernandez-Sanchez, L., Campello, L., Maneu, V., De La Villa, P., Lax, P., & Pinilla, I. (2014) Cellular responses following retinal injuries and therapeutic approaches for neurodegenerative diseases. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, 43, 17–75.
- Cunningham, M.L., Soliman, M.S., Badr, M.Z., & Matthews, H.B. (1995) Rotenone, an anticarcinogen, inhibits cellular proliferation but not peroxisome proliferation in mouse liver. *Cancer Lett.*, **95**, 93–97.
- Curcio, C.A., Sloan, K.R., Kalina, R.E., & Hendrickson, A.E. (1990) Human Photoreceptor Topography. J. Comp. Neurol., 292, 497–523.
- Curtin, J.F., Donovan, M., & Cotter, T.G. (2002) Regulation and measurement of oxidative stress in apoptosis. J. Immunol. Methods, 265, 49–72.
- D'Autréaux, B. & Toledano, M.B. (2007) ROS as signalling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, **8**, 813–824.
- Daiber, A. (2010) Redox signaling (cross-talk) from and to mitochondria involves mitochondrial pores and reactive oxygen species. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1797**, 897– 906.
- Daiger, S.P., Sullivan, L.S., & Bowne, S.J. (2013) Genes and mutations causing retinitis pigmentosa. *Clin. Genet.*, 84, 132–141.
- Dan Dunn, J., Alvarez, L.A.J., Zhang, X., & Soldati, T. (2015) Reactive oxygen species and mitochondria: A nexus of cellular homeostasis. *Redox Biol.*, 6, 472–485.
- Davies, K.J. (1995) Oxidative stress: the paradox of aerobic life. *Biochem. Soc. Symp.*, **61**, 1–31.
- Davies, M.J. (2005) The oxidative environment and protein damage. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1703**, 93–109.
- De Nicola, A.F. (1993) Steroid hormones and neuronal regeneration. *Adv. Neurol.*, **59**, 199–206.
- De Nicola, A.F., Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C., Garay, L., Meyer, M., Gargiulo-Monachelli, G., Guennoun, R., Schumacher, M., Carreras, M.C., & Poderoso, J.J. (2013) Progesterone protective effects in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. *J. Neuroendocrinol.*, 25, 1095–1103.

- De Nicola, A.F., Garay, L.I., Meyer, M., Guennoun, R., Sitruk-Ware, R., Schumacher, M., & Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C. (2017) Neurosteroidogenesis and progesterone antiinflammatory/ neuroprotective effects. J. Neuroendocrinol., 12, 3218–3221.
- Demelash, A., Pfannenstiel, L.W., Liu, L., & Gastman, B.R. (2017) Mcl-1 regulates reactive oxygen species via NOX4 during chemotherapy-induced senescence. *Oncotarget*, 8, 28154–28168.
- Désiré, L., Courtois, Y., & Jeanny, J.C. (2000) Endogenous and exogenous fibroblast growth factor 2 support survival of chick retinal neurons by control of neuronal neuronal bcl-xL and bcl-2 expression through a fibroblast growth factor receptor 1- and ERK-dependent pathway. *J. Neurochem.*, **75**, 151–163.
- Deutsch, E.R., Espinoza, T.R., Atif, F., Woodall, E., Kaylor, J., & Wright, D.W. (2013) Progesterone's role in neuroprotection, a review of the evidence. *Brain Res.*, 1530, 82– 105.
- Dhakshinamoorthy, S., Long, D.J., & Jaiswal, A.K. (2001) Antioxidant regulation of genes encoding enzymes that detoxify xenobiotics and carcinogens. *Curr. Top. Cell. Regul.*, 36, 201–216.
- Di Meo, S., Reed, T.T., Venditti, P., & Victor, V.M. (2016) Role of ROS and RNS Sources in Physiological and Pathological Conditions. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, **1**, 1–45.
- Dias, M.F., Joo, K., Kemp, J.A., Fialho, S.L., Da, A., Cunha, S., Woo, S.J., & Kwon, Y.J. (2017) Molecular genetics and emerging therapies for retinitis pigmentosa: Basic research and clinical perspectives. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, 1, 1–25.
- Diebold, L. & Chandel, N.S. (2016) Mitochondrial ROS regulation of proliferating cells. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **100**, 86–93.
- Dikalov, S. (2011) Crosstalk between mitochondria and NADPH oxidases. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **51**, 1289–1301.
- Dikalov, S.I., Nazarewicz, R.R., Bikineyeva, A., Hilenski, L., Lassè Gue, B., Griendling, K.K., Harrison, D.G., & Dikalova, A.E. (2014) Nox2-Induced Production of Mitochondrial Superoxide in Angiotensin II-Mediated Endothelial Oxidative Stress and Hypertension. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 20, 281–294.
- Dikalova, A.E., Bikineyeva, A.T., Budzyn, K., Nazarewicz, R.R., McCann, L., Lewis, W., Harrison, D.G., & Dikalov, S.I. (2010) Therapeutic Targeting of Mitochondrial Superoxide in Hypertension. *Circ. Res.*, **107**, 106–116.
- Dinkova-Kostova, A.T., Kostov, R. V., & Kazantsev, A.G. (2018) The role of Nrf2 signaling in counteracting neurodegenerative diseases. *FEBS J.*, **1**, 1–15.
- Dogru, M., Wakamatsu, T., Kojima, T., Matsumoto, Y., Kawakita, T., Schnider, C., & Tsubota, K. (2009) The Role of Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Dry Eye Disease. *Cornea*, **28**, 70–74.
- Donders, F.C. (1857) Beiträge zur pathologischen Anatomie des Auges. *Albr. von Graefes Arch. für Ophthalmol.*, **3**, 139–165.
- Dong, J., Sulik, K.K., & Chen, S.-Y. (2008) Nrf2-Mediated Transcriptional Induction of Antioxidant Response in Mouse Embryos Exposed to Ethanol in vivo: Implications for the Prevention of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 10, 2023–2033.

- Doonan, F., Donovan, M., & Cotter, T.G. (2003) Caspase-independent photoreceptor apoptosis in mouse models of retinal degeneration. J. Neurosci., 23, 5723–5731.
- Doonan, F., Wallace, D.M., O'Driscoll, C., & Cotter, T.G. (2009) Rosiglitazone acts as a neuroprotectant in retinal cells via up-regulation of sestrin-1 and SOD-2. *J. Neurochem.*, **109**, 631–643.
- Doonan, F., O'Driscoll, C., Kenna, P., & Cotter, T.G. (2011) Enhancing survival of photoreceptor cells in vivo using the synthetic progestin Norgestrel. J. Neurochem., 118, 915–927.
- Doonan, F. & Cotter, T.G. (2012) Norgestrel may be a potential therapy for retinal degenerations. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs*, 21, 579–581.
- Doonan, F., Groeger, G., & Cotter, T.G. (2012) Preventing retinal apoptosis Is there a common therapeutic theme? *Exp. Cell Res.*, **318**, 1278–1284.
- Dröge, W. (2002) Free Radicals in the Physiological Control of Cell Function. *Physicological Rev.*, **82**, 47–95.
- Du, J., Cullen, J.J., & Buettner, G.R. (2012) Ascorbic acid: Chemistry, biology and the treatment of cancer. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1826, 443–457.
- Elachouri, G., Lee-Rivera, I., Clérin, E., Argentini, M., Fridlich, R., Blond, F., Ferracane, V., Yang, Y., Raffelsberger, W., Wan, J., Bennett, J., Sahel, J.-A., Zack, D.J., & Léveillard, T. (2015) Thioredoxin rod-derived cone viability factor protects against photooxidative retinal damage. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 81, 22–29.
- Elisia, I., Nakamura, H., Lam, V., Hofs, E., Cederberg, R., Cait, J., Hughes, M.R., Lee, L., Jia, W., Adomat, H.H., Guns, E.S., Mcnagny, K.M., Samudio, I., Krystal, G., & Proost, P. (2016) DMSO Represses Inflammatory Cytokine Production from Human Blood Cells and Reduces Autoimmune Arthritis. *PLoS One*, **11**.
- England, K., Driscoll, C.O.', & Cotter, T.G. (2006) ROS and protein oxidation in early stages of cytotoxic drug induced apoptosis. *Free Radic. Res.*, **40**, 1124–1137.
- Eruslanov, E. & Kusmartsev, S. (2010) Identification of ROS Using Oxidized DCFDA and Flow-Cytometry. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, **594**, 395–408.
- Eshaq, R.S., Wright, W.S., & Harris, N.R. (2014) Oxygen delivery, consumption, and conversion to reactive oxygen species in experimental models of diabetic retinopathy. *Redox Biol.*, **2**, 661–666.
- Espinosa-García, C., Aguilar-Herná Ndez, A., Cervantes, M., & Moralí, G. (2014) Effects of progesterone on neurite growth inhibitors in the hippocampus following global cerebral ischemia. *Brain Res.*, **1545**, 23–34.
- Espinosa-Garcia, C., Sayeed, I., Yousuf, S., Atif, F., Sergeeva, E.G., Neigh, G.N., & Stein, D.G. (2017) Stress primes microglial polarization after global ischemia: Therapeutic potential of progesterone. *Brain. Behav. Immun.*, 66, 177–192.
- Euchenhofer, C., Maihöfner, C., Brune, K., Tegeder, I., & Geisslinger, G. (1998) Differential effect of selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor NS 398 and diclofenac on formalin-induced nociception in the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **248**, 25–28.
- Fabres, R.B., Da Rosa, L.A., De Souza, S.K., Cecconello, A.L., Azambuja, A.S., Sanches, E.F., Ribeiro, M.F.M., & De Fraga, L.S. (2018) Effects of progesterone on the neonatal brain following hypoxia-ischemia. *Metab. Brain Dis.*, 1, 1–9.

- Faivre, E.J., Daniel, A.R., Hillard, C.J., & Lange, C.A. (2008) Progesterone receptor rapid signaling mediates serine 345 phosphorylation and tethering to specificity protein 1 transcription factors. *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 22, 823–837.
- Fam, H.K., Choi, K., Fougner, L., Lim, C.J., & Boerkoel, C.F. (2018) Reactive oxygen species stress increases accumulation of tyrosyl-DNA phsosphodiesterase 1 within mitochondria. *Sci. Rep.*, 8, 1–14.
- Fan, B.J., Oi, P., Tam, S., Choy, K.W., Wang, D.Y., Shun, D., Lam, C., & Pang, C.P. (2006) Molecular diagnostics of genetic eye diseases. *Clin. Biochem.*, **39**, 231–239.
- Farrell, S.M.J., Groeger, G., Bhatt, L., Finnegan, S., O'Brien, C.J., & Cotter, T.G. (2011) bFGF-mediated redox activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway in retinal photoreceptor cells. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **33**, 632–641.
- Fato, R., Bergamini, C., Bortolus, M., Maniero, A.L., Leoni, S., Ohnishi, T., & Lenaz, G. (2009) Differential effects of mitochondrial Complex I inhibitors on production of reactive oxygen species. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1787**, 384–392.
- Feskanich, D., Cho, E., Schaumberg, D.A., Colditz, G.A., & Hankinson, S.E. (2008) Menopausal and Reproductive Factors and Risk of Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Arch. Ophthalmol.*, **126**, 519–524.
- Finkel, T. (2011) Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species. J. Cell Biol., 194, 7–15.
- Finnegan, S., MacKey, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2010) A stress survival response in retinal cells mediated through inhibition of the serine/threonine phosphatase PP2A. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **32**, 322–334.
- Fontes, M.K., Gusso-Choueri, P.K., Alves Maranho, L., Moledo de Souza Abessa, D., Almeida Mazur, W., Galvao de Campos, B., Lopes Guimaraes, L., Sergio de Toledo, M., Lebre, D., Rodrigues Marques, J., Arantes Felicio, A., Cesar, A., Alves Almeida, E., & Dias Seabra Pereira, C. (2018) A tiered approach to assess effects of diclofenac on the brown mussel Perna perna: A contribution to characterize the hazard. *Water Res.*, **132**, 361–370.
- Forman, H.J. & Kennedy, J.A. (1974) Role of superoxide radical in mitochondrial dehydrogenase reactions. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **60**, 1044–1050.
- Forman, H.J. (2007) Use and abuse of exogenous H2O2 in studies of signal transduction. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **42**, 926–932.
- Friberg, P.A., Larsson, D.G.J., & Billig, H. (2009) Dominant Role of Nuclear Progesterone Receptor in the Control of Rat Periovulatory Granulosa Cell Apoptosis. *Biol. Reprod.*, 80, 1160–1167.
- Fu, J., Lam, T.T., & Tso, M.O. (1992) Dexamethasone ameliorates retinal photic injury in albino rats. *Exp. Eye Res.*, 54, 583–594.
- Fukai, T. & Ushio-Fukai, M. (2011) Superoxide Dismutases: Role in Redox Signaling, Vascular Function, and Diseases. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 15, 1583–1606.
- Gan, T.J. (2010) Diclofenac: an update on its mechanism of action and safety profile. Curr. Med. Res. Opin., 267, 1715–1731.
- Gandhi, S. & Abramov, A.Y. (2012) Mechanism of Oxidative Stress in Neurodegeneration. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, **11**, 1–11.

- Garay, L., Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C., Meyer, M., Lopez Costa, J.J., Lima, A., Roig, P., & Denicola, A.F. (2009) Protective effects of progesterone administration on axonal pathology in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Res.*, **1283**, 177–185.
- Garay, L., Tüngler, V., Deniselle, M.C.G., Lima, A., Roig, P., & De Nicola, A.A.F. (2011) Progesterone attenuates demyelination and microglial reaction in the lysolecithininjured spinal cord. *Neuroscience*, **192**, 588–597.
- Garay, L.I., Gonz, M.C., Deniselle, L., Brocca, M.E., Lima, A., Roig, P., & De Nicola, A.A.F. (2012) Progesterone down-regulates spinal cord inflammatory mediators and increases myelination in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neuroscience*, 226, 40–50.
- Gargini, C., Terzibasi, E., Mazzoni, F., & Strettoi, E. (2007) Retinal Organization in the retinal degeneration 10 (rd10) Mutant Mouse: a Morphological and ERG Study. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, **500**, 222–238.
- Gatto, G.J., Ao, Z., Kearse, M.G., Zhou, M., Morales, C.R., Daniels, E., Bradley, B.T., Goserud, M.T., Goodman, K.B., Douglas, S.A., Harpel, M.R., & Johns, D.G. (2013) NADPH oxidase-dependent and -independent mechanisms of reported inhibitors of reactive oxygen generation. *J. Enzyme Inhib. Med. Chem.*, 28, 95–104.
- Ghatak, S., Hascall, V.C., Markwald, R.R., Feghali-Bostwick, C., Artlett, C.M., Gooz, M., Bogatkevich, G.S., Atanelishvili, I., Silver, R.M., Wood, J., Thannickal, V.J., & Misra, S. (2017) Transforming growth factor β 1 (TGFβ1)-induced CD44V6- NOX4 signaling in pathogenesis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **292**, 10490–10519.
- Giannoni, E., Buricchi, F., Raugei, G., Ramponi, G., & Chiarugi, P. (2005) Intracellular Reactive Oxygen Species Activate Src Tyrosine Kinase during Cell Adhesion and Anchorage-Dependent Cell Growth. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 25, 6391–6403.
- Gilbert, D.L. (1994) Keeping Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) In their Proper Place. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., **738**, 1–7.
- Glybina, I. V., Kennedy, A., Ashton, P., Abrams, G.W., & Iezzi, R. (2009) Photoreceptor Neuroprotection in RCS Rats via Low-Dose Intravitreal Sustained-Delivery of Fluocinolone Acetonide. *Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci.*, **50**, 4847–4857.
- Gómez-Vicente, V., Donovan, M., & Cotter, T. (2005) Multiple death pathways in retinaderived 661W cells following growth factor deprivation: crosstalk between caspases and calpains. *Cell Death Differ.*, **12**, 796–804.
- Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C., Lopez Costa, J.J., Gonzalez, S.L., Labombarda, F., Garay, L., Guennoun, R., Schumacher, M., & De Nicola, A.F. (2003) Basis of progesterone protection in spinal cord neurodegeneration. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 83, 199– 209.
- Gonzalez, S.L., Labombarda, F., Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C., Mougel, A., Guennoun, R., Schumacher, M., & De Nicola, A.F. (2005) Progesterone neuroprotection in spinal cord trauma involves up-regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in motoneurons. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 94, 143–149.
- Gopalakrishna, K.N., Boyd, K., & Artemyev, N.O. (2017) Mechanisms of mutant PDE6 proteins underlying retinal diseases. *Cell. Signal.*, 37, 74–80.

Gopalappa, R., Suresh, B., Ramakrishna, S., & Kim, H. (2018) Paired D10A Cas9 nickases

are sometimes more efficient than individual nucleases for gene disruption. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **1**, 1–12.

- Gorman, A., McGowan, A., & Cotter, T.G. (1997) Role of peroxide and superoxide anion during tumour cell apoptosis. *FEBS Lett.*, **404**, 27–33.
- Gough, D. & Cotter, T. (2011) Hydrogen peroxide: a Jekyll and Hyde signalling molecule. *Cell Death Dis.*, **2**, 1–8.
- Graham, J.D. & Clarke, C.L. (2002) Expression and transcriptional activity of progesterone receptor A and progesterone receptor B in mammalian cells. *Breast Cancer Res.*, **4**, 187–190.
- Greene, E.L., Velarde, V., & Jaffa, a a (2000) Role of reactive oxygen species in bradykinin-induced mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-fos induction in vascular cells. *Hypertension*, **35**, 942–947.
- Greferath, U., Goh, H.C., Chua, P.Y., Åstrand, E., O'Brien, E.E., Fletcher, E.L., & Murphy, M. (2009) Mapping retinal degeneration and loss-of-function in Rd-FTL mice. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **50**, 5955–5964.
- Grimm, S.L., Hartig, S.M., & Edwards, D.P. (2016) Progesterone Receptor Signaling Mechanisms. J. Mol. Biol., 428, 3831–3849.
- Groeger, G., Mackey, A.M., Pettigrew, C.A., Bhatt, L., & Cotter, T.G. (2009a) Stressinduced activation of Nox contributes to cell survival signalling via production of hydrogen peroxide. *J. Neurochem.*, **109**, 1544–1554.
- Groeger, G., Quiney, C., & Cotter, T.G. (2009b) Hydrogen Peroxide as a Cell-Survival Signaling Molecule. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, **11**, 2655–2671.
- Groeger, G., Doonan, F., Cotter, T.G., & Donovan, M. (2012) Reactive oxygen species regulate prosurvival ERK1/2 signaling and bFGF expression in gliosis within the retina. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **53**, 6645–6654.
- Guadagni, V., Novelli, E., Piano, I., Gargini, C., & Strettoi, E. (2015) Pharmacological approaches to retinitis pigmentosa: A laboratory perspective. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, **48**, 62–81.
- Guennoun, R., Labombarda, F., Gonzalez Deniselle, M.C., Liere, P., De Nicola, A.F., & Schumacher, M. (2015) Progesterone and allopregnanolone in the central nervous system: Response to injury and implication for neuroprotection. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **146**, 48–61.
- Gutteridge, J.M. (1982) The role of superoxide and hydroxyl radicals in phospholipid peroxidation catalysed by iron salts. *FEBS Lett.*, **150**, 454–458.
- Gwarzo, M. (2009) Nrf2 transcription factor gene regulates basal transcription of mitochondrial superoxide dismutase enzyme in mouse brain. *African J. Biotechnol.*, 8, 5169–5172.
- Haim, M. (2002) Epidemiology of retinitis pigmentosa in Denmark. *Acta Ophthalmol. Scand.*, 1–34.
- Hakami, N.Y., Wong, H., Shah, M.H., Dusting, G.J., Jiang, F., & Peshavariya, H.M. (2015) Smad-independent pathway involved in transforming growth factor β1-induced Nox4 expression and proliferation of endothelial cells. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.*, **388**.

- Hamel, C. (2006) Retinitis pigmentosa Disease name. Orphanet J. Rare Dis., 1, 1–12.
- Han, J., Dinculescu, A., Dai, X., Du, W., Smith, W.C., & Pang, J. (2013) Review: The history and role of naturally occurring mouse models with Pde6b mutations. *Mol. Vis.*, 19, 2579–2589.
- Han, S.J., DeMayo, F.J., Xu, J., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., & O'Malley, B.W. (2006) Steroid Receptor Coactivator (SRC)-1 and SRC-3 Differentially Modulate Tissue-Specific Activation Functions of the Progesterone Receptor. *Mol. Endocrinol.*, 20, 45–55.
- Harel, S., Mayaki, D., Sanchez, V., & Hussain, S.N.A. (2017) NOX2, NOX4, and mitochondrial-derived reactive oxygen species contribute to angiopoietin-1 signaling and angiogenic responses in endothelial cells. *Vascul. Pharmacol.*, 92, 22–32.
- Harman, D. (1956) Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. *J. Gerontol.*, **11**, 298–300.
- Hart, A.W., McKie, L., Morgan, J.E., Gautier, P., West, K., Jackson, I.J., & Cross, S.H. (2005) Genotype-phenotype correlation of mouse Pde6b mutations. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **46**, 3443–3450.
- Hartong, D.T., Berson, E.L., & Dryja, T.P. (2006) Retinitis pigmentosa Prevalence and inheritance patterns. *Lancet*, 368, 1795–1809.
- Hashad, A.M., Sancho, M., Brett, S.E., & Welsh, D.G. (2018) Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate the Suppression of Arterial Smooth Muscle T-type Ca2+ Channels by Angiotensin II. *Sci. Rep.*, **8**, 1–11.
- He, Y., Leung, K.W., Ren, Y., Pei, J., Ge, J., & Tombran-Tink, J. (2014) PEDF improves mitochondrial function in RPE cells during oxidative stress. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 55, 6742–6755.
- Hecker, L., Vittal, R., Jones, T., Jagirdar, R., Luckhardt, T.R., Horowitz, J.C., Pennathur, S., Martinez, F.J., & Thannickal, V.J. (2009) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates myofibroblast activation and fibrogenic responses to lung injury. *Nat. Med.*, 15, 1077–1081.
- Hee Kim, J., Sun, W., Wook Han, D., Moon, H.-J., & Lee, J. (2015) iNSC suppress macrophage-induced inflammation by repressing COX-2. *Vitr. Cell. Dev. Biol.*, 51.
- Heinz, S., Freyberger, A., Lawrenz, B., Schladt, L., Schmuck, G., & Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H. (2017) Mechanistic Investigations of the Mitochondrial Complex I Inhibitor Rotenone in the Context of Pharmacological and Safety Evaluation. *Sci. Rep.*, 7, 1–13.
- Henderson, V.W. (1997) The epidemiology of estrogen replacement therapy and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, **48**, 27–35.
- Hernanz, R., Briones, A.M., Salaices, M., & Alonso, M.J. (2014) New roles for old pathways? A circuitous relationship between reactive oxygen species and cyclooxygenase in hypertension. *Clin. Sci.*, **126**, 111–121.
- Herrlich, P. & Böhmer, F.D. (2000) Redox Regulation of Signal Transduction in Mammalian Cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, **59**, 35–41.
- Herse, P. (2005) Retinitis pigmentosa: visual function and multidisciplinary management. *Clin. Exp. Optom.*, 88, 335–350.
- Himori, N., Yamamoto, K., Maruyama, K., Ryu, M., Taguchi, K., Yamamoto, M., & Nakazawa, T. (2013) Critical role of Nrf2 in oxidative stress-induced retinal ganglion

cell death. J. Neurochem., 127, 669-680.

- Hirneiss, C. (2014) The impact of a better-seeing eye and a worse-seeing eye on vision-related quality of life. *Clin. Ophthalmol.*, **8**, 1703–1709.
- Holmström, K.M. & Finkel, T. (2014) Cellular mechanisms and physiological consequences of redox-dependent signalling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, **15**, 411–421.
- Hongo, H., Kihara, T., Kume, T., Izumi, Y., Niidome, T., Sugimoto, H., & Akaike, A. (2012) Glycogen synthase kinase-3β activation mediates rotenone-induced cytotoxicity with the involvement of microtubule destabilization. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **426**, 94–99.
- Horton, J.C. (2006) Ocular integration in the human visual cortex. *Can. J. Ophthalmol.*, **41**, 584–593.
- Hua, F., Wang, J., Ishrat, T., Wei, W., Atif, F., Sayeed, I., & Stein, D.G. (2011) Genomic profile of Toll-like receptor pathways in traumatically brain-injured mice: effect of exogenous progesterone. J. Neuroinflammation, 8, 1–14.
- Huberman, A.D. & Niell, C.M. (2011) What can mice tell us about how vision works? *Trends Neurosci.*, **34**, 464–473.
- Hwang, C., Sinskey, A.J., & Lodish, H.F. (1992) Oxidized redox state of glutathione in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Science*, 257, 1496–1502.
- Hwang, C.K. & Iuvone, P.M. (2013) Technical Brief: A comparison of two methods of euthanasia on retinal dopamine levels. *Mol. Vis.*, **19**, 1122–1124.
- Ilatovskaya, D. V, Pavlov, T.S., Levchenko, V., & Staruschenko, A. (2013) ROS production as a common mechanism of ENaC regulation by EGF, insulin, and IGF-1. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol., 304, 102–111.
- Imlay, J.A. (2003) Pathways of oxidative damage. Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 57, 395–418.
- Isenberg, J.S. & Klaunig, J.E. (2000) Role of the Mitochondrial Membrane Permeability Transition (MPT) in Rotenone-Induced Apoptosis in Liver Cells. *Toxicol. Sci.*, **53**, 340–351.
- Jacobsen, B.M. & Horwitz, K.B. (2012) Progesterone receptors, their isoforms and progesterone regulated transcription. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, **357**, 18–29.
- Jafari, N., Kim, H., Park, R., Li, L., Jang, M., Morris, A.J., Park, J., & Huang, C. (2017) CRISPR-Cas9 Mediated NOX4 Knockout Inhibits Cell Proliferation and Invasion in HeLa Cells. *PLoS One*, 1, 1–13.
- Jaiswal, A.K. (2004) Nrf2 signaling in coordinated activation of antioxidant gene expression. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **36**, 1199–1207.
- Jarrett, S.G., Albon, J., & Boulton, M.E. (2006) The contribution of DNA repair and antioxidants in determining cell type-specific resistance to oxidative stress. *Free Radic*. *Res.*, 40, 1155–1165.
- Jarrett, S.G., Lin, H., Godley, B.F., & Boulton, M.E. (2008) Mitochondrial DNA damage and its potential role in retinal degeneration. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, **27**, 596–607.
- Jelinek, A., Heyder, L., Daude, M., Plessner, M., Krippner, S., Grosse, R., Diederich, W.E., & Culmsee, C. (2018) Mitochondrial rescue prevents glutathione peroxidase-dependent

ferroptosis. Free Radic. Biol. Med., 1.

- Jin, K. & Xiang, M. (2012) In Vitro Explant Culture and Related Protocols for the Study of Mouse Retinal Development. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 884, 155–165.
- Joëls, M. (1997) Steroid Hormones and Excitability in the Mammalian Brain. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.*, **18**, 2–48.
- Káldi, I. & Berta, A. (2004) Progesterone administration fails to protect albino male rats against photostress-induced retinal degeneration. *Eur. J. Ophthalmol.*, **14**, 306–314.
- Karlsson, M., Kurz, T., Brunk, U.T., Nilsson, S.E., & Frennesson, C.I. (2010) What does the commonly used DCF test for oxidative stress really show? *Biochem. J.*, 428, 183–190.
- Karlsson, M., Ehinger, J.K., Piel, S., Sjövall, F., Henriksnäs, J., Höglund, U., Hansson, M.J., & Elmér, E. (2016) Changes in energy metabolism due to acute rotenone-induced mitochondrial complex I dysfunction – An in vivo large animal model. *Mitochondrion*, **31**, 56–62.
- Kaspar, J.W., Niture, S.K., & Jaiswal, A.K. (2009) Nrf2:INrf2(Keap1) Signaling in Oxidative Stress. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 47, 1304–1309.
- Kato, J., Hirata, S., Nozawa, A., & Yamada-Mouri, N. (1994) Gene expression of progesterone receptor isoforms in the rat brain. *Horm. Behav.*, 28, 454–463.
- Katsuyama, M. (2010) NOX/NADPH Oxidase, the Superoxide-Generating Enzyme: Its Transcriptional Regulation and Physiological Roles. J. Pharmacol. Sci., 114, 134–146.
- Kaul, N. & Forman, H.J. (1996) Activation of NF-κB by the respiratory burst of macrophages. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 21, 401–405.
- Kawamura, S. & Tachibanaki, S. (2008) Rod and cone photoreceptors: Molecular basis of the difference in their physiology. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, **150**, 369–377.
- Keeler, C.E. (1924) The inheritance of a retinal abnormality in white mice. *PNAS*, **10**, 329–333.
- Kennan, A., Aherne, A., & Humphries, P. (2005) Light in retinitis pigmentosa. *Trends Genet.*, **21**, 103–111.
- Keyer, K. & Imlay, J.A. (1996) Superoxide accelerates DNA damage by elevating free-iron levels. *Biochemistry*, 93, 13635–13640.
- Khan, S., Mahmood, M.S., Rahman, S. ur, Zafar, H., Habibullah, S., Khan, Z., & Ahmad, A. (2018) CRISPR/Cas9: the Jedi against the dark empire of diseases. *J. Biomed. Sci.*, **25**, 1–18.
- Kim, G.H., Kim, J.E., Rhie, S.J., & Yoon, S. (2015) The Role of Oxidative Stress in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Exp. Neurobiol.*, 24, 325–340.
- Kim, Y.-M., Kim, S.-J., Tatsunami, R., Yamamura, H., Fukai, T., & Ushio-Fukai, M. (2017) ROS-induced ROS release orchestrated by Nox4, Nox2, and mitochondria in VEGF signaling and angiogenesis. *Am. J. Cell Physiol.*, **312**, 749–764.
- Kimura, S., Zhang, G.X., Nishiyama, A., Shokoji, T., Yao, L., Fan, Y.Y., Rahman, M., Suzuki, T., Maeta, H., & Abe, Y. (2005) Role of NAD(P)H oxidase- and mitochondriaderived reactive oxygen species in cardioprotection of ischemic reperfusion injury by angiotensin II. *Hypertension*, 45, 860–866.

- Kirkland, R. a, Saavedra, G.M., & Franklin, J.L. (2007) Rapid activation of antioxidant defenses by nerve growth factor suppresses reactive oxygen species during neuronal apoptosis: evidence for a role in cytochrome c redistribution. J. Neurosci., 27, 11315– 11326.
- Knowles, P.F., Gibson, J.F., Pick, F.M., & Bray, R.C. (1969) Electron-Spin-Resonance Evidence for Enzymic Reduction of Oxygen to a Free Radical, the Superoxide Ion. *Biochem. J.*, **111**, 53–58.
- Kolb, H. (2003) How the retina works. Am. Sci., 91, 28–35.
- Kolomeyer, A.M. & Zarbin, M.A. (2014) Trophic factors in the pathogenesis and therapy for retinal degenerative diseases. Surv. Ophthalmol., 59, 134–165.
- Komeima, K., Rogers, B.S., Lu, L., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2006) Antioxidants reduce cone cell death in a model of retinitis pigmentosa. *PNAS*, **13**, 11300–11305.
- Komeima, K., Rogers, B.S., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2007) Antioxidants slow photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa. *J. Cell. Physiol.*, **213**, 809–815.
- Komeima, K., Usui, S., Shen, J., Rogers, B.S., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2008) Blockade of Neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase Reduces Cone Cell Death in a Model of Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 45, 905–912.
- Kruk, J., Kubasik-Kladna, K., & Aboul-Enein, H.Y. (2015) The Role Oxidative Stress in the Pathogenesis of Eye Diseases: Current Status and a Dual Role of Physical Activity. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.*, 16, 241–257.
- Kuznetsov, A. V, Kehrer, I., Kozlov, A. V, Haller, M., Redl, H., Hermann, M., Grimm, M., Troppmair, J., Buchberger, A.W., Francesconi V Kuznetsov, K.A., Grimm, M., Kehrer, I., Kozlov, A. V, Redl, H., Haller, M., Troppmair, J., & Hermann, M. (2011) Mitochondrial ROS production under cellular stress: comparison of different detection methods. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 400, 2383–2390.
- Lamb, T.D. & Pugh, E.N. (2006) Phototransduction, dark adaptation, and rhodopsin regeneration the proctor lecture. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 47, 5137–5152.
- Lamb, T.D. (2013) Evolution of phototransduction, vertebrate photoreceptors and retina. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, **36**, 52–119.
- Lambeth, J.D. (2004) NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, **4**, 181–189.
- Lambeth, J.D., Kawahara, T., & Diebold, B. (2007) Regulation of Nox and Duox Enzymatic Activity and Expression The Respiratory Burst Oxidase of Phagocytes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, 43, 319–331.
- Lange, C.A. (2008) Integration of Progesterone Receptor Action with Rapid Signaling Events in Breast Cancer Models. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 108, 203–212.
- Lange, C.A.K. & Bainbridge, J.W.B. (2012) Oxygen Sensing in Retinal Health and Disease. *Ophthalmologica*, **227**, 115–131.
- Latham, K., Baranian, M., Timmis, M., & Pardhan, S. (2015) Emotional Health of People with Visual Impairment Caused by Retinitis Pigmentosa. *PLoS One*, **10**, 1–17.
- Lavail, M.M., Unokit, K., Yasumura, D., Matthest, M.T., Yancopoulosi, G.D., & Steinbergtii, R.H. (1992) Multiple growth factors, cytokines, and neurotrophins rescue

photoreceptors from the damaging effects of constant light. *Neurobiology*, **89**, 11249–11253.

- Lee, H.B., Yu, M.-R., Yang, Y., Jiang, Z., & Ha, H. (2003) Reactive Oxygen Species-Regulated Signaling Pathways in Diabetic Nephropathy. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.*, **14**, 241–245.
- Lee, J.K., Edderkaoui, M., Truong, P., Ohno, I., Jang, K., Berti, A., Pandol, S.J., & Gukovskaya, A.S. (2007) NADPH Oxidase Promotes Pancreatic Cancer Cell Survival via Inhibiting JAK2 Dephosphorylation by Tyrosine Phosphatases. *Gastroenterology*, 133, 1637–1648.
- Lee, J.M., Calkins, M.J., Chan, K., Kant, Y.W., & Johnson, J.A. (2003) Identification of the NF-E2-related Factor-2-dependent Genes Conferring Protection against Oxidative Stress in Primary Cortical Astrocytes Using Oligonucleotide Microarray Analysis. J. Biol. Chem., 278, 12029–12038.
- Lee, S.B., Kim, J.J., Kim, T.W., Kim, B.S., Lee, M.-S., & Yoo, Y. Do (2010) Serum deprivation-induced reactive oxygen species production is mediated by Romo1. *Apoptosis*, **15**, 204–218.
- Lefevere, E., Toft-Kehler, A.K., Vohra, R., Kolko, M., Moons, L., & Hove, I. Van (2017) Mitochondrial dysfunction underlying outer retinal diseases. *Mitochondrion*, **36**, 66–76.
- Leskov, I.B., Klenchin, V.A., Handy, J.W., Whitlock, G.G., Govardovskii, V.I., Deric Bownds, M., Lamb, T.D., Pugh, E.N., & Arshavsky, V.Y. (2000) The Gain of Rod Phototransduction: Reconciliation of Biochemical and Electrophysiological Measurements. *Neuron*, 27, 525–537.
- Leveillard, T. & Sahel, J.-A. (2016) Metabolic and redox signaling in the retina. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, **20**, 1–17.
- Li, L., Chen, Y., & Gibson, S.B. (2013) Starvation-induced autophagy is regulated by mitochondrial reactive oxygen species leading to AMPK activation. *Cell. Signal.*, 25, 50–65.
- Li, N., Ragheb, K., Lawler, G., Sturgis, J., Rajwa, B., Melendez, J.A., & Robinson, J.P. (2003) Mitochondrial Complex I Inhibitor Rotenone Induces Apoptosis through Enhancing Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Production. J. Biol. Chem., 278, 8516–8525.
- Li, Y.C., Hayes, S., & Young, A.P. (1997) Steroid hormone receptors activate transcription in glial cells of intact retina but not in primary cultures of retinal glial cells. J. Mol. Neurosci., 8, 145–158.
- Li, Y. & Trush, M.A. (1998) Diphenyleneiodonium, an NAD(P)H Oxidase Inhibitor, also Potently Inhibits Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Production. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 253, 295–299.
- Lieberthal, W., Triaca, V., Koh, J.S., Pagano, P.J., & Levine, J.S. (1998) Role of superoxide in apoptosis induced by growth factor withdrawal. *Am. Physiol. Soc.*, **275**, 691–702.
- Liochev, S.I. (2013) Reactive oxygen species and the free radical theory of aging. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **60**, 1–4.
- Livak, K.J. & Schmittgen, T.D. (2001) Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2 XIIIC T Method. *Methods*, **25**, 402–408.

- Llinás, R.R. (2003) The contribution of Santiago Ramón y Cajal to functional neuroscience. *Neuroscience*, **4**, 77–80.
- Lo, Y.Y.C. & Cruz, T.F. (1995) Involvement of Reactive Oxygen Species in Cytokine and Growth Factor Induction of c-fos Expression in Chondrocytes. J. Biol. Chem., 270, 11727–11730.
- López-Alarcón, C. & Denicola, A. (2013) Evaluating the antioxidant capacity of natural products: A review on chemical and cellular-based assays. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, **763**, 1–10.
- Loren, D.J., Seeram, N.P., Schulman, R.N., & Holtzman, D.M. (2005) Maternal Dietary Supplementation with Pomegranate Juice Is Neuroprotective in an Animal Model of Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury. *Pediatr. Res.*, 57, 858–864.
- Lösel, R.M., Besong, D., Peluso, J.J., & Wehling, M. (2007) Progesterone receptor membrane component 1—Many tasks for a versatile protein. *Steroids*, **73**, 929–934.
- Lu, L., Oveson, B.C., Jo, Y., Lauer, T.W., Usui, S., Komeima, K., Xie, B., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2009) Increased Expression of Glutathione Peroxidase 4 Strongly Protects Retina from Oxidative Damage. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 11, 715–724.
- Lu, N., Li, C., Cheng, Y., & Du, A.-L. (2008) Protective effects of progesterone against high intraocular pressure-induced retinal ischemia-reperfusion in rats. J. South. Med. Univ., 28, 2026–2029.
- Ma, M.W., Wang, J., Zhang, Q., Wang, R., Dhandapani, K.M., Vadlamudi, R.K., & Brann, D.W. (2017) NADPH oxidase in brain injury and neurodegenerative disorders. *Mol. Neurodegener.*, **12**, 1–28.
- Mackenzie, R.M., Salt, I.P., Miller, W.H., Logan, A., Ibrahim, H.A., Degasperi, A., Dymott, J.A., Hamilton, C.A., Murphy, M.P., Delles, C., & Dominiczak, A.F. (2013)
 Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species enhance AMP-activated protein kinase activation in the endothelium of patients with coronary artery disease and diabetes. *Clin. Sci.*, **124**, 403–411.
- Mackey, A.M., Sanvicens, N., Groeger, G., Doonan, F., Wallace, D., & Cotter, T.G. (2008) Redox survival signalling in retina-derived 661W cells. *Cell Death Differ.*, **15**, 1291– 1303.
- Maghzal, G.J., Krause, K.-H., Stocker, R., & Jaquet, V. (2012) Detection of reactive oxygen species derived from the family of NOX NADPH oxidases. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **53**, 1903–1918.
- Mahadev, K., Motoshima, H., Wu, X., Ruddy, J.M., Arnold, R.S., Cheng, G., Lambeth, J.D., & Goldstein, B.J. (2004) The NAD(P)H Oxidase Homolog Nox4 Modulates Insulin-Stimulated Generation of H2O2 and Plays an Integral Role in Insulin Signal Transduction. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 24, 1844–1854.
- Majanders, A., Finel, M., & Wikstriirn, M. (1994) Diphenyleneiodonium Inhibits Reduction of Iron-Sulfur Clusters in the Mitochondrial NADH-Ubiquinone Oxidoreductase (Complex I). J. Biol. Chem., 269, 21037–21042.
- Manandhar, S., Cho, J.-M., Kim, J.-A., Kensler, T.W., & Kwak, M.-K. (2007) Induction of Nrf2-regulated genes by 3H-1, 2-dithiole-3-thione through the ERK signaling pathway in murine keratinocytes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **577**, 17–27.

Mannella, P., Sanchez, A.M., Giretti, M.S., Genazzani, A.R., & Simoncini, T. (2009)

Oestrogen and progestins differently prevent glutamate toxicity in cortical neurons depending on prior hormonal exposure via the induction of neural nitric oxide synthase. *Steroids*, **74**, 650–656.

- Marengo, B., Nitti, M., Furfaro, A.L., Colla, R., De Ciucis, C., Marinari, U.M., Pronzato, M.A., Traverso, N., & Domenicotti, C. (2016) Redox homeostasis and cellular antioxidant systems: Crucial players in cancer growth and therapy. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, 1, 1–17.
- Marinho, H.S., Real, C., Isa Cyrne, L., Soares, H., & Antunes, F. (2014) Hydrogen peroxide sensing, signaling and regulation of transcription factors. *Redox Biol.*, **2**, 535–562.
- Marshel, J.H., Garrett, M.E., Nauhaus, I., & Callaway, E.M. (2011) Functional Specialization of Seven Mouse Visual Cortical Areas. *Neuron*, **72**, 1040–1054.
- Martínez-Fernández de la Cámara, C., Salom, D., Sequedo, D., Hervá S, D., Marín-Lambíes, C., Aller, E., Jaijo, T., Díaz-Llopis, M., Millá N, J.M., & Rodrigo, R. (2013) Altered Antioxidant-Oxidant Status in the Aqueous Humor and Peripheral Blood of Patients with Retinitis Pigmentosa. *PLoS One*, 8, 1–8.
- Martínez-Revelles, S., Avendaño, M.S., García-Redondo, A.B., Alvarez, Y., Aguado, A., Pérez-Girón, J. V, García-Redondo, L., Esteban, V., Redondo, J.M., Alonso, M.J., Briones, A.M., & Salaices, M. (2012) Reciprocal Relationship Between Reactive Oxygen Species and Cyclooxygenase-2 and Vascular Dysfunction in Hypertension. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 1, 1–15.
- Martyn, K.D., Frederick, L.M., Von Loehneysen, K., Dinauer, M.C., & Knaus, U.G. (2006) Functional analysis of Nox4 reveals unique characteristics compared to other NADPH oxidases. *Cell. Signal.*, 18, 69–82.
- Masland, R.H. (2001) The fundamental plan of the retina. Nat. Neurosci., 4, 877–886.
- McCarthy, C. & Kenny, L.C. (2016) Therapeutically targeting mitochondrial redox signalling alleviates endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. *Sci. Rep.*, **6**, 1–11.
- McCord, J.M. & Fridovich, I. (1969) Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J. Biol. Chem., 244, 6049–6055.
- McEwen, B.S., Weiss, J.M., & Schwartz, L.S. (1968) Selective Retention of Corticosterone by Limbic Structures in Rat Brain. *Nature*, 220, 911–912.
- McEwen, B.S. (1999) The Molecular and Neuroanatomical Basis for Estrogen Effects in the Central Nervous System. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 84, 1790–1797.
- McLaughlin, M.E., Sandberg, M.A., Berson, E.L., & Dryja, T.P. (1993) Recessive mutations in the gene encoding the β-subunit of rod phosphodiesterase in patients with retinitis pigmenta. *Nat. Genet.*, **4**, 130–134.
- McLennan, H.R. & Esposti, M.D. (2000) The Contribution of Mitochondrial Respiratory Complexes to the Production of Reactive Oxygen Species. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.*, **32**, 153–163.
- Melcangi, R.C., Giatti, S., Calabrese, D., Pesaresi, M., Cermenati, G., Mitro, N., Viviani, B., Garcia-Segura, L.M., & Caruso, D. (2014) Levels and actions of progesterone and its metabolites in the nervous system during physiological and pathological conditions. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, **113**, 56–69.

Mendes, H.F., Van Der Spuy, J., Chapple, J.P., & Cheetham, M.E. (2005) Mechanisms of

cell death in rhodopsin retinitis pigmentosa: implications for therapy. *Trends Mol. Med.*, **11**, 177–185.

- Mojica, F.J.M., Díez-Villaseñor, C., García-Martínez, J., & Soria, E. (2005) Intervening Sequences of Regularly Spaced Prokaryotic Repeats Derive from Foreign Genetic Elements. J. Mol. Evol., 60, 174–182.
- Mojica, F.J.M. & Rodriguez-Valera, F. (2016) The discovery of CRISPR in archaea and bacteria. *FEBS J.*, **283**, 3162–3169.
- Moloney, J.N. & Cotter, T.G. (2017) ROS signalling in the biology of cancer. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.,.
- Moloney, J.N., Stanicka, J., & Cotter, T.G. (2017a) Subcellular localization of the FLT3-ITD oncogene plays a significant role in the production of NOX-and p22 phox -derived reactive oxygen species in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leuk. Res.*, **52**, 34–42.
- Moloney, J.N., Jayavelu, A.K., Stanicka, J., Roche, S.L., O'Brien, R.L., Scholl, S., Böhmer, F.-D., & Cotter, T.G. (2017b) Nuclear membrane-localised NOX4D generates prosurvival ROS in FLT3-ITD-expressing AML. *Oncotarget*, 8, 105440–105457.
- Moon, J.S., Nakahira, K., Chung, K.-P., DeNicola, G.M., Koo, M.J., Pabón, M.A., Rooney, K.T., Yoon, J.-H., Ryter, S.W., Stout-Delgado, H., & Choi, A.M.K. (2016) NOX4dependent fatty acid oxidation promotes NLRP3 inflammasome activation in macrophages. *Nat. Med.*, 22, 1002–1015.
- Moorthy, K., Sharma, D., Basir, S., & Baquer, N. (2005) Administration of estradiol and progesterone modulate the activities of antioxidant enzyme and aminotransferases in naturally menopausal rats. *Exp. Gerontol.*, **40**, 295–302.
- Morand, S., Ueyama, T., Tsujibe, S., Saito, N., Korzeniowska, A., & Leto, T.L. (2009) Duox maturation factors form cell surface complexes with Duox affecting the specificity of reactive oxygen species generation. *FASEB J.*, **23**, 1205–1218.
- Moussatche, P. & Lyons, T.J. (2012) Non-genomic progesterone signalling and its noncanonical receptor. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **40**, 200–204.
- Mukhopadhyay, P., Rajesh, M., Haskó, G., Hawkins, B.J., Madesh, M., & Pacher, P. (2007a) Simultaneous detection of apoptosis and mitochondrial superoxide production in live cells by flow cytometry and confocal microscopy. *Nat. Protoc.*, 2, 2295–2301.
- Mukhopadhyay, P., Rajesh, M., Yoshihiro, K., Haskó, G., & Pacher, P. (2007b) Simple quantitative detection of mitochondrial superoxide production in live cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 358, 203–208.
- Murphy, M.P. (2009) How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochem. J.*, **417**, 1–13.
- Nakagami, Y. (2016) Nrf2 Is an Attractive Therapeutic Target for Retinal Diseases. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev., 2016, 1–8.
- Nakamura, H., Matoba, S., Iwai-Kanai, E., Kimata, M., Hoshino, A., Nakaoka, M., Katamura, M., Okawa, Y., Ariyoshi, M., Mita, Y., Ikeda, K., Okigaki, M., Adachi, S., Tanaka, H., Takamatsu, T., & Matsubara, H. (2012) P53 promotes cardiac dysfunction in diabetic mellitus caused by excessive mitochondrial respiration-mediated reactive oxygen species generation and lipid accumulationlipid accumulation. *Circ. Hear. Fail.*, 5, 106–115.

- Nakazawa, T., Takahashi, H., & Shimura, M. (2006) Estrogen has a neuroprotective effect on axotomized RGCs through ERK signal transduction pathway. *Bran Res.*, **1093**, 141– 149.
- Nathan, C. & Cunningham-Bussel, A. (2013) Beyond oxidative stress: an immunologist's guide to reactive oxygen species. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 13, 349–362.
- Neumann, F., Wurm, A., Linnertz, R., Pannicke, T., Iandiev, I., Wiedemann, P., Reichenbach, A., & Bringmann, A. (2010) Sex Steroids Inhibit Osmotic Swelling of Retinal Glial Cells. *Neurochem. Res.*, 35, 522–530.
- Ni, R., Cao, T., Xiong, S., Ma, J., Fan, G.-C., Lacefield, J.C., Lu, Y., Le Tissier, S., & Peng, T. (2016) Therapeutic inhibition of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species with mito-TEMPO reduces diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **90**, 12–23.
- Nickel, A., Kohlhaas, M., & Maack, C. (2014) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production and elimination. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.*, **73**, 26–33.
- Nishimura, Y. & Hara, H. (2016) Integrated Approaches to Drug Discovery for Oxidative Stress-Related Retinal Diseases. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, **2016**, 1–9.
- Nisimoto, Y., Diebold, B.A., Cosentino-Gomes, D., & Lambeth, J.D. (2014) Nox4: A Hydrogen Peroxide-Generating Oxygen Sensor. *Biochemistry*, **53**, 5111–5120.
- Niture, S.K., Khatri, R., & Jaiswal, A.K. (2013) Regulation of Nrf2—an update. *Free Radic*. *Biol. Med.*, **66**, 36–44.
- Nogawa, S., Zhang, F., Ross, E., & Iadecola, C. (1997) Cyclo-Oxygenase-2 Gene Expression in Neurons Contributes to Ischemic Brain Damage. J. Neurosci., 17, 2746–2755.
- O'Driscoll, C., Wallace, D., & Cotter, T.G. (2007) bFGF promotes photoreceptor cell survival in vitro by PKA-mediated inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3β and CREB-dependent Bcl-2 up-regulation. *J. Neurochem.*, **103**, 860–870.
- O'Driscoll, C., O'Connor, J., O'Brien, C.J., & Cotter, T.G. (2008) Basic fibroblast growth factor-induced protection from light damage in the mouse retina in vivo. *J. Neurochem.*, **105**, 524–536.
- O 'Driscoll, C., Doonan, F., Sanvicens, N., Messeguer, A., & Cotter, T.G. (2011) A novel free radical scavenger rescues retinal cells in vivo. *Exp. Eye Res.*, **93**, 65–74.
- Oettel, M. & Mukhopadhyay, A.K. (2004) Progesterone: the forgotten hormone in men? *Aging Male*, **7**, 236–257.
- Pagon, R.A. (1988) Retinitis pigmentosa. Surv. Ophthalmol., 33, 137–177.
- Park, S.Y., Choi, Y.-W., & Park, G. (2018) Nrf2-mediated neuroprotection against oxygenglucose deprivation/reperfusion injury by emodin via AMPK-dependent inhibition of GSK-3β. J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 1–11.
- Pasinetti, G. (1998) Cyclooxygenase and inflammation in Alzheimer's disease: experimental approaches and clinical interventions. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, **6**, 1–6.
- Petry, A., Djordjevic T., Weitnauer M., Kietzmann, T., Hess, J. & Görlach, A. (2006) NOX2 and NOX4 mediate proliferative response in endothelial cells. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, 9, 1473–1484.
- Paunescu, V., Bojin, F.M., Gavriliuc, O.I., Taculescu, E.A., Ianos, R., Ordodi, V.L., Iman,

V.F., & Tatu, C.A. (2014) Enucleation: a possible mechanism of cancer cell death. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.*, **18**, 962–965.

- Pehar, M., Vargas, M.R., Robinson, K.M., Cassina, P., Díaz-Amarilla, P.J., Hagen, T.M., Radi, R., Barbeito, L., & Beckman, J.S. (2007) Mitochondrial Superoxide Production and Nuclear Factor Erythroid 2-Related Factor 2 Activation in p75 Neurotrophin Receptor-Induced Motor Neuron Apoptosis. J. Neurosci., 27, 7777–7785.
- Peluso, J.J. & Pappalardo, A. (1999) Progesterone maintains large rat granulosa cell viability indirectly by stimulating small granulosa cells to synthesize basic fibroblast growth factor. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, **60**, 290–296.
- Peluso, J.J. (2003) Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) regulation of the plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) as part of an anti-apoptotic mechanism of action. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, **66**, 1363–1369.
- Peluso, J.J., Decerbo, J., & Lodde, V. (2012) Evidence for a genomic mechanism of action for Progesterone Receptor Membrane Component-1. *Steroids*, **77**, 1007–1012.
- Peluso, J.J., Griffin, D., Liu, X., & Horne, M. (2014) Progesterone Receptor Membrane Component-1 (PGRMC1) and PGRMC-2 Interact to Suppress Entry into the Cell Cycle in Spontaneously Immortalized Rat Granulosa Cells. *Biol. Reprod.*, **91**, 1–12.
- Penha, F.M., Pons, M., Fiod Costa, E., Rodrigues, E.B., Maia, M., Marin-Castaño, M.E., & Farah, M.E. (2013) Effect of vital dyes on retinal pigmented epithelial cell viability and apoptosis: implications for chromovitrectomy. *Ophthalmologica*, 230, 41–50.
- Pepicelli, O., Fedele, E., Bonanno, G., Raiteri, M., Ajmone-Cat, M.A., Greco, A., Levi, G., & Minghetti, L. (2002) In vivo activation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in the rat hippocampus increases prostaglandin E2 extracellular levels and triggers lipid peroxidation through cyclooxygenase-mediated mechanisms. *J. Neurochem.*, **81**, 1028– 1034.
- Peshavariya, H.M., Chan, E.C., Liu, G.S., Jiang, F., & Dusting, G.J. (2014) Transforming growth factor-β1 requires NADPH oxidase 4 for angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.*, **18**, 1172–1183.
- Petersen, S.L., Intlekofer, K.A., Moura-Conlon, P.J., Brewer, D.N., Del Pino Sans, J., & Lopez, J.A. (2013a) Novel progesterone receptors: neural localization and possible functions. *Front. Neurosci.*, **7**, 1–7.
- Petersen, S.L., Intlekofer, K.A., Moura-Conlon, P.J., Brewer, D.N., del Pino Sans, J., & Lopez, J.A. (2013b) Nonclassical progesterone signalling molecules in the nervous system. J. Neuroendocrinol., 25, 991–1001.
- Pisoschi, A.M. & Pop, A. (2015) The role of antioxidants in the chemistry of oxidative stress: A review. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, **97**, 55–74.
- Pittler, S.J. & Baehr, W. (1991) Identification of a nonsense mutation in the rod photoreceptor cGMP phosphodiesterase β-subunit gene of the rd mouse. *Neurobiology*, 88, 8322–8326.
- Poprac, P., Jomova, K., Simunkova, M., Kollar, V., Rhodes, C.J., & Valko, M. (2017) Targeting Free Radicals in Oxidative Stress-Related Human Diseases Free Radicals and Oxidative/Nitrosative Stress. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, 38, 592–607.
- Portera-cailliau, C., Sungt, C., Nathans, J., & Adler, R. (1994) Apoptotic photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa. *Neurobiology*, 91, 974–978.

- Prieto-Bermejo, R. & Hernández-Hernández, A. (2017) The Importance of NADPH Oxidases and Redox Signaling in Angiogenesis. *Antioxidants*, **6**, 1–22.
- Pugh, E.N. (1999) Variability in Single Photon Minireview Responses: A Cut in the Gordian Knot of Rod Phototransduction? *Neuron*, 23, 205–208.
- Punzo, C., Xiong, W., & Cepko, C.L. (2012) Loss of Daylight Vision in Retinal Degeneration: Are Oxidative Stress and Metabolic Dysregulation to Blame? J. Biol. Chem., 287, 1642–1648.
- Puthussery, T., Gayet-Primo, J., Pandey, S., Duvoisin, R.M., & Taylor, W.R. (2009) Differential loss and preservation of glutamate receptor function in bipolar cells in the rd10 mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **29**, 1533–1542.
- Qin, Y., Chen, Z., Han, X., Wu, H., Yu, Y., Wu, J., Liu, S., & Hou, Y. (2015) Progesterone attenuates Aβ25–35-induced neuronal toxicity via JNK inactivation and progesterone receptor membrane component 1-dependent inhibition of mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 154, 302–311.
- Qiu, M., Wang, S.Y., Singh, K., Lin, S.C., & Lin, S. (2014) Association between Visual Field Defects and Quality of Life in the United States. *Ophthalmology*, **121**, 733– 74009.
- Rastogi, R., Geng, X., Li, F., & Ding, Y. (2017) NOX Activation by Subunit Interaction and Underlying Mechanisms in Disease. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.*, **10**, 1–13.
- Ray, P.D., Huang, B.-W., & Tsuji, Y. (2012) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis and redox regulation in cellular signaling. *Cell. Signal.*, 24, 981–990.
- Ray, P.L., Cox, A.P., Jensen, M., Allen, T., Duncan, W., & Diehl, A.D. (2016) Representing vision and blindness. J. Biomed. Semantics, 7, 1–12.
- Reczek, C.R. & Chandel, N.S. (2015) ROS-dependent signal transduction. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, **33**, 8–13.
- Remacle, J., Raes, M., Toussaint, O., Renard, P., & Rao, G. (1995) Low levels of reactive oxygen species as modulators of cell function. *Mutat. Res.*, **316**, 103–122.
- Rhee, S.G. (2006) H2O2, a Necessary Evil for Cell Signaling. Science, 312, 1882–1883.
- Rivas, M.A. & Vecino, E. (2009) Animal models and different therapies for treatment of retinitis pigmentosa. *Histol. Histopathol.*, **24**, 1295–1322.
- Robinson, K.M., Janes, M.S., Pehar, M., Monette, J.S., Ross, M.F., Hagen, T.M., Murphy, M.P., & Beckman, J.S. (2006) Selective fluorescent imaging of superoxide in vivo using ethidium-based probes. *PNAS*, **103**, 15038–15043.
- Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Byrne, A.M., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Alterations to retinal architecture prior to photoreceptor loss in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.*, **60**, 127–139.
- Roche, S.L. & Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Gómez-Vicente, V., Lax, P., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Byrne, A.M., Cuenca, N., & Cotter, T.G. (2016) Progesterone Attenuates Microglial-Driven Retinal Degeneration and Stimulates Protective Fractalkine-CX3CR1 Signaling. *PLoS One*, 1, 1–27.
- Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017a) Fractalkine-CX3CR1 signaling is critical for progesterone-mediated neuroprotection in

the retina. Sci. Rep., 7, 1–15.

- Roche, S.L., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017b) Microglial-induced Müller cell gliosis is attenuated by progesterone in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Glia*, 66, 295–310.
- Roof, R.L., Duvdevani, R., & Stein, D.G. (1992) Progesterone treatment attenuates brain edema following contusion injury in male and female rats. *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.*, **4**, 425–427.
- Roof, R.L., Duvdevani, R., Braswell, L., & Stein, D.G. (1994) Progesterone facilitates cognitive recovery and reduces secondary neuronal loss caused by cortical contusion injury in male rats. *Exp. Neurol.*, **129**, 64–69.
- Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Roche, S.L., Wyse-Jackson, A.C., Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2017) Pro-survival redox signalling in progesterone-mediated retinal neuroprotection. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 1, 1–10.
- Sabharwal, S.S. & Schumacker, P.T. (2014) Mitochondrial ROS in cancer: initiators, amplifiers or an Achilles' heel? *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, **14**, 709–721.
- Sakai, K., Matsumoto, K., Nishikawa, T., Suefuji, M., Nakamaru, K., Hirashima, Y., Kawashima, J., Shirotani, T., Ichinose, K., Brownlee, M., & Araki, E. (2003)
 Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species reduce insulin secretion by pancreatic beta-cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 300, 216–222.
- Samardzija, M., Wariwoda, H., Imsand, C., Huber, P., Heynen, S.R., Gubler, A., & Grimm, C. (2012) Activation of survival pathways in the degenerating retina of rd10 mice. *Exp. Eye Res.*, **99**, 17–26.
- Sánchez-Vallejo, V., Benlloch-Navarro, S., López-Pedrajas, R., Romero, F.J., & Miranda, M. (2015) Neuroprotective actions of progesterone in an in vivo model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Pharmacol. Res.*, **99**, 276–288.
- Sancho, P., Bertran, E., Caja, L., Carmona-Cuenca, I., Murillo, M.M., & Fabregat, I. (2009) The inhibition of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) pathway enhances TGF-β-induced apoptosis in rat hepatoma cells through inducing oxidative stress coincident with a change in the expression pattern of the NADPH oxidases (NOX) isoforms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1793**, 253–263.
- Sanderson, J.T. (2006) The Steroid Hormone Biosynthesis Pathway as a Target for Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. *Toxicol. Sci.*, **94**, 3–21.
- Sanvicens, N., Gómez-Vicente, V., Masip, I., Messeguer, A., & Cotter, T.G. (2004) Oxidative Stress-induced Apoptosis in Retinal Photoreceptor Cells Is Mediated by Calpains and Caspases and Blocked by the Oxygen Radical Scavenger CR-6. J. Biol. Chem. Chem., 279, 39268–39278.
- Sanvicens, N. & Cotter, T.G. (2006) Ceramide is the key mediator of oxidative stressinduced apoptosis in retinal photoreceptor cells. J. Neurochem., 98, 1432–1444.
- Sanyal, S. & Bal, A.K. (1973) Comparative light and electron microscopic study of retinal histogenesis in normal and rd mutant mice. Z. Anat. Entwicklungsgesch., 142, 219–238.
- Sanz, A. & Bernardi, P. (2016) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: Do they extend or shorten animal lifespan? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1857, 116–1126.

Schaeffer, S.M. & Nakata, P.A. (2015) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing and gene

replacement in plants: Transitioning from lab to field. *Plant Sci.*, **240**, 130–142.

- Schieber, M. & Chandel, N.S. (2014) ROS Function in Redox Signaling and Oxidative Stress. *Curr. Biol.*, 24, 453–462.
- Schreck, R., Rieberl, P., & Baeuerle2, P.A. (1991) Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-κB transcription factor and HIV-1. *EMBO J.*, **10**, 2247–2258.
- Schrier, S.A. & Falk, M.J. (2011) Mitochondrial Disorders and The Eye. *Curr. Opin. Ophtalmol.*, **22**, 325–331.
- Schröder, K., Schütz, S., Schlöffel, I., Bätz, S., Takac, I., Weissmann, N., Michaelis, U.R., Koyanagi, M., & Brandes, R.P. (2011) Hepatocyte Growth Factor Induces a Proangiogenic Phenotype and Mobilizes Endothelial Progenitor Cells by Activating Nox2. Antioxid. Redox Signal., 15, 915–923.
- Schumacher, M., Akwa, Y., Guennoun, R., Robert, F., Labombarda, F., Desarnaud, F., Robel, P., De Nicola, A.F., & Baulieu, E.E. (2000) Steroid synthesis and metabolism in the nervous system: trophic and protective effects. *J. Neurocytol.*, **29**, 307–326.
- Schumacher, M., Denier, C., Oudinet, J.-P., Adams, D., & Guennoun, R. (2016) Progesterone neuroprotection: The background of clinical trial failure. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., 160, 53–66.
- Sena, L.A. & Chandel, N.S. (2012) Physiological Roles of Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species. *Mol. Cell*, 48, 158–167.
- Shafique, E., Choy, W.C., Liu, Y., Feng, J., Cordeiro, B., Lyra, A., Arafah, M., Yassin-Kassab, A., Zanetti, A. V.D., Clements, R.T., Bianchi, C., Benjamin, L.E., Sellke, F.W., & and Abid, R. (2013) Oxidative stress improves coronary endothelial function through activation of the pro-survival kinase AMPK. *Aging (Albany. NY).*, 5, 515–531.
- Shen, J., Yang, X., Dong, A., Petters, R.M., Peng, Y.W., Wong, F., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2005) Oxidative damage is a potential cause of cone cell death in retinitis pigmentosa. *J. Cell. Physiol.*, **203**, 457–464.
- Sheu, S.-S., Nauduri, D., & Anders, M.W. (2006) Targeting antioxidants to mitochondria: A new therapeutic direction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1762, 256–265.
- Shi, H., Cheng, Y., Ye, J., Cai, P., Zhang, J., Li, R., Yang, Y., Wang, Z., Zhang, H., Lin, C., Lu, X., Jiang, L., Hu, A., Zhu, X., Zeng, Q., Fu, X., Li, X., & Xiao, J. (2015) bFGF promotes the migration of human dermal fibroblasts under diabetic conditions through reactive oxygen species production via the PI3K/Akt-Rac1- JNK pathways. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.*, **11**, 845–859.
- Shiojiri, T., Wada, K., Nakajima, A., Katayama, K., Shibuya, A., Kudo, C., Kadowaki, T., Mayumi, T., Yura, Y., & Kamisaki, Y. (2002) PPAR gamma ligands inhibit nitrotyrosine formation and inflammatory mediator expressions in adjuvant-induced rheumatoid arthritis mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **448**, 231–238.
- Shiose, A., Kuroda, J., Tsuruya, K., Hirai, M., Hirakata, H., Naito, S., Hattori, M., Sakaki, Y., & Sumimoto, H. (2001) A Novel Superoxide-producing NAD(P)H Oxidase in Kidney. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 1417–1423.
- Shokolenko, I., Venediktova, N., Bochkareva, A., Wilson, G.L., & Alexeyev, M.F. (2009) Oxidative stress induces degradation of mitochondrial DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 37, 2539–2548.

- Sies, H. (2017) Hydrogen peroxide as a central redox signaling molecule in physiological oxidative stress: Oxidative eustress. *Redox Biol.*, **11**, 613–619.
- Singh, M. & Su, C. (2013) Progesterone and neuroprotection. Horm. Behav., 63, 284–290.
- Skulachev, V.P. (1996) Role of uncoupled and non-coupled oxidations in maintenance of safely low levels of oxygen and its one-electron reductants. *Q. Rev. Biophys.*, 29, 169– 202.
- Soest, S. Van, Westerveld, A., De Jong, P.T.V.M., Phth, F., Bleeker-Wagemakers, E.M., & Bergen, A.A.B. (1999) Retinitis Pigmentosa: Defined From a Molecular Point of View. *Surv. Ophthalmol.*, 43, 321–334.
- Song, C., Mitter, S.K., Qi, X., Beli, E., Rao, H. V, Ding, J., Ip, C.S., Gu, H., Akin, D., Dunn, W.A., Bowes Rickman, C., Lewin, A.S., Grant, M.B., & Boulton, M.E. (2017) Oxidative stress-mediated NFkB phosphorylation upregulates p62/SQSTM1 and promotes retinal pigmented epithelial cell survival through increased autophagy. *PLoS One*, **12**, 1–26.
- Song, H., Vijayasarathy, C., Zeng, Y., Marangoni, D., Bush, R.A., Wu, Z., & Sieving, P.A. (2016) NADPH Oxidase Contributes to Photoreceptor Degeneration in Constitutively Active RAC1 Mice. *Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci.*, 57, 2864.
- Srivastava, P. & Panda, D. (2007) Rotenone inhibits mammalian cell proliferation by inhibiting microtubule assembly through tubulin binding. *FEBS J.*, **274**, 4788–4801.
- Stanic, B., Pandey, D., Fulton, D.J., & Miller, F.J. (2012) Increased Epidermal Growth Factor-Like Ligands Are Associated With Elevated Vascular Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase in a Primate Model of Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, **32**, 2452–2460.
- Stanicka, J., Russell, E.G., Woolley, J.F., & Cotter, T.G. (2015) NADPH Oxidase-generated Hydrogen Peroxide Induces DNA Damage in Mutant FLT3-expressing Leukemia Cells. J. Biol. Chem., 290, 9348–9361.
- Stein, D.G. (2011) Progesterone in the treatment of acute traumatic brain injury: a clinical perspective and update. *Neuroscience*, **191**, 101–106.
- Stein, D.G. (2013) A clinical/translational perspective: Can a developmental hormone play a role in the treatment of traumatic brain injury? *Horm. Behav.*, **63**, 291–300.
- St-Pierre, J., Buckingham, J.A., Roebuck, S.J., & Brand, M.D. (2002) Topology of Superoxide Production from Different Sites in the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain. J. Biol. Chem., 227, 44784–44790.
- Sundaresan, M., Yu, Z.X., Ferrans, V.J., Irani, K., & Finkel, T. (1995) Requirement for generation of H2O2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction. *Science*, 270, 296–299.
- Swiatek-De Lange, M., Stampfl, A., Hauck, S.M., Zischka, H., Gloeckner, C.J., Deeg, C.A., & Ueffing, M. (2007) Membrane-initiated effects of progesterone on calcium dependent signaling and activation of VEGF gene expression in retinal glial cells. *Glia*, 55, 1061–1073.
- Tachibanaki, S., Yonetsu, S.-I., Fukaya, S., Koshitani, Y., & Kawamura, S. (2012) Low Activation and Fast Inactivation of Transducin in Carp Cones. J. Biol. Chem., 287, 41186–41194.

- Taherian, R., Stigliani, S., Carra, E., Monteghirfo, S., Longo, L., Daga, A., Dono, M., Zupo, S., Giaretti, W., & Castagnola, P. (2014) NAC, tiron and trolox impair survival of cell cultures containing glioblastoma tumorigenic initiating cells by inhibition of cell cycle progression. *PLoS One*, 9, 1–14.
- Takac, I., Schrö, K., Zhang, L., Lardy, B., Anilkumar, N., Lambeth, J.D., Shah, A.M., Morel, F., & Brandes, R.P. (2011) The E-loop Is Involved in Hydrogen Peroxide Formation by the NADPH Oxidase Nox4. J. Biol. Chem., 286, 13304–13313.
- Takac, I., Schröder, K., & Brandes, R.P. (2012) The Nox Family of NADPH Oxidases: Friend or Foe of the Vascular System? *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.*, **14**, 70–78.
- Tammariello, S.P., Quinn, M.T., & Estus, S. (2000) NADPH Oxidase Contributes Directly to Oxidative Stress and Apoptosis in Nerve Growth Factor-Deprived Sympathetic Neurons. J. Neurosci., 20, 1–5.
- Tao, Y., Chen, T., Yang, G.Q., Peng, G.-H., Yan, Z.-Y., & Huang, Y.F. (2016a) Anthocyanin can arrest the cone photoreceptor degeneration and act as a novel treatment for retinitis pigmentosa. *Int. J. Ophtalmol.*, 9, 153–158.
- Tao, Y., Geng, L., Wang, L., Xu, W., Qin, L., Peng, G., Fei Huang, Y., xue Yang, J., & Huang, Y. (2016b) Use of Hydrogen as a Novel Therapeutic Strategy Against Photoreceptor Degeneration in Retinitis Pigmentosa Patients. *Med. Sci. Monit.*, 22, 776–779.
- Tavaluc, T.T., Hart, L.T., Dicker, D.T., & El-Deiry, W.S. (2007) Effects of low confluency, serum starvation and hypoxia on the side population of cancer cell lines. *Cell Cycle*, **6**, 2554–2562.
- ten Freyhaus, H., Huntgeburth, M., Wingler, K., Schnitker, J., Bäumer, A.T., Vantler, M., Bekhite, M.M., Wartenberg, M., Sauer, H., & Rosenkranz, S. (2006) Novel Nox inhibitor VAS2870 attenuates PDGF-dependent smooth muscle cell chemotaxis, but not proliferation. *Cardiovasc. Res.*, **71**, 331–341.
- Trachootham, D., Lu, W., Ogasawara, M. a, Nilsa, R.-D.V., & Huang, P. (2008) Redox regulation of cell survival. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, **10**, 1343–1374.
- Trifunovic, D., Sahaboglu, A., Kaur, J., Mencl, S., Zrenner, E., Ueffing, M., Arango-Gonzalez, B., & Paquet-Durand, F. (2012) Neuroprotective Strategies for the Treatment of Inherited Photoreceptor Degeneration. *Curr. Mol. Med.*, **12**, 598–612.
- Turrens, J.F. (2003) Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J. Physiol., **552**, 335–344.
- Ullah, I., Kabir, F., Brooks, C., Gottsch, S., Naeem, M.A., Guru, A.A., Ayyagari, R., Khan, S.N., Riazuddin, S., Akram, J., & Riazuddin, S.A. (2016) Mutations in phosphodiesterase 6 identified in familial cases of retinitis pigmentosa. *Nat. Publ. Gr.*, 3, 1–4.
- Ulubay, M., Yurt, K.K., Kaplan, A.A., & Atilla, M.K. (2017) The use of diclofenac sodium in urological practice: A structural and neurochemical based review. J. Chem. Neuroanat., 16, 1–5.
- Unfer, T.C., Conterato, G.M.M., Da Silva, J.C.N., Duarte, M.M.M.F., & Emanuelli, T. (2006) Influence of hormone replacement therapy on blood antioxidant enzymes in menopausal women. *Clin. Chim. Acta*, **369**, 73–77.

Unfer, T.C., Figueiredo, C.G., Zanchi, M.M., Maurer, L.H., Kemerich, D.M., Duarte,

M.M.F., Konopka, C.K., & Emanuelli, T. (2015) Estrogen plus progestin increase superoxide dismutase and total antioxidant capacity in postmenopausal women. *Climacteric*, **18**, 379–388.

- Usui, S., Komeima, K., Lee, S.Y., Jo, Y.-J., Ueno, S., Rogers, B.S., Wu, Z., Shen, J., Lu, L., Oveson, B.C., Rabinovitch, P.S., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2009a) Increased Expression of Catalase and Superoxide Dismutase 2 Reduces Cone Cell Death in Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Mol. Ther.*, **17**, 778–786.
- Usui, S., Oveson, B.C., Lee, S.Y., Jo, Y.-J., Yoshida, T., Miki, A., Miki, K., Iwase, T., Lu, L., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2009b) NADPH oxidase plays a central role in cone cell death in retinitis pigmentosa. *J. Neurochem.*, **110**, 1028–1037.
- Usui, S., Oveson, B.C., Iwase, T., Lu, L., Lee, S.Y., Jo, Y.-J., Wu, Z., Choi, E.-Y., Samulski, R.J., & Campochiaro, P.A. (2011) Overexpression of SOD in Retina; Need for Increase in H2O2 - Detoxifying Enzyme in Same Cellular Compartment. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **51**, 1347–1354.
- Valko, M., Leibfritz, D., Moncol, J., Cronin, M.T.D., Mazur, M., & Telser, J. (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, **39**, 44–84.
- Van Den Brandhof, E.-J. & Montforts, M. (2010) Fish embryo toxicity of carbamazepine, diclofenac and metoprolol. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, 73, 1862–1866.
- Van Remmen, H., Ikeno, Y., Hamilton, M., Pahlavani, M., Wolf, N., Thorpe, S.R., Alderson, N.L., Baynes, J.W., Epstein, C.J., Huang, T.-T., Nelson, J., Strong, R., & Richardson, A. (2003) Life-long reduction in MnSOD activity results in increased DNA damage and higher incidence of cancer but does not accelerate aging. *Physiol. Genomics*, 16, 29–37.
- Veleri, S., Lazar, C.H., Chang, B., Sieving, P.A., Banin, E. & Swaroop, A. (2015) Biology and therapy of inherited retinal disease: insights from mouse models. *Disease Models* & Mechan., 8, 109–129.
- Virdis, A., Colucci, R., Fornai, M., Blandizzi, C., Duranti, E., Pinto, S., Bernardini, N., Segnani, C., Antonioli, L., Taddei, S., Salvetti, A., & Del Tacca, M. (2005) Cyclooxygenase-2 Inhibition Improves Vascular Endothelial Dysfunction in a Rat Model of Endotoxic Shock: Role of Inducible Nitric-Oxide Synthase and Oxidative Stress. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., **312**, 945–953.
- von Löhneysen, K., Noack, D., Hayes, P., Friedman, J.S., & Knaus, U.G. (2012) Constitutive NADPH Oxidase 4 Activity Resides in the Composition of the B-loop and the Penultimate C Terminus. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **287**, 8737–8745.
- Vongher, J.M. & Frye, C.A. (1999) Progesterone in Conjunction With Estradiol Has Neuroprotective Effects in an Animal Model of Neurodegeneration. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 64, 777–785.
- Wang, D.Y., Chan, W.M., Tam, P.O.S., Baum, L., Lam, D.S.C., Chong, K.K.L., Fan, B.J., & Pang, C.P. (2005) Gene mutations in retinitis pigmentosa and their clinical implications. *Clin. Chim. Acta*, **351**, 5–16.
- Wang, G., Xiao, Y., Deng, X., Zhang, H., Li, T., & Chen, H. (2018) Exogenous Hydrogen Peroxide Contributes to Heme Oxygenase-1 Delaying Programmed Cell Death in Isolated Aleurone Layers of Rice Subjected to Drought Stress in a cGMP-Dependent Manner. *Front. Plant Sci.*, 9, 1–14.
Warrant, E.J. (2009) Mammalian Vision: Rods Are a Bargain. Curr. Biol., 19, 69–71.

- Webster, K.M., Wright, D.K., Sun, M., Semple, B.D., Ozturk, E., Stein, D.G., O 'brien, T.J., & Shultz, S.R. (2015) Progesterone treatment reduces neuroinflammation, oxidative stress and brain damage and improves long-term outcomes in a rat model of repeated mild traumatic brain injury. J. Neuroinflammation, 12, 1–13.
- Wen, D.X., Xu, Y.-F., Mais, D.E., Goldman, M.E., & Mcdonnell, D.P. (1994) The A and B Isoforms of the Human Progesterone Receptor Operate through Distinct Signaling Pathways within Target Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 14, 8356–8364.
- Wenzel, A., Grimm, C., Seeliger, M.W., Jaissle, G., Hafezi, F., Kretschmer, R., Zrenner, E., & Remé, C.E. (2001) Prevention of photoreceptor apoptosis by activation of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. Vis. Sci.*, 42, 1653–1659.
- Wenzel, A., Grimm, C., Samardzija, M., & Remé, C.E. (2003) The genetic modifier Rpe65Leu(450): effect on light damage susceptibility in c-Fos-deficient mice. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, 44, 2798–2802.
- West, A.P., Brodsky, I.E., Rahner, C., Woo, D.K., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Walsh, M.C., Choi, Y., Shadel, G.S., & Ghosh, S. (2011) TLR signalling augments macrophage bactericidal activity through mitochondrial ROS. *Nature*, 472, 476–482.
- Wingler, K., Hermans, J.J.R., Schiffers, P., Moens, A.L., Paul, M., & Schmidt, H.H.H.W. (2011) NOX1, 2, 4, 5: Counting out oxidative stress. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **164**, 866–883.
- Wingler, K., Altenhoefer, S.A., Kleikers, P.W.M., Radermacher, K.A., Kleinschnitz, C., & Schmidt, H.H.H.W. (2012) VAS2870 is a pan-NADPH oxidase inhibitor. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, **69**, 3159–3160.
- Winkler, B.S., Boulton, M.E., Gottsch, J.D., & Sternberg, P. (2007) Oxidative damage and age-related macular degeneration. *Mol. Vis.*, **5**, 1–27.
- Winterbourn, C.C. (2008) Reconciling the chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **4**, 278–286.
- Winterbourn, C.C. (2013) The Biological Chemistry of Hydrogen Peroxide. *Methods in Enzymology.*, **528**, 3–25.
- Woolley, J.F., Stanicka, J., & Cotter, T.G. (2013) Recent advances in reactive oxygen species measurement in biological systems. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, **38**, 556–565.
- Wright, D.W., Kellermann, A.L., Hertzberg, V.M.S., Clark, P.L., Frankel, M.R., Goldstein, F.C., Salomone, J.P., Leon Dent, L., Harris, O.M.A., Ander, D.S., Lowery, D.W., Patel, M.M., Denson, D.D., Gordon, A.B., Wald, M.M.M., Sanjay Gupta, M., Hoffman, S.W., Stein, D.G., Frankel, N., & Harris, N. (2007) ProTECT: A Randomized Clinical Trial of Progesterone for Acute Traumatic Brain Injury. *Ann. Emerg. Med.*, 49, 391–402.
- Wyse Jackson, A.C. & Cotter, T.G. (2016) The synthetic progesterone "Norgestrel" is neuroprotective in stressed photoreceptor-like cells and retinal explants, mediating its effects via basic fibroblast growth factor, protein kinase A and glycogen synthase kinase 3β signalling. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **43**, 128–139.
- Wyse Jackson, A.C., Roche, S.L., Byrne, A.M., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2016a) Progesterone receptor signalling in retinal photoreceptor neuroprotection. J. Neurochem., 136, 63–77.

- Wyse Jackson, A.C., Roche, S.L., Ruiz-Lopez, A.M., Moloney, J.N., Byrne, A.M., & Cotter, T.G. (2016b) Progesterone analogue protects stressed photoreceptors via bFGFmediated calcium influx. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 44, 3067–3079.
- Xiao, G., Wei, J., Yan, W., Wang, W., & Lu, Z. (2008) Improved outcomes from the administration of progesterone for patients with acute severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. *Crit. Care*, **12**, 1–10.
- Xiong, W., Garfinkel, A.E.M.C., Li, Y., Benowitz, L.I., & Cepko, C.L. (2015) NRF2 promotes neuronal survival in neurodegeneration and acute nerve damage. J. Clin. Invest., 125, 1433–1445.
- Xu, Q., Kulkarni, A.A., Sajith, A.M., Hussein, D., Brown, D., Güner, O.F., Reddy, M.D., Watkins, E.B., Lassègue, B., Griendling, K.K., & Bowen, J.P. (2018) Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of inhibitors of the NADPH oxidase, Nox4. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 26, 989–998.
- Xu, Z., Wei, Y., Gong, J., Cho, H., Park, J.K., Sung, E.-R., Huang, H., Wu, L., Eberhart, C., Handa, J.T., Du, Y., Kern, T.S., Thimmulappa, R., Barber, A.J., Biswal, S., Duh, E.J., & Duh, E.J. (2014) NRF2 plays a protective role in diabetic retinopathy in mice. *Diabetologia*, 57, 204–213.
- Yakes, F.M. & Houten, B. (1997) Mitochondrial DNA damage is more extensive and persists longer than nuclear DNA damage in human cells following oxidative stress. *Cell Biol.*, **94**, 514–519.
- Yin, J., Xia, W., Li, Y., Guo, C., Zhang, Y., Huang, S., Jia, Z., & Zhang, A. (2017) COX-2 mediates PM2.5-induced apoptosis and inflammation in vascular endothelial cells. *Am J Transl Res*, 9, 3967–3976.
- Yip, H.K. & So, K.F. (2000) Axonal regeneration of retinal ganglion cells: effect of trophic factors. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.*, **19**, 559–575.
- Yousuf, S., Atif, F., Sayeed, I., Tang, H., & Stein, D.G. (2014) Progesterone in transient ischemic stroke: a dose–response study. *Psychopharmacol.*, **231**, 3313–3323.
- Yousuf, S., Atif, F., Sayeed, I., Wang, J., & Stein, D.G. (2016) Neuroprotection by progesterone after transient cerebral ischemia in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Horm. Behav.*, 84, 29–40.
- Yu, H., Fei, J., Chen, X., Cai, Q., Liu, H., Liu, G., & Yao, Z. (2010) Progesterone attenuates neurological behavioral deficits of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis through remyelination with nucleus-sublocalized Olig1 protein. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 476, 42–45.
- Zelko, I.N., Mariani, T.J., & Folz, R.J. (2002) Superoxide Dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, **33**, 337–349.
- Zeng, H., Ding, M., Chen, X.-X., & Lu, Q. (2014) Microglial NADPH oxidase activation mediates rod cell death in the retinal degeneration in rd mice. *Neuroscience*, 275, 54– 61.
- Zhang, D.X. & Gutterman, D.D. (2006) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species-mediated signaling in endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol., 292, 2023–2031.
- Zhang, J., Wang, Q., Xu, C., Lu, Y., Hu, H., Qin, B., Wang, Y., He, D., Li, C., Yu, X., Wang, S., & Liu, J. (2017) MitoTEMPO Prevents Oxalate Induced Injury in NRK-52E

Cells via Inhibiting Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Modulating Oxidative Stress. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.*, **2017**, 1–9.

- Zhang, M., Wu, J., Ding, H., Wu, W., & Xiao, G. (2017) Progesterone Provides the Pleiotropic Neuroprotective Effect on Traumatic Brain Injury Through the Nrf2/ARE Signaling Pathway. *Neurocrit. Care*, 26, 292–300.
- Zheng, Z., Chen, H., Ke, G., Fan, Y., Zou, H., Sun, X., Gu, Q., Xu, X., & Ho, P.C.P. (2009) Protective Effect of Perindopril on Diabetic Retinopathy Is Associated With Decreased Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor–to–Pigment Epithelium–Derived Factor Ratio Involvement of a Mitochondria–Reactive Oxygen Species Pathway. *Diabetes*, 58, 954– 964.
- Zhu, Y., Bond, J., Thomas, P., & Estabrook, R.W. (2003) Identification, classification, and partial characterization of genes in humans and other vertebrates homologous to a fish membrane progestin receptor. *PNAS*, **100**, 2237–2242.
- Zimmerman, M.C., Oberley, L.W., & Flanagan, S.W. (2007) Mutant SOD1-induced neuronal toxicity is mediated by increased mitochondrial superoxide levels. J. *Neurochem.*, **102**, 609–618.
- Zinkevich, N.S., Fancher, I.S., Gutterman, D.D., & Phillips, S.A. (2017) Roles of NADPH oxidase and mitochondria in flow-induced vasodilation of human adipose arterioles: ROS induced ROS release in coronary artery disease. *Microcirculation*,.